EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE IN NONPROFIT HUMAN SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS

Mathieu R. Despard

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the School of Social Work.

Chapel Hill 2015

Approved by:

Gina A. N. Chowa

Matthew O. Howard

Thomas A. Kelley III

Gary M. Nelson

Kathleen A. Rounds

© 2015 Mathieu R. Despard ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Mathieu R. Despard: Evidence-Based Practice in Nonprofit Human Service Organizations (Under the direction of Gina A. N. Chowa)

Engaging in evidence-based practice (EBP) is one of the key ways nonprofit human service organizations (NPHSOs) can improve programs to better respond to community needs. However, to identify, adapt, implement, and sustain EBPs requires capacity, which many smaller NPHSOs lack in areas like evaluation. Capacity-building may help NPHSOs further engage in EBP, yet more knowledge is needed concerning valid ways to measure NPHSO capacity and the impacts of capacity-building related to EBP.

The aims of this study are to 1) develop a model with testable hypotheses concerning the effect of organizational factors on EBP engagement in NPHSOs; 2) identify a valid way to measure NPHSO capacity; and 3) assess NPHSO capacity-building outcomes related to EBP engagement. In Chapter 1, a brief overview of the key challenges confronting NPHSOs is provided. EBP is reviewed as a promising strategy for confronting these challenges and discussed in relation to NPHSO characteristics.

In Chapter 2, a conceptual model explaining EBP engagement as the use of best available evidence to inform programming decisions in NPHSOs is presented. Research evidence concerning capacity and readiness factors which promote EBP engagement is reviewed. The perceived advantage of EBP engagement and alignment of evidence with NPHSOs' mission and capacity are presented as factors mediating the relationship between readiness and EBP engagement.

iii

In Chapter 3, confirmatory factor analysis is used to test the fit of three different models for measuring NPHSO capacity. A model with four sub-scales related to resource development, program development, management, and governance capacity fit the data well, while two models with a larger number of items assessing organizational performance did not.

In Chapter 4, the effects of capacity-building on evaluation in NPHSOs are assessed using subset efficacy analysis. NPHSOs that received evaluation-related capacity-building assistance experienced statistically significant gains in four of five evaluation capacities compared to a control group after controlling for organizational characteristics, motivation to receive assistance, and amount of financial assistance. Lastly, in Chapter 5, key findings are synthesized, limitations are delineated, and practice, policy, and research implications are described. I dedicate this dissertation to my wife of nearly 25 years, Kerri Patrick, my daughters, Benedicte and Rachel, my parents, Ronald and Gretchen Despard, and the staff and volunteers of nonprofit human service organizations in the US who make a positive difference in communities through their hard work and dedication.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank my wife, Kerri, for her tremendous patience, love, and support throughout this journey. Thank you for knowing me well, helping me find my voice, and being my greatest defender. I am also grateful to my daughters, Rachel and Benedicte, for putting up with my wandering and sometimes inattentive mind and hours glued to a laptop. We still found time to have a lot of fun.

I also want to thank my parents, Ron and Gretchen for their continued support throughout my studies. Dad, your advice about and understanding of the dissertation process was invaluable! Mom, you were always there to tell me how much you believed in me.

I would like to thank my Chair, Gina Chowa. You were very understanding and supportive during my process of identifying a topic for which I am passionate. Your critical feedback helped me better organize and express my ideas and improve my writing. Your overall guidance throughout the dissertation process has helped me develop an identity as a scholar.

I would also like to thank my committee members: Matthew Howard, Tom Kelley, Gary Nelson, and Kathleen Rounds. Thank you for your thoughtful feedback and support. You helped me understand how to focus my inquiry and put my work in a larger social and scholarly context.

I am very grateful to have had several great professors who helped me develop research skills to complement my teaching and practice experience. I also wish to thank Maeda Galinsky for initially planting the seed of doctoral studies many years ago, Marie Weil who encouraged me to pursue an academic career related to my social work practice experience, and Bernie

vi

Hyman, a good friend and mentor who has offered many insights and helpful advice throughout my career.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	. xiii
CHAPTER 1: THE PROMISE OF EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE IN STRENGTHENING THE EFFORTS OF NONPROFIT HUMAN SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS	15
References	18
CHAPTER 2: ENHANCING EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE IN NONPROFIT HUMAN SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS: A CONCEPTUAL MODEL	20
Background and Significance	21
What is EBP in Nonprofit Human Service Organizations?	23
Factors Affecting EBP Engagement in NPHSOs	30
A Conceptual Model of EBP in NPHSOs	40
Practice Implications	46
Research Implications	47
Policy Implications	49
Limitations of the Model	50
Conclusion	51
References	52

CHAPTER 3: ASSESSING PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES	
OF AN NPHSO CAPACITY AND PERFORMANCE SURVEY	66
What is Organizational Capacity?	67
How Organizational Capacity is Measured	72
Methods	74
Results	81
Discussion	85
Conclusion	90
References	91
CHAPTER 4: ASSESSING EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE-RELATED	
OUTCOMES OF AN NPHSO CAPACITY-BUILDING INTERVENTION	
Capacity-Building Needs of NPHSOs	103
Capacity-Building Interventions	105
Study Purpose	109
Methods	110
Results	116
Discussion	124
Conclusion	130
References	131
CHAPTER 5: INTEGRATIVE DISCUSSION	139
Key Findings	139
Limitations	140
Practice Implications	143
Policy Implications	145

Research Implications	147
References	150
APPENDIX 2.1: MEASURES RELATED TO THE CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF EBP IN NPHSOS	153
APPENDIX 3.1: A MEASUREMENT MODEL OF NPHSO CAPACITY- BUILDING	154
APPENDIX 3.2: MODEL 3 COMPASSION CAPITAL FUND LEVEL OF FOCUS SURVEY ITEMS	155
APPENDIX 4.1: KEY OUTCOMES FROM THE COMPASSION CAPITAL FUND DEMONSTRATION IMPACT STUDY	156

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Social Welfare Systematic Reviews Published from 2009-2014	
Table 3.1. Model Specification	77
Table 3.2. Study Sample Description	81
Table 3.3. Initial Model Fit Results	
Table 3.4 Re-specified Model Fit Results	
Table 3.5. Poor Performing Items in Models 1 and 2	
Table 4.1. Study Sample Description	117
Table 4.2. Unadjusted Pre-Post Differences in Evaluation Capacity Gains	
Table 4.3. Logistic Regression Analyses of the Impact of Capacity-Building on Evaluation Capacities of NPHSOs.	121
Table 4.4. Summary of Statistical Significance of Model Estimates of Impact of Capacity-Building on Evaluation Capacities of NPHSOs	122
Table 4.5. Predicted Probabilities of Capacity Gains	
Table 4.6. Predicted Probabilities of Capacity Gains: Small and Young vs. Larger and Older NPHSOs.	124
Table 4.7. Predicted Probabilities of Capacity Gains by Levels of Grant Assistance	124

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: A Conceptual Model of EBP in NPHSOs	.40
Figure 2.2: The Relationship between Organizational Capacity and Readiness Conditions	.42

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACF	Administration for Children and Families	
ACT	Assertive Community Treatment	
ARC	Availability, Responsiveness, and Continuity	
ATE	Average treatment effects	
СВО	Community-based organization	
CCAT	Core Capacity Assessment Tool	
CCF	Compassion Capital Fund	
CCFO	Compassion Capital Fund outcome study	
CEO	Chief Executive Officer	
CEY	Communities Empowering Youth	
CFA	Confirmatory factor analysis	
CFI	Comparative fix index	
CTI	Critical Time Intervention	
DiD	Difference-in-differences	
EBM	Evidence-based management	
EBP	Evidence-based practice	
EBPAS	Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale	
EFA	Exploratory factor analysis	
ESI	Empirically-supported intervention	
FBO	Faith-based organization	
FIML	Full information maximum likelihood	
GCAP	Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot	

ITT	Intent-to-treat
LOF	Level of focus
MAR	Missing at random
MCF	Marguerite Casey Foundation
MST	Multi-Systemic Therapy
NPHSO	Nonprofit human service organization
NPO	Nonprofit organization
OAH	Office of Adolescent Health
PED	Paid executive director
PFS	Pay-For-Success
RMSEA	Root-mean square error-of-approximation
SAMHSA	Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration
SIB	Social Impact Bond
STV	Subject-to-variable
TLI	Tucker-Lewis Index
TPP	Teen Pregnancy Prevention
WLSMV	Mean- and variance-adjusted weighted least squares

CHAPTER 1: NONPROFIT HUMAN SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS AS SETTINGS FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE

Most social work practice and social interventions are nested in organizational contexts. Through factors like leadership, climate, and resources, these contexts affect the quality of social work services and interventions. For example, an organization with poor staff morale due to rigid work routines, a lack of supportive supervision, and lack of resources may experience high staff turnover resulting in diminished service quality. Thus, improving social work practice means strengthening the settings in which this practice occurs.

Nonprofit human service organizations (NPHSOs) are a common practice setting for social workers (Gibelman & Furman, 2013; Whitaker, Weismiller, & Clark 2006) and for an array of social interventions. NPHSOs are defined as organizations with 501c3 tax-exempt, public charity status with the Internal Revenue Service that seek to protect, maintain, and enhance the well-being of individuals and families through the provision of direct services (Hasenfeld, 2010).

NPHSOs address a wide range of problems in communities, such as domestic violence, substance abuse, homelessness, and hunger. Some NPHSOs are focused on a single field of practice, such as Big Brothers Big Sisters, which focuses on mentoring to promote youth development. Other NPHSOs provide multiple services under one roof, such as family service agencies, which offer individual and family counseling, in-home support for older adults, financial counseling, and many other services. NPHSOs include large, well-recognized

organizations like the Salvation Army, which has a presence in many communities and a history dating back to the turn of the 20th century. Most are small¹, unique to the communities they serve, and governed by a board of directors comprised of local residents.

Given the complexity of staff-client interactions and a focus on changing client behavior and circumstances, providing human services is challenging in its own right (Hasenfeld, 2010), yet other trends have made the work of NPHSOs even more challenging. Privatization has led to increased dependence by government on NPHSOs to deliver human services (Alexander, 2000), creating new managerial demands (Schmid, 2013). NPHSOs are also under increased pressure from both public and private funders to demonstrate improved client outcomes (Campbell, 2002; Ebrahim, 2005; Ebrahim & Rangan, 2014), despite a host of financial challenges (e.g., Besel, Williams, & Klak, 2011; Sontag-Padilla, Staplefoote, & Gonzalez Morganti, 2012).

Evidence-based practice (EBP) has emerged as a paradigm for improving social work practice (e.g., Gambrill, 2006) and for shifting public and private funding toward practices and programs with known effectiveness (Stid, Neuhoff, Burkhauser, & Seeman, 2013). Hence, there is growing interest in how to most effectively disseminate and implement EBP (e.g., Beidas & Kendall, 2014; Palinkas & Soydun, 2012; Thyer, Vaughn, & Howard, 2009).

EBP creates new opportunities for NPHSOs. EBP may help direct NPHSOs toward the most effective approaches for addressing common community problems and improving client outcomes. For example, Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) is a well disseminated evidence-based intervention (Bond, Drake, Mueser, & Latimer, 2001) nonprofit mental health agencies can use to promote psychiatric recovery and reduce risk for re-hospitalization. Interest in and willingness to implement EBPs among NPHSOs may also attract funding and other

¹77% of all public charities – including NPHSOs – in the US had total annual expenses of less than \$1 million in 2012 (McKeever & Pettijohn, 2014).

resources. For example, ACT is a reimbursable service under most states' Medicaid programs (Gold et al., 2003). Also, Haskins and Margolis (2014) identify and describe six major initiatives of the Obama Administration to fund the implementation of evidence-based programs. One of these initiatives is the Teen Pregnancy Prevention program out of the Office of Adolescent Health, which funded 75 NPHSOs and public agencies to select and implement an evidence-based program (Stid et al., 2013). Social impact bonds (SIBs) are a novel financing scheme in which private investors fund large-scale implementation of preventive EBPs through NPHSOs and other organizations and receive reimbursement plus a return on investment if the programs achieve target goals (Butler, Bloom, & Rudd, 2013).

Interest in disseminating and implementing EBP also creates a set of new challenges for NPHSOs. Most NPHSOs are small and experience capacity deficits (e.g., TCC Group, 2010; Yung et al., 2008) in areas such as staffing supervision, and funding. These deficits limit the ability of NPHSOs to provide and sustain programs and services, which may make implementing EBP difficult. Furthermore, available research evidence may not be well matched to the mission and programs of some NPHSOs, nor the needs and wishes of clients. In certain fields like behavioral health, there are several identified EBPs, yet there is less research evidence available to inform and improve practice in other fields like domestic violence.

Promoting EBP in NPHSOs may also discourage innovation and the development of local responses to community problems. Promoting EBP may also diminish the role of and support for NPHSOs that aim only to meet immediate and basic needs like food assistance and emergency shelter and for which EBP has limited relevance. Despite these challenges and absent better alternatives for improving client outcomes, EBP may help NPHSOs further achieve their missions.

REFERENCES

- Alexander, J. (2000). Adaptive strategies of nonprofit human service organizations in an era of devolution and new public management. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 10, 287-303. doi:10.1002/nml.10305
- Beidas, R. S., & Kendall, P. C. (Eds.). (2014). Dissemination and implementation of evidencebased practices in child and adolescent mental health. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Besel, K., Williams, C. L., & Klak, J. (2011). Nonprofit sustainability during times of uncertainty. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 22, 53-65. doi:10.1002/nml.20040
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., Mueser, K. T., & Latimer, E. (2001). Assertive community treatment for people with severe mental illness. *Disease Management and Health Outcomes*, *9*, 141-159. doi:10.2165/00115677-200109030-00003
- Butler, D., Bloom, D., & Rudd, T. (2013). Using social impact bonds to spur innovation, knowledge building, and accountability. *Community Development Investment Review*, 9(1), 57-62. Retrieved from the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco website http://www.frbsf.org/community-development/files/social-impact-bonds-spur-innovationknowledge-building-accountability.pdf
- Campbell, D. (2002). Outcomes assessment and the paradox of nonprofit accountability. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, *12*, 243-259. doi:10.1002/nml.12303
- Ebrahim, A. (2005). Accountability myopia: Losing sight of organizational learning. *Nonprofit* and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 34, 56-87. doi:10.1177/0899764004269430
- Ebrahim, A, & Rangan, V. K. (2014). What impact? A framework for measuring the scale and scope of social performance. *California Management Review*, 56(3), 118–141. Retrieved from http://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication%20Files/CMR5603_07_Ebrahim_e3316477-8965-4287-be95-04642982b638.pdf
- Gambrill, E. (2006). Evidence-based practice and policy: Choices ahead. *Research on Social Work Practice, 16*, 338-357. doi:10.1177/1049731505284205
- Gibelman, M., & Furman, R. (2013). In *Navigating human service organizations (3rd ed.)* (Chapter 1: Getting to know the human service organization). Chicago, IL: Lyceum Books, Inc.
- Gold, P. B., Meisler, N., Santos, A. B., Keleher, J., Becker, D. R., Knoedler, W. H., Carnemolla, M. A., Williams, O. H., Toscano, R., & Stormer, G. (2003). The program of assertive community treatment: Implementation and dissemination of an evidence-based model of community-based care for persons with severe and persistent mental illness. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, *10*, 290-303. doi:10.1016/S1077-7229(03)80047-0

- Hasenfeld, Y. (2010). *Human services as complex organizations (2nd ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Haskins, R., & Margolis, G. (2014). Obama's promise: Using evidence to fight the nation's social problems. In *Using Research Evidence in Education* (pp. 133-160). New York: Springer International Publishing.
- McKeever, B., & Pettijohn, S. L. (2014). *The nonprofit sector in brief 2014: Public charities, giving, and volunteering.* Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/413277-Nonprofit-Sector-in-Brief-2014.pdf
- Palinkas, L. A., & Soydan, H. (2012). *Translation and implementation of evidence-based practice*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Schmid, H. (2013). Nonprofit human services: Between identity blurring and adaptation to changing environments. *Administration in Social Work*, *37*, 242-256. doi:10.1080/03643107.2012.676611
- Sontag-Padilla, L. M., Staplefoote, L., & Gonzalez Morganti, K. (2012). *Financial sustainability for nonprofit organizations: A review of the literature.* (Rand Corporation Research Report sponsored by the YMCA of Greater Pittsburgh). Retrieved from the Rand Corporation website http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR100/RR121/RAND_RR 121.pdf
- Stid, D., Neuhoff, A., Burkhauser, L., & Seeman, B. (2013). What does it take to implement evidence-based practices? Retrieved from http://www.bridgespan.org/getmedia/f31d19f3-a782-424a-a04f-8a44edd8fe34/What-Does-It-Take-to-Implement-Evidence-based-Practices.aspx
- TCC Group. (2010). Fortifying L.A.'s nonprofit organizations: Capacity-building needs and services in Los Angeles County (A study commissioned by the Weingart Foundation). Retrieved from the Weingart Foundation website http://www.weingartfnd.org/files/Capacity-Report-Final.pdf
- Thyer, B., Vaughn, M. G., & Howard, M. O. (2009). The way forward: Translating research findings into practice settings. In M. G. Vaughn, M. O. Howard, & B. A. Thyer (Eds.), *Evidence-based social work practice: Syntheses of the intervention knowledge base* (321-328). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Whitaker, T., Weismiller, T., & Clark, E. (2006). Assuring the sufficiency of a frontline workforce: A national study of licensed social workers. Executive summary. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers. Retrieved from http://workforce.socialworkers.org/studies/nasw_06_execsummary.pdf
- Yung, B., Leahy, P., Deason, L. M., Fischer, R. L., Perkins, F., Clasen, C., & Sharma, M. (2008). Capacity-building needs of minority health nonprofits. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 31, 382-391. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2008.08.001

CHAPTER 2: ENHANCING EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE IN NONPROFIT HUMAN SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS: A CONCEPTUAL MODEL

Evidence-based practice (EBP) is widely recognized as an important strategy for improving social work practice (e.g., Drisko, 2014; Gambrill, 2006; Howard, McMillen, & Pollio, 2003; Thyer, Vaughn, & Howard, 2009), yet EBP is under-utilized in social work (Aarons et al., 2012; Bellamy et al., 2013; Bond & McGovern, 2013; Fixsen, Blase, Naoom, & Wallace, 2009; Maynard, 2010; Palinkas & Soydan, 2012). Factors such as leadership and organizational climate and culture affect the degree to which EBP is utilized in social work settings (e.g., Aarons, Sommerfield, & Walrath-Greene, 2009; Bond, Drake, McHugo, Rapp, & Whitley, 2009; Kovner, 2014; Plath, 2013). As a result, there is increased focus on implementation practice and science to help bridge the research-to-practice gap (e.g., Brekke, Ell, & Palinkas, 2007; Fixsen et al., 2009). However, organizational factors affecting EBP are not well studied (e.g., Barwick et al., 2012; Bond & McGovern, 2013; Powell, Proctor, & Glass, 2014; Proctor et al., 2009).

If EBP is under-utilized and affected by the settings in which social workers are nested, it is important to better understand the conditions under which organizations effectively promote EBP. This includes nonprofit human service organizations (NPHSOs), which are a common practice context for social workers (Whitaker, Weismiller, & Clark, 2006).

Developing testable hypotheses about how organizational factors affect EBP may help identify opportunities for reducing the research-to-practice gap in NPHSOs. In this paper, I

present a conceptual model that explains the conditions under which EBP may be used by NPHSOs as a strategy to improve client outcomes. I begin by offering a definition of organization-level EBP that is applicable to and reflective of the heterogeneity and community contexts of NPHSOs. Next, I describe a set of capacity and readiness factors that explain the likelihood of EBP in NPHSOs, as mediated by available evidence and perception of EBP as a strategic lever among NPHSO leaders. Lastly, I present a conceptual model, which explains how these organizational factors are related and affect EBP engagement in NPHSOs. This conceptual model can be used to develop testable hypotheses to better understand EBP in NPHSOs and how it can be enhanced.

Background and Significance

EBP in NPHSOs is important in two key respects. First, in so far as social workers are trained to adopt EBP (Edmond, Megivern, Williams, Rochman, & Howard, 2006; Howard, McMillen, & Pollio, 2003; Manuel, Mullen, Fang, Bellamy, & Bledsoe, 2009), the organizational settings in which they practice may either hinder or facilitate this goal. Meta-analyses and systematic reviews (Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Fixsen, Naoom, Blase, Friedman, & Wallace, 2005; Gearing et al., 2011; Greenhalgh, Robert, MacFarlane, Bate, & Kyriakidou, 2004; Panzano et al., 2005) across several fields (e.g., education, health promotion, health care, behavioral health care) indicated that implementation of EBP is affected by organizational culture and climate, leadership support, training, supervisory, and financial resources, and collaboration with other organizations.

EBP benefits human service organizations and organizational interventions can improve EBP. Implementing EBP has been found to increase staff retention (Aarons, Sommerfeld, Hecht, Silovsky, & Chaffin, 2009) and lower staff emotional exhaustion (Aarons, Fettes, Flores, &

Sommerfeld, 2009). Authors of National Evidence-Based Practices Project studies found that the fidelity of evidence-based behavioral health interventions like Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) was associated with the receipt of training, consultation, clinical supervision, and leadership support (Bond et al., 2009; McHugo, et al., 2007). The availability, responsiveness, and continuity (ARC) organizational development intervention aims to positively impact organizational social context (culture and climate). ARC has been found by authors of several studies to positively impact staff turnover and organizational culture and climate, and to enhance outcomes associated with EBP implementation (Glisson, Dukes, & Green, 2006; Glisson et al., 2010; Glisson et al., 2012; Glisson, Hemmelgarn, Green, & Williams, 2013).

The second key reason why EBP is important in NPHSOs is that EBP may help NPHSOs better achieve their missions (Kovner, 2014; Stern, 2013) to improve outcomes and quality of life for vulnerable groups served by social workers including survivors of domestic violence, persons living with serious mental illness, and youth transitioning out of foster care. With over \$200 billion in annual revenue and \$300 billion in assets (Pettijohn, 2013), the 116,643 NPHSOs² in the U.S. represent a critical part of the social safety net (Garrow, 2011). With such a large financial investment in NPHSOs, donors, policy makers, clients, and other stakeholders have an interest in the promise of EBP to improve outcomes (Stern, 2013).

Interest in NPHSOs using EBP is currently being explored through public and private sector funding innovations. With their origin in health care as a way to provide incentives for improved patient outcomes (Jha, Joynt, Orav, & Epstein, 2012), pay-for-success (PFS) models such as social impact bonds, are seen as a strategy for incentivizing and scaling up the use of EBP in NPHSOs and other organizations (Roman, Walsh, Bieler, & Taxy, 2014). PFS is

²Public Charities under Section 501c3 of the Internal Revenue Code who filed a Form 990 report to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS); non-reporting Public Charities are those that have too little revenue to be required by the IRS to file.

currently being incorporated into federal grants and contracts in the Departments of Justice and Labor and through the White House Office of Social Innovation and Civic Participation (Greenblatt & Donovan, 2013). In the private sector, models like the Edna McConnell Clark Foundation's \$120 million aggregated growth capital fund was launched in 2007 to scale up the efforts of three nonprofits (Citizen Schools, Nurse-Family Partnership, and Youth Villages) noted for their evidence of effectiveness and use of EBP (Ryan & Taylor, 2012). Notwithstanding the ethical considerations of PFS (Halpern & Jutte, 2013), it may be of increasing strategic importance for NPHSOs to embrace EBP as funding priorities shift toward supporting evidence-based programs.

NPHSOs have unique strengths and vulnerabilities that warrant special consideration as an organizational context for EBP. Compared to public agencies, NPHSOs have greater autonomy and flexibility, which suggests they may provide fertile ground for innovation. Conversely, NPHSOs have key capacity limitations (Abt Associates, 2009; Minzner et al, 2014; TCC Group, 2010) that may make EBP engagement more difficult, such as difficulty in tracking client outcomes, assessing program level outcomes, using data to guide program planning, and engaging in strategic planning.

What is Evidence-based Practice in Nonprofit Human Service Organizations?

In this paper, I propose a conceptual model to explain EBP in NPHSOs, beginning with the following operational definition: *the routine and sustained use of best available evidence to guide programming decisions aimed at improving client outcomes*. Four key characteristics of EBP in NPHSOs include: 1) EBP as an organizational-level decision-making process; 2) types of evidence used to guide decisions; 3) how evidence is used; and 4) stakeholder needs and preferences.

EBP as a Decision-Making Process in NPHSOs

In the social work literature, EBP is widely regarded as a process of routinely incorporating research evidence into practice decisions as well as clinical expertise and consideration of client characteristics, circumstances, and preferences (Drisko, 2014; Gambrill, 1999, 2006, 2012; Mullen, Bledsoe, & Bellamy, 2008). According to Gibb's (2003) EBP decision-making framework, the practitioner poses a specific question related to addressing an identified client need, identifies and critically assesses research evidence that may answer the question, determines whether and how this research evidence can inform an intervention decision, and evaluates the outcomes of the intervention (Gibbs, 2003; Gibbs & Gambrill, 2002).

Gibbs' framework may not be applicable in contexts where practitioners lack the time, resources, and autonomy to make treatment decisions on a client-by-client basis. In most NPHSOs, decisions concerning interventions are made by managers, supervisors, and direct practitioners based on assumptions about what services and activities will meet the needs of clients (Kettner, Moroney, & Martin, 2013). These decisions are also affected by the requirements and/or priorities of public and private sector funders. According to Pfeffer and Sutton (2006), managerial decisions should be informed by the continuous use of evidence from within and outside the organization. Among human service organizations, this process of using evidence – referred to as evidence-based management (EBM) "…offers social service managers a set of methods to clarify how they use information to make strategic decisions, and thus provides a mechanism for improving the quality of managerial decision making and problem solving" (Briggs & McBeath, 2009, pp. 243-244). To further illustrate, adaptive capacity in nonprofit organizations includes "use of research data to support program planning and advocacy", the highest level at which an organization has the following characteristics:

- respected by peers as both consumer and producer of data;
- dedicated research staff capable of working with complex data and making assessments about relevance and cultural appropriateness of findings for its community or clients;
- research regularly scanned for relevant data to support decisions, proposals, and advocacy; and
- important organizational questions answered through research; ability to effectively present data using charts, tables, and graphics for a variety of audiences (Marguerite Casey Foundation, 2012).

Types of Evidence Used to Guide Programmatic Decisions in NPHSOs

EBP is conflated with empirically supported interventions (ESIs) (Barth et al., 2012; Drisko, 2014), yet NPHSOs should consider multiple sources of (Gambrill, 2006; Johnson & Austin, 2006) and best available (Austin, 2008; Soydan & Palinkas, 2014) evidence to inform programming decisions. The quality of research evidence concerning interventions NPHSOs might choose to implement varies along a most to least rigorous continuum from meta-analyses and systematic reviews to anecdotal case reports, respectively (Thyer, 2006). However, the availability and quality of evidence aligned with NPHSOs' missions varies considerably. For example, NPHSOs with behavioral health missions can find several candidate interventions in the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) National Registry of Evidence-based Programs and Practices. Conversely, NPHSOs interested in promoting financial security among lower-income families or combating human trafficking will discover no systematic reviews or meta-analyses and very few relevant intervention studies. Because of the variability in research evidence available to a wide range of NPHSO missions, data and evidence from within the organization should also be used (Carnochan, Samples, Myers, & Austin, 2014). This may include data and evidence concerning 1) the social problem(s) the NPHSO is addressing; 2) client needs and characteristics; and 3) the effectiveness of various programs. For example, an NPHSO that promotes financial security among lowerincome families could examine variation in program participation and outcomes based on client intake and assessment data. This NPHSO might discover that clients without checking accounts and who have poor credit histories participate in and benefit from financial counseling more than clients with bank accounts and intact credit.

Expanding a definition of EBP to include evidence NPHSOs generate is important for two key reasons. First, the availability of intervention research evidence is unevenly distributed across NPHSO practice fields. For example, a search for systematic reviews in the social welfare category of the Campbell Collaboration library published in the last five years yielded 21 results, categorized as follows:

	Number of
Practice field	Reviews
Behavioral health	9
Domestic or sexual violence	3
Child/youth development	2
Parenting, child welfare	2
Aging/elder care	1
Disability	1
Employment	1
Housing	1
International development	1

Table 2.1. Social Welfare Systematic Reviews Published from 2009-2014

National Institutes of Health research funding may help explain the larger number of behavioral health systematic reviews in recent years. Second, NPHSOs provide emerging, innovative, and

dynamic programs that have not been rigorously studied but have potential for establishing a practice-to-research pipeline. For example, Macy, Ermentrout, and Rizo (2012) present findings of a feasibility study concerning a novel program developed by a domestic violence NPHSO and a child abuse prevention NPHSO for female victims of intimate partner violence who had been court mandated to services because of defensive violence against their male partners. The authors used evidence-based practice development steps to conduct their study, offering an illustration of how NPHSOs can generate evidence to test and improve programs, not just implement existing evidence-based programs, particularly when little if any intervention research evidence exists.

Best available evidence should also include evidence concerning community problems – not just the efficacy of interventions. NPHSO leaders all have theories about the nature of the problems they are addressing, whether or not assumptions and hypotheses are consciously acknowledged. For example, a program director of a homeless shelter may believe that the primary risk factor of homelessness is substance abuse. Another program director may view the primary risk factor as a lack of affordable housing units in the community. EBP in NPHSOs should include using evidence to test assumptions about community problems to identify intervention leverage points (Fraser, Richman, Galinsky, & Day, 2009; W. K. Kellogg Foundation, 2004).

How Evidence is used to Guide Programmatic Decisions in NPHSOs

Evidence can be used in direct and indirect multiple ways by NPHSOs to guide program planning and implementation. An NPHSO may use evidence directly by accessing and reviewing evidence, whether from individual intervention studies or from meta-analyses and systematic reviews and then translating this evidence into program design and implementation. There is plenty of room for error, assuming NPHSOs have access to academic journals in addition to

publicly available sources like the Campbell Collaboration library of systematic reviews. NPHSO managers may lack the knowledge and skill to critically discern the quality of evidence. The translation into practice may be inaccurate due to a lack of detailed information about the intervention. The evidence may have limited external validity and be misaligned with the community and populations served by the NPHSO.

An NPHSO may use evidence indirectly by choosing to implement a well disseminated ESI, such as Nurse-Family Partnership or Assertive Community Treatment. NPHSO managers need not directly access, understand, and translate the research evidence into program design; they only need to select the intervention, though the degree to which the intervention is effectively implemented is beset with a host of challenges (Fixsen et al., 2005, 2009).

Yet even the selection of an ESI is not risk-free. For example, Multi-Systemic Therapy (MST) is a widely disseminated ESI aimed at reducing externalizing problem behaviors in adolescents. Authors of the most recent meta-analysis of MST indicated that MST is more effective with younger and non-ethnic minority youth and in well-controlled treatment conditions (van der Stouwe, Asscher, Stams, Deković, & van der Laan, 2014). A NPHSO's selection of MST thus is not a guarantee – even if implemented with high fidelity – of effectiveness with all at-risk youth, in all community settings.

Intermediary organizations – universities, foundations, training and technical assistance centers, state and national professional associations, and government agencies – may play a key role in NPHSO's indirect use of evidence to improve programs. These entities can identify interventions with varying levels of evidence from "top tier" to best or promising practices. These entities may also indirectly disseminate research evidence in the form of practice guidelines (Howard & Jenson, 1999). In short, intermediaries are important because NPHSOs

and practitioners need help in finding and using evidence relevant to the client outcomes they are trying to achieve (Rosen, 2003). NPHSOs' indirect use of evidence may also be efficiently channeled through funding requirements. For example, a nonprofit mental health organization may elect an ESI such as Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) (Bond, Drake, Mueser, & Latimer, 2001) because the state Medicaid program reimburses for this service.

NPHSOs may use research evidence in direct and indirect ways to improve programs. Direct methods are inherently more risky, yet indirect methods may depend on NPHSOs' access to and engagement with intermediaries and funders.

Stakeholder Needs and Preferences

NPHSOs, like nonprofit organizations in general, have multiple stakeholders – groups of people and other organizations with an interest in what the NPHSO does to fulfill its charitable mission. Stakeholders of NPHSOs are varied and include persons who receive direct services from the NPHSO, funders, volunteers, staff members, other organizations, local government, and community residents. A key responsibility of the Board of Directors is to act as stewards of the NPHSO as a community asset that fulfills the needs of stakeholders.

In the same sense that a practitioner ought not make an intervention decision without considering client needs and preferences, NPHSO managers should consider stakeholder needs and preferences, not only evidence, in making programmatic decisions. The challenge for NPHSO managers is to consider all stakeholder perspectives while ensuring that persons most directly affected by the community problem(s) the NPHSO is addressing receive priority consideration. For example, a NPHSO manager identifies housing first in the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's (SAMHSA) National Registry of Evidence-based Programs and Practices as a model for assisting homeless persons living with serious mental

illness and/or substance abuse disorders (Collins et al., 2012; Padgett, Stanhope, Henwood, & Stefancic, 2011).

Factors Affecting EBP Engagement in NPHSOs

EBP in NPHSOs represents a significant change in organizational practice (Barwick et al., 2005; Gambrill, 2006; Johnson & Austin, 2006; Maynard, 2010; Risley, 2011). Multiple factors affect EBP engagement in NPHSOs, such as organizational culture and access to knowledge through networks. These factors broadly fit two categories, capacity and readiness. Capacities are the functions of NPHSOs necessary to consistently and reliably offer programs and services to the community. Without them, EBP engagement is a moot issue. Readiness is the set of conditions that support EBP engagement as a strategy to improve programs and services. Each of these categories is described below.

Organizational Capacity

Organizational capacity is comprised of the organizational competencies that enable nonprofit organizations to effectively and efficiently fulfill their charitable missions (Connolly & York, 2003; Eisinger, 2002; Glickman & Servon, 2003; Light, 2004; McKinsey and Company, 2001; Millesen, Carman, & Bies, 2010; United Nations Centre for Human Settlements, 2002). Specific types of capacity – management and technical, evaluation, networking, and resource – are especially important for EBP engagement.

Management and technical capacity. Management and technical capacity is the infrastructure and systems a NPHSO needs for the efficient and effective use of organizational resources (Connolly & York, 2003; TCC Group, 2009), including a well-articulated mission statement, strategic plan, sound fiscal management, and a human resources system (Sowa, Selden, & Sandfort, 2004). Sufficient staffing, reliable volunteers, bookkeeping and accounting,

equipment and facilities, resource development, and information technology are needed to reliably and consistently offer programs and services (Cassidy, Leviton, & Hunter, 2006; Connolly & York, 2003; Glickman & Servon, 2003; Marguerite Casey Foundation, 2012; McKinsey & Company, 2001). To effectively implement programs, NPHSO managers also need to recruit well-qualified staff, provide training and coaching, and assess performance using data systems to monitor program fidelity and evaluation data (Fixsen et al., 2009). Facilitative administration in human service organizations "provides leadership and makes use of a range of data inputs to inform decision making, support the overall processes, and keep staff organized and focused on the desired intervention outcomes" (Fixsen et al., 2009, p. 535).

Additional management capacity indicators related to EBP engagement include:

- having a diverse, experienced, and skilled senior management team and staff committed to ongoing learning and professional development;
- outcome-focused goals and a common set of practices designed to produce impact;
- detailed operational plans that are regularly updated and refined and linked to strategic planning activities and a well-developed set of policies and procedures to ensure efficient and effective operations;
- well-run meetings and transparent and participatory decision-making processes;
- integrated communication and coordination of effort across programs and functions;
- frequently used and well organized knowledge management systems;
- and robust systems for recruitment, supervision, and development of managers, staff, and volunteers (Marguerite Casey Foundation, 2012).

Absent these competencies, a NPHSO may lack the programmatic stability through which EBP can be used to improve client outcomes. A lack of these competencies may also harm implementation of evidence-based programs (Fixsen et al., 2005, 2009).

Evaluation capacity. Evaluation capacity is the NPHSO's ability to a) define intended client outcomes in clear and observable terms that relate to meaningful quality of life changes for the individuals, families, and communities it serves (Hunter, 2006; W. K. Kellogg, 2004); b) engage in formative, process, and outcome evaluation to assess program effectiveness (Fine, Thayer, & Coghlan, 2000; Hoefer, 2000; Poister, 2010); and c) collect, manage, analyze, and interpret evaluation data (Cousins, Goh, Elliott, & Bourgeois, 2014). If an NPHSO is unable to define the outcomes it hopes to achieve for clients, it will not know what research evidence might be used to improve its programs. Even if research evidence is identified and used to improve a program, the NPHSO needs to know how to evaluate the program and use and analyze data to determine if the use of evidence improves client outcomes.

Several studies indicate that NPHSOs struggle with evaluation (Carman, 2007; Carman & Frederick, 2008; Hoefer, 2000; Innovation Network, 2012; Leake et al., 2007; Pejsa, 2011; Sobeck, 2008; TCC Group, 2010), hampered by a lack of resources (e.g., time, funding, staff), expertise, and leadership support and implementation challenges (e.g., data management) (Carman & Fredericks, 2010). Carnochan et al. (2014) found that defining measurable outcomes was difficult for NPHSO leaders because of the challenge in reconciling aggregated vs. case-specific data, the "dynamic and complex nature of client progress toward goals" (p. 6), and differences between staff and funder outcome definitions. The authors also found that NPHSOs struggled to design and use data systems for measuring outcomes. Thus, NPHSOs may need to strengthen evaluation capacity before engaging in EBP.

Networking capacity. Networking capacity is the ability of nonprofit organizations to create, develop, and sustain relationships with other organizations (Glickman & Servon, 2003). Eisenger (2002) defines having "links to the larger community from which an organization might draw help" (p. 118) as a critical capacity element among NPHSOs. Weber and Khademian (2008) stated that "networks are defined by the enduring exchange relations established between organizations" (p. 334) and are important for organizing collective action to solve challenging, complex, and unstructured community problems and as a platform for sharing knowledge. Similarly, a growing collective impact movement is based on the idea that cross-sector collaboration is needed to solve community problems that no single organization can solve alone (Austin & Seitanidi, 2012; Kania & Kramer, 2011).

Organizations with low proximity, weak ties to external networks are more likely to learn about innovations that can improve their practices (Rogers, 2003). Thus, the more networked an NPHSO is, the more likely it will be exposed to new ideas for improving outcomes, including the use of EBP. NPHSOs need to have connections to organizations and networks outside of the communities they serve. This may occur when a NPHSO identifies with a field of practice (James Irvine Foundation, 2009) and engages in shared evaluation and learning activities (Kramer, Parkhurst, & Vaidyanathan, 2009) through intermediary organizations such as foundations. NPHSOs need networks to efficiently access, understand, and apply research evidence.

Resource capacity. Resource capacity is the degree to which an NPHSO has the financial and non-financial resources it needs to implement and sustain effective programs. How well the readiness (leadership, culture, access to knowledge) of a NPHSO to engage in EBP translates into actual EBP engagement will vary by resource capacity. Sufficient and stable

resources are critical for EBP engagement (Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Fixsen et al., 2005; Franklin & Hopson, 2007; Mullen et al., 2008; Schoenwald & Hoagwood, 2001). Funding, human resources, space, technology, and training are needed to support EBP implementation (Fixsen et al., 2005). Acquisition, training, monitoring, supervision, consultation, and ongoing licensing for proprietary evidence-based programs may be cost prohibitive for many NPHSOs (Franklin & Hopson, 2007). Costs associated with EBP engagement also include the unfunded time of staff to engage in research, planning, and training activities, new facilities, equipment, qualified staff, and information technology (Fixsen et al., 2005; Hayes, 2005; Schoenwald & Hoagwood, 2001).

A lack of resource capacity also exerts an indirect harmful impact on EBP engagement due to the diversion of time, energy, and resources from implementing effective programs to fundraising. NPHSOs that lurch from one restricted grant to the other may be continuously changing the focus of their programming to meet funder demands, which makes applying EBP untenable.

Financial resources include both contributed and earned revenue sources, including grants, contracts, program fees, individual and corporate donations, special events, investment income, and commercial enterprises. Financial resources may also include loans, lines of credit, program-related investments, tax-exempt bonds, and other financial instruments. Non-financial resources include in-kind donations and services provided at no cost by volunteers and other organizations.

In addition to the resource flows noted above, resource capacity includes the net assets of the NPHSO, such as the depreciated value of fixed assets (e.g., land, building, and equipment), operating reserves, and board-designated endowments. Resource capacity can be measured with a range of indicators using NPHSO financial statements to indicate near-term and long-range

financial health (Besel, Williams, & Klak, 2011; Bowman, 2011; Bowman, Tuckman, & Young, 2012; Calabrese, 2013; Chabotar, 1989; Chang & Tuckman, 1991).

Lack of resource capacity hinders the adoption and implementation of EBP. Funding concerns were a major issue that affected decisions to adopt MST among stakeholder organizations in 13 systems of care (Carstens, Panzano, Massatti, Roth, & Sweeney, 2009). Organization leaders anticipated costs of adopting and implementing MST would exceed current revenues based on fee-for-service reimbursements. Barwick et al. (2005) found executive directors of Canadian mental health organizations were motivated to adopt EBP, but lack of sufficient staff, time, and money were a barrier. In a study assessing fidelity outcomes associated with five different evidence-based mental health interventions, Bond et al. (2009) found higher fidelity was observed for interventions with more favorable government reimbursements and more state-level technical resources and guidance. Funding was identified as a key challenge in using EBP by managers of community-based substance abuse treatment programs (Guerrero, 2013). Packard (2010) found adequate funding and effective resource allocation were factors perceived by managers and practitioners to be important in supporting the performance of human service organizations assisting at-risk youth.

Resource constraints are a particular problem for NPHSOs. Authors of several studies have documented financial challenges of NPHSOs (Abt Associates, 2009; Besel, Williams, & Klak, 2011; Brown, 2008; Minzner et al., 2014; Salamon & Geller, 2007; Sobeck & Agius, 2007; Sontag-Padilla, Staplefoote, & Gonzalez Morganti, 2012; Weerawardena, McDonald, & Mort, 2010; Yung et al., 2008; Zietlow, 2010), such as below-cost reimbursement, late payments from government funders, and lack of funding for evaluation. Given the up-front costs associated with EBP engagement, low operating reserves are a particular problem for NPHSOs (Bowman,

2011; Nonprofit Finance Fund, 2013; Nonprofit Operating Reserves Initiative Workgroup, 2008).

Organizational Readiness Conditions

Organizational readiness conditions are factors identified in the implementation science literature as affecting organizations' use of EBP (e.g. Bond et al., 2009; Fixsen et al., 2005). These factors include leadership quality, a learning culture, and access to knowledge.

Leadership quality. Leadership quality is the ability of managers, supervisors, and the board of directors to 1) articulate a vision for and maintain a steady commitment to improving client outcomes; 2) promote a learning culture that predisposes the NPHSO to use evidence to improve programs; and 3) develop resources and accountability to ensure that evidence-based programs are well implemented and sustained. Use of EBP is conceptualized as a multi-stage process, beginning with the decision to adopt new practices (Fixsen et al., 2005). EBP is a practice innovation – a new approach for most NPHSOs in planning, implementing, and evaluating programs. For innovations to be adopted, the innovation must be recognized as better than current practice, an assessment influenced by the role of champions, change agents, and opinion leaders (Rogers, 2003). In NPHSOs, the chief executive officer, with the support of the Board of Directors, needs to champion the use of EBP as a strategy to better fulfill the NPHSO's charitable mission (Hayes, 2005). McKay et al. (2004) found that efforts to promote EBP depend on whether organizational leaders recognize the benefits of EBP, think creatively, and are open to new practice ideas.

The decision to engage in EBP invokes organizational change (Aarons et al., 2009; Barwick et al., 2005; Franklin & Hopson, 2007; Johnson & Austin, 2006; Mullen et al., 2008; Panzano et al., 2005; Plath, 2012; Proctor et al., 2009; Roberts-DeGennaro, 2010; Rosencheck,
2001), the process of which requires deft leadership skills such as team building, clear communication, and conflict management. Several studies have found a relationship between leadership styles and behavior and EBP engagement. Both transformational (i.e., promoting a vision for change) and transactional (i.e., setting goals and expectations, motivating staff with rewards) leadership had statistically significant, positive correlations with EBP attitudes (Aarons, 2006). Transformational leadership was found to be associated with client outcomes in human service organizations (Poertner, 2006) and the adoption of program innovations in NPHSOs (Jaskyte, 2011). Similarly, adoption of Multi-Systemic Treatment (MST), an evidence-based program, was associated with leaders who expressed a greater vision for how MST adoption could promote use of evidence-informed programs and services and build legitimacy and influence in the community (Carstens et al., 2009).

After making a commitment to EBP to improve programs, managers and supervisors play an important role in supporting and sustaining program implementation (Fixsen et al., 2005). Leadership support, including ongoing supervisor communication, was viewed by staff as an important factor in the implementation of SafeCare, an evidence-based home visitation program (Aarons & Palinkas, 2007). Also, leaders play an important role in managing organizational culture to accept change, and in helping staff members cope with the loss they may feel in changing their practices (Austin & Claassen, 2008a).

Learning culture. Learning culture is an organizational culture in which exploring new ideas, risk taking, and continuous learning occurs. To increase their effectiveness, organizations need to engage in an ongoing process of critical reflection, questioning underlying assumptions concerning their practices (Argyris, 1977; Brown & Duguid, 1991). Cousins et al. (2014) contend that the learning capacity of organizations is supported by a clear mission and vision, a

strong culture of experimentation supported by leaders, internal and external knowledge transfers, learning from failure, and an emphasis on teamwork and group problem solving. Managers and supervisors can promote a learning culture by facilitating a process in which staff analyze and interpret data to make improvements (Garvin, Edmondson, & Gino, 2008; Johnson & Crean, 2008; Linnell et al., 2002) and feel psychologically safe taking risks (Edmondson, 1999). Feedback loops are also needed to monitor implementation in dynamic organizational settings (Fixsen et al., 2009).

NPHSOs with learning cultures characterized by curiosity, data collection, and intellectual discourse may be more likely to value and adopt EBP. For example, Plath (2012) proposes that EBP be regarded as an ongoing and cyclical process in which research evidence is critically appraised by staff to inform and improve practice. Similarly, Gambrill (2006) emphasizes the importance of critical thinking among all staff members in organizations to generate ideas for improving services in relation to practice-related evidence. Illustrating what she sees as the connection between EBP and organizational learning, she states "The notion of a learning organization suggests an active pursuit of the flow of knowledge including errors and their causes rather than a passive stance that characterizes many (most?) social service organizations" (p. 350). An indicator that a NPHSO has a learning culture is that it regularly uses theories of change to identify and examine assumptions about how program services and activities will result in desired outcomes (Hunter, 2006; W. K. Kellogg Foundation, 2004)

Becoming learning organizations can help NPHSOs develop the "critical thinking skills needed to understand and assess research as well as adapt and apply findings to practice situations" (Austin, 2008, p. 570). To do this, NPHSOs need to develop certain competencies, including how to create an organizational culture that promotes learning, access and assess

different types of research evidence related to practice, manage and share knowledge, and apply learning to practice (Austin, 2008).

Maynard (2010) also argues that applying the theory and practice of organizational learning can help social service organizations overcome the barriers to EBP engagement. Organizational learning components that promote EBP engagement regard the organization as a complex system influenced by both internal and external factors, personal mastery of staff members, revealing implicit practice assumptions, creating a shared vision for change, and engaging in team learning. By becoming learning organizations, NPHSOs can create the conditions and capabilities conducive for EBP engagement. Similarly, Gitterman and Knight (2013) state "Natural curiosity, a willingness to take a risk and follow hunches, and the ability to learn from mistakes are sine quo non of artistry" (p. 74).

Access to knowledge. Access to knowledge is the extent to which the NPHSO is able to access research evidence to improve its programs. Access to knowledge capital relates to what Rogers (2003) describes as the agenda setting and matching process, when organizations recognize a performance gap, access information about an innovation that can reduce this gap, and consider the innovation's fit with the organization.

Access is strongly influenced by the relationships the NPHSO has with external organizations and networks. NPHSOs have difficulty in finding relevant research evidence (Barwick et al., 2005; Edmond et al., 2006; Kirk, 1999). Passive dissemination strategies are ineffective (Fixsen et al., 2005), as managers may lack the time and expertise to find and assess the relevance and quality of evidence. NPHSOs can benefit from interacting with "purveyors" - organizations and networks dedicated to the sound implementation of evidence-based programs (Fixsen et al., 2009). NPHSOs can also gain access to knowledge via shared evaluation and

learning networks supported by foundations (James Irvine Foundation, 2009; Kramer, Parkhurst, & Vaidyanathan, 2009) and through interactions with nonprofit capacity-building intermediaries such as United Way (Brown, 2008; Minzner et al., 2014; Shea, 2010). Larger NPHSOs can cultivate internal communities of practice to help managers identify and know how to use evidence to improve programs (Milway & Saxton, 2011).

A Conceptual Model of EBP in NPHSOs

Based on the organizational capacity and readiness factors described above, the following conceptual model explains how EBP engagement occurs in NPHSOs:





According to the model, organizational readiness conditions like the quality of leadership will lead to the routine and sustained use of evidence to guide programming decisions, as partially mediated by the degree of fit of evidence and whether EBP as a routine practice is viewed as advantageous by NPHSO managers. However, the readiness conditions that facilitate EBP engagement and EBP engagement itself will be directly influenced by the capacity of the NPHSO to execute its charitable mission. These constructs and relationships are discussed in fuller detail below.

EBP Engagement

As defined above, EBP in NPHSOs is *the routine and sustained use best available evidence in addition to stakeholder needs and preferences to guide programming decisions aimed at improving client outcomes*. Using evidence to guide programming decisions may include, but is not limited to selecting, implementing, and sustaining a particular empirically supported intervention (ESI). EBP engagement will occur in varying degrees and stages in NPHSOs (Meyer & Goes, 1988) and represents a shift in organizational practice, from not using to using evidence to improve programs and client outcomes. It may begin with simple steps such as an NPHSO that assists the homeless learning more about the housing first model or about how homeless persons living with serious mental illness might benefit from having an ACT team.

In its fullest form, EBP engagement in NPHSOs reflects an ongoing and sustained cycle of applying and adapting evidence to programs, evaluating outcomes, and making further refinements. With respect to ESIs, EBP engagement means implementing the intervention to fidelity, ensuring that ongoing resources are available to sustain fidelity, evaluating the outcomes of the ESI, and adapting the intervention as needed to improve outcomes.

Organizational Capacity

Organizational capacity is a necessary precondition to EBP engagement. NPHSOs with insufficient capacity are unlikely to engage in EBP. Also, ESIs implemented by NPHSOs with insufficient capacity will be poorly implemented. The following hypotheses related to organizational capacity are identified in the conceptual model:

H₁: *NPHSOs need sufficient and sustained organizational capacity to attain readiness to routinely use evidence to improve programs.*

H₂: *NPHSO's organizational capacity will directly impact the routine and sustained use of evidence to improve programs.*

Organizational Readiness

Readiness is the conditions under which EBP engagement is more likely to occur in NPHSOs: leadership quality, a learning culture, and access to knowledge. According to the proposed model:

H₃: Organizational readiness conditions – leadership quality, learning culture, and access to knowledge - will make an NPHSO more likely to engage in EBP.

The Relationship between Organizational Capacity and Readiness

Figure 2.2 below depicts the theory of change concerning how specific types of organizational capacity affect readiness for EBP engagement as an explication of the left half of the conceptual model in Figure 2.1:





Management and technical capacity is hypothesized to directly impact evaluation capacity because adequate staffing, supervision, management information systems, and information technology are needed before NPHSOs can evaluate their programs. For example, lack of supervision may result in lack of accountability needed to drive evaluation. Inability to collect, manage, and analyze data will thwart most evaluation efforts.

Management and technical capacity is also viewed as a precursor to leadership quality. Whereas the management function of NPHSOs is focused on the efficient and effective use of resources to operate programs, leadership means articulating a vision for change and motivating and supporting staff in pursuing this change. Yet leaders cannot pursue change if the management function has not established the NPHSO's programmatic structure.

Evaluation capacity influences a learning culture in three ways. First, a NPHSO needs clear definitions of the client outcomes it is trying to achieve and an understanding of evaluation concepts before it can critically assess evidence to improve programs. Second, in judging whether and how research evidence might improve programs, an NPHSO needs to understand how effective its programs are. Third, an NPHSO needs to be able to evaluate a research-informed program to determine whether it is effective. Leadership quality also affects learning culture. In general, leadership behaviors have a substantive effect on organizational culture. Specifically, transformational and transactional leadership are positively associated with attitudes among staff concerning EBP (Aarons, 2006).

An NPHSO's ability to form relationships with other organizations (networking capacity) will affect its access to knowledge, including research evidence. In turn, accessing knowledge will provide inputs to support a learning culture. For example, an NPHSO manager regularly attends learning network meetings organized by a local foundation and brings new information

back to the NPHSO to be discussed and critically assessed for improving programs. Finally, as detailed above, a lack of resources can undermine almost everything an NPHSO does in relation to EBP engagement, e.g., not having computers and internet access to access evidence, constant diversions of time, energy and attention from improving client outcomes to raising money, and being unable to hire competent staff.

Mediator: Evidence Fit with Mission and Capacity

Evidence fit refers to the degree to which evidence to which the NPHSO has access and may consider for improving programs is aligned with its mission, community, and capacity. According to the proposed model:

H₄: The relationship between organizational readiness and EBP engagement is partially mediated by the fit of evidence with the NPHSO's mission and capacity.

An NPHSO may be ready to engage in EBP as a function of leadership, culture, and access to knowledge, yet whether readiness leads to EBP engagement depends on how well aligned the evidence is. NPHSO leaders need to assess the best available evidence (Austin, 2008) to improve programs, yet leaders need to be able to locate evidence that is both relevant and usable.

Evidence alignment relates to what Rogers (2003) describes as determining the fit between the innovation and the organization. The questions a NPHSO manager must answer to determine this fit include "can this evidence or this evidence-based program be used to help fulfill our mission?", "might it help us better respond to the needs of our community?", and "do we have the knowledge, skills, and resources to put this evidence into practice?"

Mediator: Perception of EBP Opportunity and Risk.

Perception of EBP opportunity and risk refers to the degree to which leaders feel that EBP engagement will help the NPHSO fulfill its mission to a greater extent than the NPHSO's current efforts, while not incurring a risk to the NPHSO's current and future financial health. According to the proposed model:

H₅: The relationship between organizational readiness and EBP engagement is partially mediated by whether EBP is viewed as an opportunity or a risk by NPHSO leaders.

In addition to the availability of aligned evidence, the relationship between readiness and EBP engagement depends on the perception that engagement EBP is advantageous for the NPHSO.

Greenhalgh et al. (2004) found in a large systematic review that the innovation must be perceived as advantageous for it to be considered for adoption. Similarly, Rogers (2003) states that the innovation must be seen as better than current practice. Thus, NPHSO leaders must perceive that by engaging in EBP, programs and client outcomes will be improved, and that organizational survival will not be threatened.

From a strategic management perspective (Barney & Hesterly, 2012; Hill & Jones, 2008; Oster, 1995), EBP could be considered a part of a continuous process of "innovation, strategic analysis, formulation and implementation" (Courtney, 2002, p. 8) to help the NPHSO achieve community impact and attract funding. In other words, EBP may be viewed by NPHSO leaders as a strategy to better fulfill mission and to secure resources. Based on resource dependence theory (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Froelich, 1999; Hillman, Withers, & Collins, 2009) EBP may be viewed by NPHSO leaders as a strategic response to the changing needs and expectations of funders on which they depend. For example, 17 state Medicaid programs reimburse for Supported Employment – an evidence-based program (Holladay, 2013). Thus, an NPHSO may be compelled to adopt EBP for no other reason than externally-imposed funding conditions, though as explained by other factors in the model, this reason alone does not ensure the NPHSO will effectively implement and sustain new practices to improve client outcomes.

Practice Implications

The conceptual model presented in this paper can be used by NPHSO leadership teams to understand how to guide their organizations toward greater EBP engagement. This ought to start with an assessment of readiness. NPHSO leaders can assess their capacity using tools like the Marguerite Casey Foundation's organizational capacity assessment tool³ to determine functions that might be strengthened as a precondition for EBP engagement. Leaders can then assess their readiness for EBP engagement by using tools like the Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS)⁴. The benefits of engaging staff, volunteers, clients, and board members in these assessment activities are to use the process to build a collective vision for engaging in EBP as a strategy for improving client outcomes, and to identify barriers to EBP engagement and the resources the organization needs to overcome these barriers. To help overcome attitudinal barriers, leaders should emphasize how EBP engagement is a strategy – but not the only conceivable one – that can improve client outcomes. EBP engagement should be tightly linked to the NPHSO's mission and not be characterized merely as a means of securing additional funding.

The next major step for NPHSO leaders is to promote a learning culture. This can be done in simple ways, such as devoting time in staff meetings to engage in discussions about why (or why not) programs and services appear to be effective in meeting client needs. Staff may also

³See http://caseygrants.org/resources/org-capacity-assessment/

⁴See http://www.seattleimplementation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/M_Aarons_EBPAS_2004.pdf

be encouraged to introduce new ideas about effective programs from conferences or their own learning. Leaders should encourage risk taking and hold individual staff accountable not for client outcomes (which may be affected by multiple factors), but for the development of new knowledge and skills. Accountability for client outcomes should be expressed as a collective responsibility.

To promote learning and encourage active use of evidence, leaders should ensure their organizations are active participants in networks organized by intermediary organizations such as foundations, state associations, and universities. Through these networks, NPHSO leaders and staff can learn about best available evidence and practice guidelines related to their field(s) of practice. Leaders should actively seek help from intermediaries in understanding how to apply evidence to practice.

Lastly, NPHSO leaders should ensure their organizations have the financial stability to engage in EBP. As effective, evidence-based programs are developed, leaders should ensure they can be sustained over time. Financial sustainability is primarily a function of funding policies (see below), though there are many strategies leaders can take irrespective of funding reforms. These strategies are beyond the scope of this paper, though there are several helpful practiceoriented resources (e.g., Bell, Masaoka, & Zimmerman, 2010; Jean Francois, 2015; Peters & Schaffer, 2005)

Research Implications

The conceptual model presented and discussed in this paper offers a set of hypotheses that can be tested to build research evidence concerning factors that influence EBP engagement. Structural equation modeling (SEM) could be used with cross-sectional data from NPHSOs to test relationships among model constructs, including the two partial mediators. Appendix 2.1

lists instruments that can be used to measure certain model constructs. Using SEM to analyze the strength of relationships among model constructs can help identify possible leverage points for organizational development and capacity-building interventions to promote greater use of EBP among NPHSOs. For example, leadership development, including individualized coaching, may build NPHSO capacity (Austin, Regan, Samples, Schwartz, & Carnochan, 2011). A sample of NPHSOs interested in capacity-building could be randomly assigned into leadership coaching plus group-based training, group-based training alone, and a control group.

A key idea from the conceptual model is organizational capacity affects conditions under which NPHSOs are more likely to engage in EBP. This links two otherwise disconnected literatures – nonprofit capacity and effectiveness and implementation science. For researchers interested in nonprofit capacity, this model can help focus capacity-building interventions in areas directly related to strengthening programs to improve client outcomes. For researchers interested in implementation science, this model can help identify specific capacity issues that may explain variation in program fidelity.

Researchers must address two distinct challenges in this area. First, using organizations as the units of analysis makes achieving statistical power in intervention studies difficult. An alternative is to use organizational units, such as treatment teams, as the units and use multi-level modeling to account for clustering of teams within organizations. Second, most organizational research includes obtaining observations through self-report, which raises internal validity threats such as ability to recall and accurately depict complex organizational phenomena (Podsakoff & Organ, 1986), thus requiring methods such as competence-based weights (Van Bruggen, Lilien, & Kacker, 2002) and within-unit consistency analysis (Glisson et al., 2008) in aggregating responses.

Policy Implications

The conceptual model also conveys implications for funding strategies. Funders and other intermediaries engaged in impact-focused funding efforts like social impact bonds and strategic philanthropy can use the model as a guide for assessing the capacity and readiness of NPHSOs to implement and scale up effective programs. It may be tempting to simply compel NPHSOs to engage in EBP by making it a condition of receiving funding, yet funding and policy mandates alone are insufficient for effective implementation (Fixsen et al., 2005).

If funders want to see NPHSOs increase their use of EBP, they should help build NPHSO capacity (Buteau, Brock, & Chaffin, 2013), particularly concerning evaluation (Brock, Buteau, & Herring, 2012). Rogers (2003) cautions that the adoption of innovation among people and organizations with greater resources and capacity may exacerbate inequality. To mitigate this risk with respect to EBP – particularly given how it is preferred by funders – NPHSO capacity-building warrants attention. Minzner et al. (2014) found that among small NPHSOs, capacity in multiple domains can be positively impacted with training, technical assistance, coaching, and targeted funding.

Another implication of the proposed model is funders should consider an inclusive standard with respect to evidence (Schorr, 2012), which relates to the standard of best available evidence in the definition of EBP engagement in this paper. An inclusive standard means synthesizing evidence from multiple sources along a hierarchy of evidence to "continuously make interventions more effective" (Schorr, 2012, p. 54). Rather than limit funding to interventions at the top of the evidence hierarchy (i.e., interventions deemed effective via meta-analyses and systematic reviews), funding may be directed toward NPHSOs that embody the

definition of EBP engagement in this paper: routine and sustained use of best available evidence to improve programs.

However, orienting funding strategies toward EBP engagement is insufficient; how funding is allocated is important. NPHSOs struggle with below-cost funding (Nonprofit Finance Fund, 2013; Nonprofit Operating Reserves Initiative Workgroup, 2008), which comprises their ability to implement effective programs. For example, Heckman (2006) notes how the evidence regarding early childhood interventions warrants greater public investment in this area, yet low wages and high turnover plague the early childhood sector and compromise effective implementation. In addition, NPHSOs need longer-term and unrestricted sources of funding to build EBP-related capacity and sustain effective programs. Put simply, disruptions in funding disrupt effective implementation, which leads to poor outcomes.

Limitations of the Model

The conceptual model presented and discussed in this paper seeks to explain EBP engagement among NPHSOs. A key limitation is the model's implicit assumption that client outcomes will improve if NPHSOs engage in EBP (as broadly defined in this article), which is an untested proposition. There may be other program design and implementation strategies and tactics NPHSOs can employ with equal if not superior improvements in client outcomes.

Another model limitation is that organizational behavior and the community problems NPHSOs address are complex and dynamic. There may be factors and processes operating both within and outside of the NPHSO affecting EBP engagement and client outcomes that are unaccounted for in the model and evade definition and measurement as model constructs. The model may be limited to NPHSOs addressing community problems amenable to direct service interventions implemented in relatively stable operating environments.

Conclusion

In this paper, I present and discuss a conceptual model to explain EBP engagement among NPHSOs. I propose that the adoption, implementation, and sustainability of EBP is affected by multiple organizational capacity and readiness factors, as partially mediated by the availability and fit of evidence and the perception of an NPHSO's leaders that EBP engagement is advantageous. This model can benefit implementation science by further conceptualizing factors facilitating or hindering use of evidence to improve programs and offering a set of testable hypotheses to inform capacity-building efforts to reduce the research-to-practice gap in social work.

REFERENCES

- Aarons, G. A. (2006). Transformational and transactional leadership: Association with attitudes toward evidence-based practice. *Psychiatric Services*, 57, 1162-1169. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.57.8.1162
- Aarons, G. A., Fettes, D. L., Flores Jr., L. E., & Sommerfeld, D. H. (2009). Evidence-based practice implementation and staff emotional exhaustion in children's services. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47, 954-960. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.07.006
- Aarons, G. A., Glisson, C., Green, P. D., Hoagwood, K., Kelleher, K. J., & Landsverk, J. A. (2012). The organizational social context of mental health services and clinician attitudes toward evidence-based practice: A United States national study. *Implementation Science*, 7, 56. Retrieved from http://www.implementationscience.com/content/7/1/56
- Aarons, G., & Palinkas, L. (2007). Implementation of evidence-based practice in child welfare: Service provider perspectives. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 34, 411-419. doi:10.1007/s10488-007-0121-3
- Aarons, G. A., Sommerfeld, D. H., Hecht, D. B., Silovsky, J. F., & Chaffin, M. J. (2009). The impact of evidence-based practice implementation and fidelity monitoring on staff turnover: Evidence for a protective effect. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77, 270-280. doi:10.1037/a0013223
- Aarons, G. A., Sommerfeld, D. H., & Walrath-Greene, C. M. (2009). Evidence-based practice implementation: The impact of public versus private sector organization type on organizational support, provider attitudes, and adoption of evidence-based practice. *Implementation Science*, 4, 83. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-4-83
- Abt Associates. (2009). Assessing changes in nonprofit capacity: Outcome study of the compassion capital fund demonstration program (Technical Appendix Report prepared for Office of Community Services, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Retrieved from the Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/tech_apndx_final.pdf Austin, J. E. (2010). From organization to organization: On creating value. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 94, 13-15. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0787-z
- Austin, J. E., & Seitanidi, M. M. (2012). Collaborative value creation: A review of partnering between nonprofits and businesses: Part I. Value creation spectrum and collaboration stages. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 41, 726-758. doi:10.1177/0899764012450777
- Austin, M. J. (2008). Strategies for transforming human service organizations into learning organizations: Knowledge management and the transfer of learning. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 569-596. doi:10.1080/15433710802084326

- Austin, M. J., & Claassen, J. (2008a). Impact of organizational change on organizational culture: Implications for introducing evidence-based practice. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 321-359. doi:10.1300/J394v05n01_12
- Austin, M., & Claassen, J. (2008b). Implementing evidence-based practice in human service organizations: Preliminary lessons from the frontlines. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 271-293. doi:10.1300/J394v05n01_10
- Austin, M. J., Regan, K., Samples, M. W., Schwartz, S. L., & Carnochan, S. (2011). Building managerial and organizational capacity in nonprofit human service organizations through a leadership development program. *Administration in Social Work*, 35, 258-281. doi:10.1080/03643107.2011.575339
- Barney, J. B., & Hesterly, W. S. (2012). *Strategic management and competitive advantage* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Barth, R. P., Lee, B. R., Lindsey, M. A., Collins, K. S., Strieder, F., Chorpita, B. F., Becker, K. D., & Sparks, J. A. (2012). Evidence-based practice at a crossroads: The timely emergence of common elements and common factors. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 22, 108-119. doi:10.1177/1049731511408440
- Barwick, M. A., Blydell, K. M., Stasiulis, E., Ferguson, H. B., Blase, K., & Fixsen, D. (2005). *Knowledge transfer and evidence-based practice in children's mental health*. Toronto, Ontario: Children's Mental Health Ontario. Retrieved from http://www.kidsmentalhealth.ca/documents/KT_full_report.pdf
- Barwick, M. A., Schachter, H. M., Bennett, L. M., McGowan, J., Ly, M., Wilson, A., Bennett, K., Buchanan, D. H., Fergusson, D., & Manion, I. (2012). Knowledge translation efforts in child and youth mental health: A systematic review. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 9, 369-395. doi:10.1080/15433714.2012.663667
- Bell, J., Masaoka, J., & Zimmerman, S. (2010). Nonprofit sustainability: Making strategic decisions for financial viability. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bellamy, J. L., Mullen, E. J., Satterfield, J. M., Newhouse, R. P., Ferguson, M., Brownson, R. C., & Spring, B. (2013). Implementing evidence-based practice education in social work: A transdisciplinary approach. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 23, 426-436. doi:10.1177/1049731513480528
- Besel, K., Williams, C. L., & Klak, J. (2011). Nonprofit sustainability during times of uncertainty. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 22, 53-65. doi:10.1002/nml.20040
- Bishop, S. W. (2007). Linking nonprofit capacity to effectiveness in the new public management era: The case of community action agencies. *State & Local Government Review*, *39*, 144-152. http://www.jstor.org/stable/25130416

- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., McHugo, G. J., Rapp, C. A., & Whitley, R. (2009). Strategies for improving fidelity in the national evidence-based practices project. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 569-581. doi:10.1177/1049731509335531
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., Mueser, K. T., & Latimer, E. (2001). Assertive community treatment for people with severe mental illness: Critical ingredients and impact on patients. *Disease Management and Health Outcomes*, 9, 141-159. http://cpmcnet.columbia.edu/dept/pi/ppf/Bond.pdf
- Bond, G. R., & McGovern, M. P. (2013). Measuring organizational capacity to treat cooccurring psychiatric and substance use disorders. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 9, 165-170. doi:10.1080/15504263.2013.779051
- Bowman, W. (2011). Financial capacity and sustainability of ordinary nonprofits. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 22(1), 37. doi:10.1002/nml.20039
- Bowman, W., Tuckman, H. P., & Young, D. R. (2012). Issues in nonprofit finance research: Surplus, endowment, and endowment portfolios. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 41, 560-579. doi:10.1177/0899764011411925
- Brekke, J. S., Ell, K., & Palinkas, L. A. (2007). Translational science at the National Institute of Mental Health: Can social work take its rightful place? *Research on Social Work Practice*, 17, 123–33. doi:10.1177/1049731506293693
- Briggs, H. E., & McBeath, B. (2009). Evidence-based management: Origins, challenges, and implications for social service administration. *Administration in Social Work*, 33, 242-261. doi:10.1080/03643100902987556
- Brock, A., Buteau, E., & Herring, A. (2012). Room for improvement: Foundations' support of nonprofit performance assessment. Retrieved from the Center for Effective Philanthropy website http://www.effectivephilanthropy.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/01/RoomForImprovement.pdf
- Brown, J. S., & Duguid, P. (1991). Organizational learning and communities-of-practice: Toward a unified view of working, learning, and innovation. *Organization Science*, *2*, 40-57. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/10.1287/orsc.2.1.40
- Brown, M. (2008). Improving organizational capacity of faith-based and community-based domestic violence service providers. In P. Joshi, S. Hawkins & J. Novey (Eds.), *Compendium of research papers presented at the faith-based and community initiatives conference on research, outcomes, and evaluation*. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://aspe.hhs.gov/whatsnew/posted2008.shtml
- Buteau, E., Brock, A., & Chaffin, M. (2013). *Nonprofit challenges: What foundations can do.* Retrieved from the Center for Effective Philanthropy website http://www.effectivephilanthropy.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/07/NonprofitChallenges.pdf

- Calabrese, T. (2013). Running on empty: The operating reserves of U.S. nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership, 23, 281-302.* doi:10.1002/nml.21064
- Carman, J. G. (2007). Evaluation practice among community-based organizations research into the reality. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *28*, 60-75. doi:10.1177/1098214006296245
- Carman, J. G., & Fredericks, K. A. (2008). Nonprofits and evaluation: Empirical evidence from the field. *New Directions for Evaluation*, 2008(119), 51-71. doi:10.1002/ev.268
- Carman, J. G., & Fredericks, K. A. (2010). Evaluation capacity and nonprofit organizations: Is the glass half-empty or half-full? *American Journal of Evaluation*, 31, 84-104. doi:10.1177/1098214009352361
- Carnochan, S., Samples, M., Myers, M., & Austin, M. J. (2014). Performance measurement challenges in nonprofit human service organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 43, 1014-1032. doi:10.1177/0899764013508009
- Carstens, C., Panzano, P., Massatti, R., Roth, D., & Sweeney, H. (2009). A naturalistic study of MST dissemination in 13 Ohio communities. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research, 36*, 344-360. doi:10.1007/s11414-008-9124-4
- Cassidy, E. F., Leviton, L. C., & Hunter, D. E. (2006). The relationships of program and organizational capacity to program sustainability: What helps programs survive? *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 29, 149-152. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2005.12.002
- Chabotar, K. J. (1989). Financial ratio analysis comes to nonprofits. *The Journal of Higher Education, 60,* 188. doi:10.2307/1982176
- Chang, C. F., & Tuckman, H. P. (1991). Financial vulnerability and attrition as measures of nonprofit performance. *Annals of Public & Cooperative Economics*, 62, 655-672. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8292.1991.tb01372.x
- Collins, S. E., Malone, D. K., Clifasefi, S. L., Ginzler, J. A., Garner, M. D., Burlingham, B., ... & Larimer, M. E. (2012). Project-based Housing First for chronically homeless individuals with alcohol problems: Within-subjects analyses of 2-year alcohol trajectories. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, 511-519. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300403
- Connolly, P., & York, P. (2003). *Building the capacity of capacity builders* (executive summary of a study of management support and field-building organizations in the nonprofit sector). Retrieved from the TCC Group website http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/buildingthecapacityofcapacitybuilders.pdf
- Courtney, R. (2002). Strategic management for nonprofit organizations. New York: Routledge.
- Cousins, J. B., Goh, S. C., Elliott, C. J., & Bourgeois, I. (2014). Framing the capacity to do and use evaluation. *New Directions for Evaluation*, 2014(141), 7-23. doi:10.1002/ev.20076

- Drisko, J. (2014). Research evidence and social work practice: The place of evidence-based practice. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, *42*, 123-133. doi:10.1007/s10615-013-0459-9
- Durlak, J., & DuPre, E. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41, 327-350. doi:10.1007/s10464-008-9165-0
- Ebrahim, A. (2005). Accountability myopia: Losing sight of organizational learning. *Nonprofit* and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 34, 56-87. doi:10.1177/0899764004269430
- Edmond, T., Megivern, D., Williams, C., Rochman, E., & Howard, M. (2006). Integrating evidence-based practice and social work field education. *Journal of Social Work Education, 42*, 377-396. doi:10.5175/JSWE.2006.200404115
- Edmondson, A. (1999). Psychological safety and learning behavior in work teams. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44, 350-383. doi:10.2307/2666999
- Eisinger, P. (2002). Organizational capacity and organizational effectiveness among street-level food assistance programs. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *31*, 115-130. doi:10.1177/0899764002311005
- Fine, A. H., Thayer, C. E., & Coghlan, A. (2000). Program evaluation practice in the nonprofit sector. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, *10*, 331-339. doi:10.1002/nml.10309
- Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., & Friedman, R. M. (2005). Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature. Retrieved from the National Implementation Research Network website http://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/sites/nirn.fpg.unc.edu/files/resources/NIRN-MonographFull-01-2005.pdf
- Fixsen, D. L., Blase, K. A., Naoom, S. F., & Wallace, F. (2009). Core implementation components. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 531-540. doi:10.1177/1049731509335549
- Franklin, C., & Hopson, L. M. (2007). Facilitating the use of evidence-based practice in community organizations. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 43, 377-404. doi:10.5175/JSWE.2007.200600027
- Fraser, M. W., Richman, J. M., Galinsky, M. J., & Day, S. H. (2009). *Intervention research: Developing social programs*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Gambrill, E. (1999). Evidence-based practice: An alternative to authority-based practice. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 80, 341-350. doi:10.1606/1044-3894.1214
- Gambrill, E. (2006). Evidence-based practice and policy: Choices ahead. *Research on Social Work Practice, 16*, 338-357. doi:10.1177/1049731505284205

- Gambrill, E. (2012). *Social work practice: A critical thinker's guide*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Garrow, E. E. (2011). Receipt of government revenue among nonprofit human service organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, *21*, 445-471. doi:10.1093/jopart/muq074
- Garvin, D., Edmondson, A., & Gino, F. (2008). Is yours a learning organization? *Harvard Business Review*, 86(3), 109-116. http://hbr.org/2008/03/is-yours-a-learning-organization/ar/1
- Gearing, R. E., El-Bassel, N., Ghesquiere, A., Baldwin, S., Gillies, J., & Ngeow, E. (2011). Major ingredients of fidelity: A review and scientific guide to improving quality of intervention research implementation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31, 79-88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.09.007
- Gibbs, L. (2003). *Evidence-based practice for the helping professions*. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Gibbs, L., & Gambrill, E. (2002). Evidence-based practice: Counterarguments to objections. *Research on Social Work Practice, 12,* 452-476. doi:10.1177/1049731502012003007
- Gitterman, A., & Knight, C. (2013). Response to Thyer's "evidence-based practice or evidenceguided practice." *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 94, 85-86. doi:10.1606/1044-3894.4284
- Glickman, N. J., & Servon, L. J. (2003). By the numbers: Measuring community development corporations' capacity. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 22, 240-256. doi:10.1177/0739456X02250314
- Glisson, C., Dukes, D., & Green, P. (2006). The effects of the ARC organizational intervention on caseworker turnover, climate, and culture in children's service systems. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 30*, 855-880. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.12.010
- Glisson, C., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., Dukes, D., Atkinson, S., & Williams, N. J. (2012). Randomized trial of the availability, responsiveness, and continuity (ARC) organizational intervention with community-based mental health programs and clinicians serving youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51, 780-787. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.05.010
- Glisson, C., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., & Williams, N. J. (2013). Randomized trial of the availability, responsiveness and continuity (ARC) organizational intervention for improving youth outcomes in community mental health programs. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52, 493-500. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.02.005
- Glisson, C., Landsverk, J., Schoenwald, S., Kelleher, K., Hoagwood, K. E., Mayberg, S., & Green, P. (2008). Assessing the organizational social context (OSC) of mental health

services: Implications for research and practice. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *35*, 98-113. doi:10.1007/s10488-007-0148-5

- Glisson, C., Schoenwald, S. K., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., Dukes, D., Armstrong, K. S., & Chapman, J. E. (2010). Randomized trial of MST and ARC in a two-level evidence-based treatment implementation strategy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78, 537-550. http://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0019160
- Greenblatt, J., & Donovan, A. (2013). The promise of Pay for Success. *Community Development Investment Review*, 19-22. Retrieved from the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco website http://www.frbsf.org/community-development/publications/communitydevelopment-investment-review/2013/april/pay-for-success-promise/
- Greenhalgh, T., Robert, G., MacFarlane, F., Bate, P., & Kyriakidou, O. (2004). Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: Systematic review and recommendations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 82, 581-629. doi:10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x
- Guerrero, E. G. (2013). Managerial challenges and strategic solutions to implementing organizational change in substance abuse treatment for Latinos. *Administration in Social Work*, 37, 286-296. doi:10.1080/03643107.2012.686009
- Halpern, J., & Jutte, D. (2013). The ethics of Pay for Success. Community Development Investment Review, 41-46. Retrieved from the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco website http://www.frbsf.org/community-development/files/ethics-pay-for-success.pdf
- Hayes, R. A. (2005). Evaluating readiness to implement evidence-based practice. In C. E. Stout,
 & R. A. Hayes, R. A. (Eds.), *The evidence-based practice: Methods, models, and tools for mental health professionals*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Heckman, J. J. (2006). Skill formation and the economics of investing in disadvantaged children. *Science*, *312*(5782), 1900-1902. doi:10.1126/science.1128898
- Hill, C. W. L., & Jones, G. R. (2008). *Strategic management: An integrated approach* (8th ed.) Boston, MA: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Hillman, A. J., Withers, M. C., & Collins, B. J. (2009). Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management*, 35, 1404-1427. doi:10.1177/0149206309343469
- Hoefer, R. (2000). Accountability in action?: Program evaluation in nonprofit human service agencies. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 11, 167-177. doi:10.1002/nml.11203
- Holladay, S. (2013, March). Evidence-based supported employment and Medicaid [Web log post]. Retrieved from the National Academy for State Health Policy website http://www.nashp.org/blog/evidence-based-supported-employment-and-medicaid

- Howard, M. O., & Jenson, J. M. (1999). Barriers to development, utilization, and evaluation of social work practice guidelines: Toward an action plan for social work. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 9, 347-364. doi:10.1177/104973159900900309
- Howard, M. O., McMillen, C. J., & Pollio, D. E. (2003). Teaching evidence-based practice: Toward a new paradigm for social work education. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 13, 234-259. doi:10.1177/1049731502250404
- Hunter, D. E. (2006). Using a theory of change approach to build organizational strength, capacity and sustainability with not-for-profit organizations in the human services sector. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 29, 193-200. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2005.10.003
- Innovation Network. (2012). *State of evaluation 2012: Evaluation practice and capacity in the nonprofit sector*. Retrieved from the Innovation Network website http://www.innonet.org/client_docs/innonet-state-of-evaluation-2012.pdf
- James Irvine Foundation. (2009). *The strong field framework: A guide and toolkit for funders and nonprofits committed to large-scale impact*. Retrieved from http://irvine.org/images/stories/pdf/pubs/strongfieldframework.pdf
- Jaskyte, K. (2011). Predictors of administrative and technological innovations in nonprofit organizations. *Public Administration Review*, *71*, 77-86. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6210.2010.02308.x
- Jean Francois, E. (2015). *Financial sustainability for nonprofit organizations*. New York: Springer.
- Jha, A. K., Joynt, K. E., Orav, E. J., & Epstein, A. M. (2012). The long-term effect of premier pay for performance on patient outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 36, 1606-1615. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1112351
- Johnson, M., & Austin, M. J. (2006). Evidence-based practice in the social services. *Administration in Social Work, 30,* 75-104. doi:10.1300/J147v30n03_06
- Johnson, C., & Crean, A. (2008). *Effective nonprofit evaluation: Through a "community of learners"*. (TCC Group Brief Paper). Retrieved from the TCC Group website http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/per_brief_col.pdf
- Kania, J. & Kramer, M. (2011). Collective impact. *Stanford Social Innovation Review, Winter* 2011, 36-41. Retrieved from http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/collective_impact
- Kettner, P. M., Moroney, R. M., & Martin, L. L. (2013). Designing and managing programs: An effectiveness-based approach (4th ed.) (Chapter 3: Understanding social problems). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kirk, S. A. (1999). Good intentions are not enough: Practice guidelines for social work. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *9*, 302-310. doi:10.1177/104973159900900303

- Kovner, A. R. (2014). Evidence-Based Management: Implications for Nonprofit Organizations. Nonprofit Management and Leadership, 24, 417-424. doi:10.1002/nml.21097
- Kramer, M., Parkhurst, M., & Vaidyanathan, L. (2009). Breakthroughs in shared measurement and social impact. Retrieved from http://www.fsg.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/PDF/Breakthroughs_in_Shared_Measu rement_complete.pdf
- Leake, R., Green, S., Marquez, C., Vanderburg, J., Guillaume, S., & Gardner, V. A. (2007). Evaluating the capacity of faith-based programs in Colorado. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 17, 216-228. doi:10.1177/1049731506296408
- Light, P. C. (2004). Sustaining nonprofit performance: The case for capacity building and the evidence to support it. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Linnell, D., Radosevich, Z. & Spack, J. (2002). *Executive directors guide: The guide to successful nonprofit management*. Boston: United Way of Massachusetts Bay/Third Sector New England.
- Macy, R. J., Ermentrout, D. M., & Rizo, C. F. (2012). An innovative program for justiceinvolved partner violence victims: "No man is worth me getting locked up". *Journal of Family Violence*, 27, 453-464. doi:10.1007/s10896-012-9436-2
- Manuel, J. I., Mullen, E. J., Fang, L., Bellamy, J. L., & Bledsoe, S. E. (2009). Preparing social work practitioners to use evidence-based practice A comparison of experiences from an implementation project. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 613-627. doi:10.1177/1049731509335547
- Marguerite Casey Foundation. (2012). Organizational capacity assessment tool. Retrieved from caseygrants.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Organizational-Capacity-Assessment-Tool.xls
- Marsick, V. J., & Watkins, K. E. (2003). Demonstrating the value of an organization's learning culture: the dimensions of the learning organization questionnaire. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *5*, 132-151. doi:10.1177/1523422303005002002
- Maynard, B. R. (2010). Social service organizations in the era of evidence-based practice: The learning organization as a guiding framework for bridging science to service. *Journal of Social Work, 10,* 301-316. doi:10.1177/1468017309342520
- McHugo, G., Drake, R., Whitley, R., Bond, G., Campbell, K., Rapp, C., Goldman, H. H., Lutz, W. J., & Finnerty, M. (2007). Fidelity outcomes in the national implementing evidencebased practices project. *Psychiatric Services*, 58, 1279-1284. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.58.10.1279
- McKay, M. M., Hibbert, R., Hoagwood, K., Rodriguez, J., Murray, L., Legerski, J., & Fernandez, D. (2004). Integrating evidence-based engagement interventions into "real

world" child mental health settings. *Brief Treatment and Crisis Intervention*, *4*, 177-186. doi:10.1093/brief-treatment/mhh014

- McKinsey and Company (2001). *Effective capacity building in nonprofit organizations* (Report to Venture Philanthropy Partners). Retrieved from http://www.vppartners.org/sites/default/files/reports/full_rpt.pdf
- Meyer, A. D., & Goes, J. B. (1988). Organizational assimilation of innovations: A multilevel contextual analysis. *Academy of Management Journal, 31*, 897-923. http://www.jstor.org/stable/256344
- Millesen, J. L., Carman, J. G., & Bies, A. L. (2010). Why engage? *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 21, 5-20. doi:10.1002/nml.20009
- Milway, K. S., & Saxton, A. (2011). The challenge of organizational learning. *Stanford Social Innovation Review, Summer,* 44-49. Retrieved from http://www.ssireview.org/pdf/2011SU_Feature_MilwaySaxton.pdf
- Minzner, A., Klerman, J. A., Markovitz, C. E., & Fink, B. (2014). The impact of capacitybuilding programs on nonprofits: A random assignment evaluation. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 43, 547-569. doi:10.1177/0899764013491013
- Mullen, E. J., Bledsoe, S. E., & Bellamy, J. L. (2008). Implementing evidence-based social work practice. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 18, 325-338. doi:10.1177/1049731506297827
- Nonprofit Finance Fund. (2013). 2013 state of the sector survey results. Retrieved from http://survey.nonprofitfinancefund.org/2013
- Nonprofit Operating Reserves Initiative Workgroup. (2008). *Maintaining nonprofit operating reserves: An organizational imperative for nonprofit financial stability* (whitepaper). Retrieved from the National Center for Charitable Statistics website http://www.nccs2.org/wiki/images/3/3c/OperatingReservesWhitePaper2009.pdf
- Oster, S. M. (1995). *Strategic management for nonprofit organizations: Theory and cases.* Oxford University Press.
- Packard, T. (2010). Staff perceptions of variables affecting performance in human service organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 39, 971-990. doi:10.1177/0899764009342896
- Padgett, D. K., Stanhope, V., Henwood, B. F., & Stefancic, A. (2011). Substance use outcomes among homeless clients with serious mental illness: Comparing Housing First with treatment first programs. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 47, 227-232. doi:10.1007/s10597-009-9283-7

- Palinkas, L. A., & Soydan, H. (2012). New horizons of translational research and research translation in social work. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 22, 85-92. doi:10.1177/1049731511408738
- Panzano, P. C., Seffrin, B., Chaney-Jones, S., Roth, D., Crane-Ross, D., Massatti, R., & Carstens, C. (2005). The innovation diffusion and adoption research project (IDARP): Moving from the diffusion of research results to promoting the adoption of evidence-based innovations in the Ohio mental health system. *New research in mental health*, *16*, 78-89. Retrieved from http://mha.ohio.gov/Portals/0/assets/Funding/research-evaluation/ore-ejournal/NRMH16.pdf
- Pejsa, L. J. (2011). Improving evaluation in the nonprofit sector: The promise of evaluation capacity building for nonprofit social service organizations in an age of accountability. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (885876409)
- Peters, J. B., & Schaffer, E. (2005). *Financial leadership for nonprofit executives*. Saint Paul, MN: Amherst H. Wilder Foundation.
- Pettijohn, S. L. (2013). The nonprofit sector in brief: Public charities, giving, and volunteering, 2013. Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/412923-The-Nonprofit-Sector-in-Brief.pdf
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). *The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Pfeffer, J., & Sutton, R. I. (2006). Evidence-based management. *Harvard Business Review*, 84(1), 62-74. http://hbr.org/2006/01/evidence-based-management/ar/1
- Plath, D. (2012). Implementing evidence-based practice: An organisational perspective. *British Journal of Social Work*, bcs169. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcs169
- Plath, D. (2013). Organizational processes supporting evidence-based practice. *Administration in Social Work, 37*, 171-188. doi:10.1080/03643107.2012.672946
- Pluye, P., Potvin, L., & Denis, J. L. (2004). Making public health programs last: Conceptualizing sustainability. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 27, 121-133. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2004.01.001
- Podsakoff, P. M., & Organ, D. W. (1986). Self-reports in organizational research: Problems and prospects. *Journal of Management*, *12*, 531-544. doi:10.1177/014920638601200408
- Poertner, J. (2006). Social administration and outcomes for consumers. *Administration in Social Work, 30*, 11-24. doi:10.1300/J147v30n02_03
- Poister, T. H. (2010). Performance measurement: Monitoring program outcomes. In J. S. Wholey, H. P. Hatry, & K. E. Newcomer (Eds.), *Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation* (3rd ed.) (pp. 100-124). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Powell, B. J., Proctor, E. K., & Glass, J. E. (2014). A systematic review of strategies for implementing empirically-supported mental health interventions. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 24, 192-212. doi:10.1177/1049731513505778
- Proctor, E., Landsverk, J., Aarons, G., Chambers, D., Glisson, C., & Mittman, B. (2009). Implementation research in mental health services: An emerging science with conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 36, 24-34. doi:10.1007/s10488-008-0197-4
- Risley, J. (2011). Using data to make decisions. In K. Agard (Ed.), *Leadership in nonprofit* organizations: A reference handbook. (pp. 683-688). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Roberts-DeGennaro, M. (2010). Planned change efforts in organizations and communities: Evidence-informed practice. In M. Roberts-DeGennaro & S. J. Fogel (Eds.), *Using evidence to inform practice for community and organizational change* (pp. 5-14). Chicago: Lyceum.
- Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York: Free Press.
- Roman, J., Walsh, K., Bieler, S., & Taxy, S. (2014). *An overview of pay for success: Funding the infrastructure for evidence-based change*. Retrieved from the Urban Institute website http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/413151-An-Overview-of-Pay-for-Success.pdf
- Rosen, A. (2003). Evidence-based social work practice: Challenges and promise. *Social Work Research*, 27, 197-208. doi:10.1093/swr/27.4.197
- Rosenheck, R. A. (2001). Organizational process: A missing link between research and practice. *Psychiatric Services*, *52*, 1607-1612. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.12.1607
- Ryan, W. P., & Taylor, B. E. (2012). An experiment in scaling impact: Assessing the growth capital aggregation pilot (Report prepared for The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation).
 Retrieved from The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation website http://www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/GCAPReport_Final.pdf
- Salamon, L. M., & Geller, S. L. (2007). Nonprofit fiscal trends and challenges (No. 6). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Civil Society Studies, Institute for Policy Studies. Retrieved from http://ccss.jhu.edu/wpcontent/uploads/downloads/2011/09/LP_Communique6_2007.pdf
- Schoenwald, S. K., & Hoagwood, K. (2001). Effectiveness, transportability, and dissemination of interventions: What matters when? *Psychiatric Services*, 52, 1190-1197. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.9.1190
- Shea, J. (2011). Taking nonprofit intermediaries seriously: A middle-range theory for implementation research. *Public Administration Review*, 71, 57-66. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6210.2010.02306.x

- Sobeck, J. L. (2008). How cost-effective is capacity building in grassroots organizations? *Administration in Social Work, 32,* 49-68. doi:10.1300/J147v32n02_04
- Sobeck, J., & Agius, E. (2007). Organizational capacity building: Addressing a research and practice gap. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 30, 237-246. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2007.04.003
- Sontag-Padilla, L. M., Staplefoote, L., & Gonzalez Morganti, K. (2012). *Financial sustainability for nonprofit organizations: A review of the literature.* (Rand Corporation Research Report sponsored by the YMCA of Greater Pittsburgh). Retrieved from the Rand Corporation website http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR100/RR121/RAND_RR 121.pdf
- Sowa, J. E., Selden, S. C., & Sandfort, J. R. (2004). No longer unmeasurable? A multidimensional integrated model of nonprofit organizational effectiveness. *Nonprofit* and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 33, 711-728. doi:10.1177/0899764004269146
- Soydan, H., & Palinkas, L. A. (2014). Evidence-based practice in social work: Development of a new professional culture. New York: Routledge.
- Stern, K. (2013). *With charity for all: Why charities are failing and a better way to give.* New York: Random House.
- TCC Group (2009). *The sustainability formula: How nonprofit organizations can thrive in the emerging economy*. Retrieved from http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/SustainabilityFormula.pdf
- TCC Group. (2010). Fortifying L.A.'s nonprofit organizations: Capacity-building needs and services in Los Angeles County (A study commissioned by the Weingart Foundation). Retrieved from the Weingart Foundation website http://www.weingartfnd.org/files/Capacity-Report-Final.pdf
- Thyer, B. A. (2006). What is evidence-based practice? In A. R. Roberts & K. R. Yeager (Eds.), *Foundations of evidence-based social work practice*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Thyer, B., Vaughn, M. G., & Howard, M. O. (2009). The way forward: Translating research findings into practice settings. In M. G. Vaughn, M. O. Howard, & B. A. Thyer (Eds.), *Evidence-based social work practice: Syntheses of the intervention knowledge base* (321-328). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (2002). *Building NGO/CBO capacity: The user's guide*. Retrieved from the Polytechnic of Namibia website http://www.polytechnic.edu.na/academics/schools/engine_infotech/civil/libraries/urban_p lanning/NGO_CBO%29Capacity_aUSERguide.pdf

- van der Stouwe, T., Asscher, J. J., Stams, G. J. J., Deković, M., & van der Laan, P. H. (2014). The effectiveness of Multisystemic Therapy (MST): A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *34*, 468-481. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2014.06.006
- Van Bruggen, G. H., Lilien, G. L., & Kacker, M. (2002). Informants in organizational marketing research: Why use multiple informants and how to aggregate responses. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 39, 469-478. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1558558
- Weber, E. P., & Khademian, A. M. (2008). Wicked problems, knowledge challenges, and collaborative capacity builders in network settings. *Public Administration Review*, 68, 334-349. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6210.2007.00866.x
- Weerawardena, J., McDonald, R. E., & Mort, G. S. (2010). Sustainability of nonprofit organizations: An empirical investigation. *Journal of World Business*, 45, 346-356. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2009.08.004
- Whitaker, T., Weismiller, T., & Clark, E. (2006). Assuring the sufficiency of a frontline workforce: A national study of licensed social workers. Executive summary. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers. Retrieved from http://workforce.socialworkers.org/studies/nasw_06_execsummary.pdf
- W. K. Kellogg Foundation. (2004). Logic model development guide. Retrieved from http://www.wkkf.org/resource-directory/resource/2006/02/wk-kellogg-foundation-logicmodel-development-guide
- Yung, B., Leahy, P., Deason, L. M., Fischer, R. L., Perkins, F., Clasen, C., & Sharma, M. (2008). Capacity-building needs of minority health nonprofits. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 31, 382-391. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2008.08.001
- Zietlow, J. (2010). Nonprofit financial objectives and financial responses to a tough economy. *Journal of Corporate Treasury Management*, *3*, 238-248. http://henrystewart.metapress.com/link.asp?id=717321tt51533124

CHAPTER 3: ASSESSING PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF AN NPHSO CAPACITY AND PERFORMANCE SURVEY

Nonprofit human service organizations (NPHSOs) are a significant and growing part of the social safety net in the US (Garrow, 2011), providing a range of critical services such as child care, emergency housing, and child abuse prevention (Boris, de Leon, Roeger, & Nikolova, 2010). NPHSOs are under increasing pressure to demonstrate their impact in communities (Benjamin, 2013; Campbell, 2002; Ebrahim & Rangan, 2010; Stern, 2013) yet have a host of capacity deficits in areas such as staff supervision and strategic planning (Abt Associates, 2009; Minzner et al., 2014; TCC Group, 2010).

Capacity deficits impede opportunities for NPHSOs to increase their community impact in two key ways. First, program implementation effectiveness is affected by factors such as training, supervision, leadership, and resources (Aarons, Sommerfield, & Walrath-Greene, 2009; Austin & Claassen, 2008b; Bond, Drake, McHugo, Rapp, & Whitley, 2009; Fixsen, Naoom, Blase, Friedman, & Wallace, 2005; Plath, 2013). Second, NPHSOs struggle with the ability to evaluate programs (Carman, 2007; Carman & Frederick, 2008; Hoefer, 2000; Innovation Network, 2012; Leake et al., 2007; Pejsa, 2011; Sobeck, 2008; TCC Group, 2010), which acts as a barrier to improving client outcomes through evidence-based practice (Austin & Claassen, 2008a; Franklin & Hopson, 2007; Johnson & Austin, 2006; Kovner, 2014; Maynard, 2010).

Capacity-building is a strategy to help NPHSOs and other nonprofits improve their performance in areas such as human resources, program development, and governance (De Vita

& Fleming, 2001; Light, 2004; Raynor, Cardona, Knowlton, Mittenthal, & Simpson, 2014). In organizational research, standardized measures exist for leadership (Avolio, Bass, & Jung, 1999; Posner & Kouzes, 1993), organizational climate and culture (Aarons & Sommerfeld, 2012; Anderson & West, 1998; Cooke & Rousseau, 1988; Glisson et al., 2008), readiness for change (Lehman, Greener, & Simpson, 2002), and attitudes toward EBP (Aarons, 2004). However, there are no standardized measures for NPHSO capacity to help determine the effectiveness of capacity-building interventions (Wing, 2004).

The purpose of this paper is to validate a model for measuring capacity in NPHSOs by conducting confirmatory factor analyses using data from a NPHSO capacity survey. A validated capacity measure can be used in three key ways. First, it can be used by NPHSO practitioners to assess areas where performance could be strengthened. Second, a validated measure could be used to assess the effectiveness of capacity-building interventions with NPHSOs, particularly to identify which areas of performance gains (e.g., strategic planning, governance, human resources) are most associated with improved client outcomes. Third, a validated measure can be used to assess how factors like staff performance evaluation and administrative supports affect the implementation of evidence-based practices and programs in NPHSOs (Fixsen, Blase, Naoom, & Wallace, 2009).

What is Organizational Capacity?

Organizational capacity refers to the competencies, systems, and resources a nonprofit organization needs to fulfill its charitable mission (Connolly & York, 2003; Eisinger, 2002; Glickman & Servon, 2003; Light, 2004; McKinsey and Company, 2001; Millesen, Carman, & Bies, 2010; United Nations Centre for Human Settlements, 2002). Capacity is multi-dimensional; it comprises the major structures and functions of nonprofit organizations including mission,

vision, and values, governance, strategic planning, program development, evaluation, management systems, human resources, fundraising, fiscal management, public relations, and partnerships (Mary Reynolds Babcock Foundation, 2010). These structures and functions appear in numerous textbooks on nonprofit management and leadership (e.g., Agard, 2010; Renz & Herman, 2011).

Structures and functions that comprise capacity vary in their relative importance to different types of nonprofit organizations. For example, Hasenfeld (2010) highlights the central purpose of NPHSOs to provide services aimed at facilitating changes in people. The work of NPHSOs is service-intensive and highly interpersonal. Thus, human resources, supervision, and organizational culture are particularly important aspects of capacity. Conversely, Glickman and Servon (2003) emphasize the importance of developing relationships with formal and informal networks, residents, and the political and corporate power structure of a community as central to the work of nonprofit community development corporations.

For NPHSOs, organizational capacity relates well to factors identified in implementation science as enabling conditions for effective program implementation. Fixsen et al. (2005, 2009) identified the following core components of implementation: staff selection, training, ongoing coaching and consultation, staff performance reviews, data systems, facilitative administration, and external systems support to ensure sufficient resources. Authors of other studies found that capacity-related factors affect implementation quality, such as leadership (Aarons, 2006; Aarons & Palinkas, 2007; Aarons & Sommerfeld, 2012; Bond et al., 2009; Carstens, Panzano, Massatti, Roth, & Sweeney, 2009; Hayes, 2005; McKay et al., 2004), and resources (Bond et al., 2009; Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Fixsen et al., 2005; Franklin & Hopson, 2007; Mullen et al., 2008; Schoenwald & Hoagwood, 2001). Thus, capacity matters greatly in relation to the opportunity

for NPHSOs to select, adapt, implement, and sustain evidence-based practices and programs as a strategy to improve client outcomes.

Theoretical Assumptions of Organizational Capacity

Organizational capacity of nonprofit organizations is comprised of multiple domains. McKinsey and Company (2001) defined capacity as comprised of seven domains: aspirations, strategy, organizational skills, human resources, systems and infrastructure, organizational structure, and culture. The Marguerite Casey Foundation (2012) modified and re-organized the McKinsey and company (2001) conceptual model, identifying four capacity domains: leadership, adaptive, management, and operational. The TCC Group (2010) defined the same domains, substituting technical for operational capacity. Definitions of these domains are:

- 1. <u>Leadership capacity</u>: ability of organizational leaders to inspire, prioritize, make decisions, provide direction, and innovate;
- <u>Adaptive capacity</u>: ability of a nonprofit organization to monitor, assess, and respond to internal and external changes;
- 3. <u>Management capacity</u>: the ability of a nonprofit organization to ensure the effective and efficient use of organizational resources; and
- <u>Operational/technical capacity</u>: the ability of a nonprofit organization to implement key organizational and programmatic functions (Marguerite Casey Foundation, 2012).

From the above definitions, three characteristics are noteworthy. First, the unit of analysis for three of four domains is the entire organization, yet it is the aggregated actions of multiple individuals that comprise what is observed at the organizational level. Second, leadership capacity refers to the actions of more than one person, which implies persons in addition to the

chief executive officer (CEO) of a nonprofit organization can exert influence. Third, leadership and adaptive capacity reflect strategy – determining goals and ways to achieve them – whereas management and operational/technical capacity reflect execution – implementing steps to achieve goals. Similarly, Millesen et al. (2010) characterized nonprofits' efforts to strengthen adaptive and leadership capacities as proactive skills to promote organizational effectiveness and technical and management capacities as reactionary competencies to comply with the demands and requirements of funders and other stakeholders. The TCC Group (2010) regarded adaptive and leadership capacities as higher order and more important competencies nonprofits should develop to better meet community needs. Liebler and Ferri (2004) draw a distinction between standard and generative capacities. The former refers to the basic functions of organizations, while the latter refers to higher order functions regarding nonprofits' effectiveness in meeting community needs.

Organizational theory helps explain organizational capacity. Adaptive capacity -"creating internal organizational processes and procedures to maximize goals and opportunities" - relates to strategic management theory (Millesen, Carman, & Bies, 2010, p. 7), which posits that organizations make purposive decisions to strengthen their responses to changing environments (Barney & Hesterly, 2012; Hill & Jones, 2008; Oster, 1995). Millesen et al. (2010) relate leadership capacity - in its emphasis on the role of executive managers and board members in securing resources – to resource dependence theory, which views organizations as striving for growth and sustainability (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Froelich, 1999; Hillman, Withers, & Collins, 2009). The authors relate technical and management capacities - core functions of nonprofits, such as financial management - to agency and institutional theories. According to agency theory (Eisenhardt, 1989), technical and management capacities are

developed by nonprofits, which play the role of principals accountable to public and private funders as agents. According to institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powell, 1991), the technical and management capacities of nonprofits in similar fields (e.g., mental health) are very similar and are conditioned by institutional norms and expectations.

Capacity can be examined relative to organizational life stages: organic, enterprising, intentional, robust, and reflective. At earlier stages, organizations focus on developing solutions to community problems. At later stages, operating systems are developed to sustain effective programs and the organization tries to expand its impact (Light, 2004). How important various capacities are at any given time depends on the organization's life stage. For example, the TCC Group (2010) suggested that the relative importance of the four capacity areas described above (adaptive, leadership, management, and technical) depend on the following stages of development:

- stage 1 core program development, the NPO is managing and supporting its core programs well;
- stage 2 infrastructure development, the NPO adapts its operations to take programs to scale by serving more people effectively;
- stage 3 impact expansion, the NPO engages in community building and/or system reform to extend its impact beyond what it can accomplish by itself;
- stage 4 stagnation, the NPO is unable to adapt to internal and external factors that influence its effectiveness; and
- stage 5 dissolution or merging, the NPO is nearing either dissolution or the need to merge with another, more effective and healthier NPO.

Each capacity area – leadership, adaptive, management, and technical – should be at a level appropriate to the NPO's life stage. For example, adaptive and leadership capacity is critical beginning in stage 1 to facilitate program development, while management and technical capacities are important in stage 2 to support infrastructure development.

Organizational capacity is defined as what needs to be in place for NPHSOs to be effective. Capacity is a multi-dimensional construct comprised of both higher and lower order functions of organizations which reflect key principles and assumptions of organizational theories. Higher order functions such as adapting strategy to changing internal and external conditions may be more difficult for NPHSOs to develop, whereas best practice guidelines are readily available to develop lower order functions such as staff performance review guidelines and successful fundraising tactics. These domains should be understood from a life-stage perspective; different domains figure more prominently depending on the NPHSOs' particular point in its growth trajectory.

How Organizational Capacity is Measured

Capacity assessment tools are comprised of multiple domains, each with a set of indicators that reflect structures and functions of NPHSOs, such as strategic planning and human resources. McKinsey and Company (2001) identified 58 functional indicators of seven capacity domains (i.e., aspirations, strategy, organizational skills, human resources, systems and infrastructure, organizational structure, and culture). Each indicator has an ordinal response scale: clear need for increased capacity, and basic, moderate, and high levels of capacity already in place. For example, program relevance and integration is an indicator of strategy and is defined at a high level as "all programs and services are well defined and fully aligned with mission and goals" (p. 86).
The Marguerite Casey Foundation (2012) modified and re-organized the McKinsey tool, using four capacity domains (i.e., leadership, adaptive, management, and operational) – originally identified and described by Connolly and York (2003) - and 59 distinct indicators. Each indicator is assessed at one of four levels. For example, senior management team is an indicator in the management domain, the highest level at which is defined as "extensive and varied experience in nonprofit and for-profit management; team drawn from extraordinarily diverse backgrounds and experiences, and bring a broad range of outstanding capabilities; outstanding track record of learning and personal development; contagiously energetic and committed."

The TCC Group's (2010) Core Capacity Assessment Tool (CCAT), developed from initial work of Connolly and Klein (2003), uses a structure similar to the McKinsey and Company (2001) and Marguerite Casey Foundation (2012) tools. The CCAT is a 146-item survey that assesses leadership, adaptive, management, and technical capacities and organizational culture. Each capacity domain has a set of sub-capacities, such as organizational learning and program resource adaptability under adaptive capacity. Scores on a 300-point scale are generated from the CCAT for each capacity and sub-capacity to indicate strong, satisfactory, and challenging levels of performance.

The instruments described above share three common and important features. First, capacity is measured by multiple domains; there is no single, unifying measure of capacity. As noted in the previous section of this paper, each domain has a different meaning with respect to organizational performance. Second, each domain is comprised of multiple indicators, which suggests NPHSOs must have many, not just a few, structures and functions in place to have capacity. Multiple indicators reflect the complex and dynamic nature of organizations. Third,

capacity domain indicators are measured using ordinal response scales, which reflects capacity as a developmental process and a life stages perspective (Light, 2004; TCC Group, 2010).

Though the measurement tools described above are used in nonprofit capacity-building practice, no capacity measures have been validated. For example, Minzner et al. (2014) acknowledged the lack of a standardized measure as a limitation of a randomized controlled trial of NPO capacity-building. The purpose of this study was to validate a measure of NPHSO capacity. Establishing a validated capacity measure can help NPHSOs more accurately assess their performance at different points in time and provides researchers an opportunity to more formally assess organizational factors that explain variation in program implementation effectiveness.

Methods

Sample

Data used for this study came from a baseline survey administered in 2006 to a sample of 1,221 NPOs that participated in the Compassion Capital Fund (CCF) Demonstration program sponsored by the federal Administration for Children and Families (ACF). The aim of the CCF Demonstration was to strengthen the capacities of faith- and community-based NPHSOs that provided social services to lower-income individuals and families by offering technical assistance, group training, and financial assistance from intermediary organizations (e.g., universities, foundations, United Ways) (Abt Associates, 2009; Minzner et al., 2014).

Measures

Measures for this study were from the baseline survey of the CCF Demonstration program outcome study (Abt Associates, 2009). The survey was constructed based on a review of literature as well as feedback from organizational capacity experts and from NPO

representatives who pre-tested survey items (Minzner et al., 2010). The survey included 215 items, 54 of which were related to NPO capacity in the following five capacity domains: organizational, program, revenue, and leadership development, and community engagement. The survey included two types of capacity measures: 1) concrete indicators of capacity; and 2) level of focus (LOF) indicators. Concrete indicators included items such as "does your organization have a strategic plan?" and "in the past 12 months, has your organization conducted or participated in an assessment of organizational strengths/needs?" Concrete indicators had binary (i.e., yes/no) response options.

LOF indicators were items that measured the degree to which the NPHSO had made progress in achieving a capacity, such as "expanding services to include a new group of service recipients or geographic area," with the following ordinal response options:

5 =not a focus area because we are satisfied with our achievement in this area;

4 = have implemented steps to address focus area;

3 = have developed plans or ideas to work on this, but haven't implemented them yet;

2 = know we should work on this but we lack the time or resources; and

1 =not an area of focus at this time.

Items were excluded from the analysis if they were not indicators of capacity (e.g., competencies, systems, and resources NPHSOs need to achieve their missions) (e.g., Connolly & York, 2003; Eisinger, 2002; Light, 2004; Millesen, Carman, & Bies, 2010) and/or items that were not indicators of capacity domains (Marguerite Casey Foundation, 2012; TCC Group, 2010). Items concerning the organization's primary programmatic areas, reasons for pursuing capacity-building assistance, how the organization learned about CCF services offered through intermediaries, and training and technical assistance activities were excluded. Also, items were

excluded if they could be considered proxies for the size and tenure of the organization, such as the number of paid full-time staff or the number of foundation grants applied for and approved. These items reflect organizational characteristics, interests, and experiences, but not capacity.

Analysis

Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) is a technique to assess how well a hypothesized latent factor structure fits observed data by assessing factor loadings, variance, and covariance (Bowen & Guo, 2012; Schreiber, Nora, Stage, Barlow, & King, 2006). In this study, CFA was used instead of exploratory factor analysis (EFA) as an initial procedure. A latent factor structure for nonprofit capacity has been specified and used as a basis for reporting outcomes of CCF studies (Minzner et al., 2010; 2014) and nonprofit capacity domains are well identified in the literature (e.g., Connolly & York, 2003; Glickman & Servon, 2003; Millesen, Carman, & Bies, 2010). Therefore, CFA as a theory-driven technique (Schreiber et al., 2006) was chosen because latent variables representing types of NPHSO capacity are well hypothesized.

In this study, CFA was used to test the fit of three hypothesized factor structures in comprising a measurement model of NPO capacity:

 <u>Model 1: CCF demonstration impact study capacity domains</u>. Authors of a report (Minzner et al., 2010) and one peer-reviewed publication (Minzner et al., 2014) concerning results of the CCF demonstration impact study proposed five capacity domains: organizational, program, revenue, and leadership development, and community engagement. Thus, Model 1 is a five-factor model corresponding to these domains.

Individual survey items were hypothesized to load on these five factors according to how pre-to-posttest changes were reported as outcome measures for the CCF impact study. For example, the outcome for the survey item "Does your organization conduct formal

measurement/assessment of the results and benefits of the services provided to individuals or families?" is reported by Minzner et al. (2010; 2014) in the program development capacity domain.

- 2. Model 2: Marguerite Casey Foundation organizational capacity assessment tool. The Marguerite Casey Foundation (MCF) (2012) publishes for public use an organizational capacity assessment tool comprised of four capacity domains: leadership, adaptive, management, and operational. Each of the 54 items from the CCF survey selected for analysis was mapped onto the MCF tool. For example, items related to program evaluation and development were labeled as adaptive capacity and items related to record keeping, financial management, and use of technology were labeled as operational capacity. Thus, the MCF model is a four-factor model of NPHSO capacity comprised of leadership, adaptive, management, and operational capacity as latent variables. The MCF domains were originally identified and described by Connolly and York (2003) and represent a re-organization of a model of NPHSO capacity developed by McKinsey and Company (2001). It represents a widely disseminated framework to conceptualize and assess NPHSO capacity.
- 3. <u>Model 3: CCF demonstration capacity domains level of focus (LOF) only</u>. Like Model 1, Model 3 incorporates domains from the CCF studies, yet includes only the level of focus (LOF) survey items. LOF items from the CCF instrument are distinct because they represent capacity-building progress. LOF items, thus, may represent a better way to measure capacity in the context of NPHSO's efforts to build capacity, i.e., as self-assessed, incremental progress in contrast to a static assessment of whether a particular function (e.g., a designated person for financial management) exists in the NPHSO. LOF

items are conceptually well aligned with the life stages perspective of NPHSO capacity (Bess, 1998; Hasenfeld & Schmid, 1989; Light, 2004; Simon, 2001; Stevens, 2002), which views capacity as a developmental process.

Because factor analysis results should be cross-validated to assess factor stability (Bowen & Guo, 2012; deVet, Adèr, Terwee, & Pouwer, 2005), two random samples without replacement were taken from the CCFO sample: a calibration sample (N = 611) to test the fit of the three models described above; and a sample (N = 610) to validate the selected measurement model. There were no statistically significant differences between the calibration and validation samples for NPHSO size, tenure, type, and paid executive director, which were the four covariates used in prior CCF studies (Minzner et al., 2010; 2014).

For each model, specification steps recommended by Bowen and Guo (2012) were followed. Observed indicators (survey items) with measurement error were specified as loading onto latent variables. To set scales, the path of each latent variable to the first observed indicator was fixed to one. In Table 1 below, latent variables, observed indicators, subject-to-variable (STV) ratios, and degrees of freedom are specified for each model. STV ratios are sufficient for CFA relative to sample size (de Vet et al., 2005) and all three models are well over-identified (Hoyle, 1995; Kline, 2011).

Model	Latent Variables	Observed Indicators	STV Ratio	df
1: CCF	Organizational development	27	11:1	1367
	Program development	13		
	Resource development	7		
	Leadership development	4		
	Community engagement	3		
2: MCF	Operational capacity	18	11:1	1371
	Leadership capacity	15		
	Adaptive capacity	12		

	Management capacity	9		
3: CCF LOF	Program development	6	32:1	146
	Management capacity	5		
	Board development	4		
	Resource development	4		

Models 1-3 were estimated using mean- and variance-adjusted weighted least squares (WLSMV) in Mplus version 7.3 (Muthén & Muthén, 1998-2012). WLSMV produces a polychoric correlation matrix, which is recommended for use with nominal and ordinal data (Brown, 2006; Flora and Curran 2004; Garrido, Abad, Ponsoda, 2013; Holgado–Tello, Chacón– Moscoso, Barbero–García, & Vila–Abad, 2008; Muthén, du Toit, and Spisic 1997; Norris & Lecavalier, 2010). Root-mean square error-of-approximation (RMSEA), comparative fix index (CFI), and Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) were used as fit indices, which are recommended for use with the WLSMV estimator (Bowen & Guo, 2012; Schreiber et al., 2006). RMSEA is an absolute fix index, which reflects the extent to which sample data are reproduced by the specified model, while CFI and TLI are incremental fit indices, which compare fit improvement of the specified model compared to a nested baseline model (Hu & Bentler, 1998).

To make judgments concerning quality of fit of Models 1-3, the following recommended cutoff values were used: RMSEA < .06 (90% upper bound confidence interval < .08); CFI > .95; and TLI > .95 (Bowen & Guo, 2012; Hu & Bentler, 1999; Schreiber et al., 2006; West, Taylor, & Wu, 2012), though RMSEA < .08, CFI > .90, and TLI > .90 are also considered acceptable cutoffs (Hoe, 2008). The Chi Square goodness-of-fit indicator was excluded because it is typically statistically significant with larger samples (N \geq 400) (Dimitrov, 2010; Hoe, 2008; Hoyle, 1995; Kenny, 2014).

To improve model fit, two strategies were used. First, modification indices were reviewed to identify sources for improving fit by correlating the measurement errors of within-factor observed indicators. This is an acceptable fit improvement step if conceptually substantiated, such as when observed indicators share the same question stems or constructs (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988; Bowen & Guo, 2012; Schreiber et al., 2006) and correspond to the same latent variable (Hooper, Coughlan, & Mullen, 2008). For example, in Model 1, the measurement errors of the following two survey items were correlated to improve fit: "organization keeps records on the number of individuals or families enrolled in/served through programs" and "organizational record keeping has a common source of measurement error. Second, observed indicators were dropped if they met two or more of the following criteria: low factor loading (< .32), cross-loading (i.e., indicators that load on more than one latent variable according to modification indices), low R square (< .20), and/or source of multiple high residual correlations (Bowen & Guo, 2012).

For the model with the best fit, a final analytical step was to assess group invariance by tenure using the DIFFTEST command in Mplus 7.3 with Satorra Bentler scaled Chi Square. This step was taken to assess whether the best fitting model showed consistent fit for both younger (i.e., less than six years in operation) and older (i.e., six or more years in operation) NPHSOs. A model with unconstrained factor loadings was compared to a nested model with factors loadings constrained to be equal by tenure. A statistically significant result of the DIFFTEST would suggest retaining the unconstrained model, which means there was systematic variance by tenure. In contrast, a non-significant DIFFTEST result would indicate the model was invariant by tenure (Kline, 2011).

Missing Values

Though there is no consensus in the literature about an acceptable level of missing data for CFA, up to 20% is considered acceptable (Peng, Harwell, Liou, & Ehman, 2007). Mean covariance coverage across 77 analysis variables was 88% and the average rate of missing values was 3.8%. All but three items had a missing value rate of less than 20%. These three items – annual performance reviews for paid staff, written job descriptions for paid staff, and obtained funding from a new source in the last 12 months – had a missing values rate of 31%, 30%, and 29%. To examine missing data patterns, dummy variables were created for missing values on these three items and regressed on covariates. Having no paid staff was a significant predictor (p< .001) of all three items. Similarly, missing data for several other items with non-negligible, but less than 20%, missing values were also predicted by other observed variables. Also, all "don't know", "refused", and "not applicable" responses were coded as missing values in the CCF Outcome study (Campbell, n.d.). Thus, it is highly likely most missing values represented "not applicable" responses as predicted by other variables, suggesting data were missing at random (MAR) (Graham, 2009).

Missing data were handled using full information maximum likelihood (FIML) in Mplus version 7.3 (Muthén & Muthén, 2012) so all available information was used. FIML as a means of handling missing data in structural equation modeling has been found to produce unbiased and efficient estimates (Asparouhov & Muthen, 2010; Enders & Bandalos, 2001).

Results

Sample Characteristics

Table 3.2 displays characteristics of the study sample. Reflecting the purpose of the CCF demonstration to reach smaller NPHSOs, most NPHSOs (58%) had annual revenues of under

\$100,000, compared to 40% of all public charities in the U.S. that had total expenses under \$100,000 in 2011 (Pettijohn, 2013)⁵. The type of NPHSO was roughly evenly divided between faith- and community-based. The majority of NPOs (i.e., 63%) had been providing services for 10 years or less. The most common primary programmatic areas were services for at-risk children and youth (70%) and education (51%). Less than a quarter of NPHSOs focused on other areas, including services to immigrants, economic and community development, hunger, health services, and substance abuse. The median number of persons served by NPHSOs in the most recent month was 90.

Table 3.2. Study Sample Description.

Covariate*	% or Mean (SD)
Tenure – years of providing services ($N = 1,175$)	
Younger (less than six years)	43%
Older (six or more years)	57%
Type $(N = 1, 205)$	
Faith-based organization	52%
Community-based organization	48%
$Size^{\pm} (N = 773)$	
Smaller (less than \$100,000 in revenue)	58%
Larger (\$100,000 or more in revenue)	42%
Paid Executive Director ^{\pm} (N = 827)	
Yes	62%
No	38%
Communities served ($N = 1,214$)	
Urban only	55%
Large town only	12%
Rural area only	11%
Suburban only	4%
Two or more types	18%

* Covariates defined by prior CCF research (Minzner et al., 2010, 2014); $^{\pm}$ Retrospective observations at follow-up. Lower N due to attrition.

Most NPHSOs had a paid executive director, yet the average number of paid full-time (M

= 3.5, SD = 16.6) and part-time (M = 2.2, SD = 4.5) staff was very low. NPHSOs applied for

⁵Though revenues and expenses are different financial indicators, they are roughly comparable because NPOs tend to expend very close to what they raise rather than retain large amounts of revenue due to demand for services.

capacity-building assistance through the CCF for several reasons, the most common of which were to strengthen long-term sustainability of the organization (75%), increase or diversify funding and resources (66%), and expand or strengthen community partnerships or networking (61%).

Model Fit

As seen in Table 3.3, initial model fit based on recommended cut-off values (Hu & Bentler, 1999) was good based on RMSEA, but not for CFI and TLI. However, following steps to improve model fit described above (i.e., correlated measurement errors, dropping poor Table 3.3. Initial Model Fit Results.

					RMSEA		
Model	Ν	Items	χ^2	df	(90% C.I.)	CFI	TLI
1 - CCF	611	54	3569	1367	.051 (.049, .053)	.779	.768
2 - MCF	611	54	3311	1371	.048 (.046, .050)	.805	.797
3 – CCF LOF	611	19	522	146	.065 (.059, .071)	.895	.877
A. A			1.01	0.0.1			

Note: All χ^2 estimates are statistically significant at p < .001.

performing items) improved fit across all three models, as seen in Table 3.4. Though fit improved for all three models, Models 1 (CCF) and 2 (MCF) still failed to achieve recommended fit thresholds across all fit indices. However, Model 3 (Level of Focus items only) achieved very good fit for all three fit indices. This finding was corroborated by running the model with a separate validation sample, which resulted in even better fit. No observed indicators were

Table 3.4 Re-specified Model Fit Results.

					RMSEA		
Model	Ν	Items	χ^2	df	(90% C.I.)	CFI	TLI
1 – CCF	611	45	2215	930	.048 (.045, .050)	.870	.861
2 - MCF	611	46	2300	973	.047 (.045, .050)	.866	.857
3 – CCF LOF	611	19	288	140	.042 (.035, .048)	.959	.950
4 - CCF LOF(V)	610	19	198	140	.026 (.017, .034)	.982	.978

Notes: Note: All χ^2 estimates are statistically significant at p < .001. Model 4 is a validation sample for Model 3.

dropped from the model. All 19 observed indicators had statistically significant loadings on the four latent variables (i.e., resource, board, and program development, and management capacity)

as seen in Appendix 3.1. The final model included six sets of correlated measurement errors, three sets each within the board and program development latent variables. All of these correlated errors were for items that had a common or conceptually similar question stem. A full list of the 19 CCF LOF survey items can be found in Appendix 3.2.

Single Factor and Second Order Alternatives for Model 3

With Model 3 (LOF items only) selected as the final model, two alternative model specifications were assessed to determine whether fit improved. First, a single factor model was specified, in which the 19 observed indicators were hypothesized as loading onto a single organizational capacity latent variable. Fit worsened with a single factor model ($\chi^2 = 437$, df = 146, p < .001; RMSEA = .057, [90% CI] = .051, .063; CFI = .919; TLI = .905). Next, a second order model was specified, which specified that the four latent variables from Model 3 (resource, board, and program development, and management capacity) loaded onto a higher order latent variable, organizational capacity. Fit improved with a second order model ($\chi^2 = 290$, df = 142, p < .001; RMSEA = .041, [90% CI] = .034, .048; CFI = .959; TLI = .950). However, results of the DIFF TEST in Mplus indicated that fit improvement was not statistically significant ($\Delta \chi^2 = 3.92$, $\Delta df = 2$, p = .14). Consequently, Model 3 was retained as a more parsimonious model.

Group Invariance Test for Model 3

The final analytical step was to conduct a test to determine whether Model 3 was an invariant measurement model of capacity-building based on tenure, i.e., whether Model 3 is applicable to both younger (in operation for less than six years) and older (in operation for six or more years) NPHSOs⁶. The selection of tenure as an organizational characteristic by which group invariance was tested was informed by the life stages perspective of nonprofit organizations (Light, 2004; TCC Group, 2010), which views capacity and performance as a

⁶Criteria for identifying younger and older NPHSOs are defined by prior CCF research (Minzner, et al., 2010, 2014).

developmental process. The question a group invariance test answered was whether Model 3 is a valid way to measure capacity irrespective of an NPHSO's life stage.

The group invariance test using the DIFF TEST procedure in Mplus by tenure was nonsignificant ($\Delta \chi^2 = 11.16$, $\Delta df = 14$, p = .67), indicating Model 3 as a four-factor model of capacity-building had equally good fit for younger and older NPHSOs. Consequently, Model 3 can be used as a scale for NPHSOs irrespective of tenure.

Poor Performing Items in Models 1 & 2

Table 3.5 lists observed indicators that were dropped from Models 1 and 2 because they

failed to sufficiently load on a latent factor (≥ .32) and/or had low R square values, and/or cross-

loaded on more than one latent factor. The nine poor performing items from the CCF survey

-			
	ப 1	nn	

- 1. NPO engages in partnerships with other organizations
- 2. NPO has a fundraising plan
- 3. Primary activity of the board is outreach
- 4. Primary activity of the board is reviewing executive director performance
- 5. NPO has access to the internet
- 6. The number of functioning computers is sufficient
- 7. The internet is used in support of organizational activities
- 8. The internet is used to support the organization's website
- 9. LOF: organization incorporates new approaches to providing services

Note: Items 1-8 were dropped from both models. Item 9 was dropped from Model 1 only.

reflected multiple capacity domains, including four of five CCF survey items concerning

technology, which were in the CCF organizational development and MCF operational capacity

domains.

Discussion

The goal of this study is to validate a model for measuring NPHSO capacity using

baseline survey data from a large federal NPHSO capacity-building demonstration project.

Competing conceptual models of NPHSO capacity were tested, yet neither Model 1 nor 2 fits the

data well. However, a third model – limited to measuring capacity-building progress – fits the data well for both younger and older NPHSOs. Model 3 is a 19-item scale with four subscales (resource, board, and program development, and management capacity) NPHSO leaders can use to assess organizational structures and functions to improve. Researchers can use this scale to assess NPHSO capacity-building interventions.

The conceptual distinction between the first two models and the third is subtle, but important. Models 1 and 2 purport to measure whether NPHSOs have certain types of structures and functions in place, such as having a designated staff member responsible for financial management and keeping records on client needs, services provided, and referrals. Model 3 purports to measure an NPHSO's self-assessed progress in strengthening these functions, such as steps toward developing a fundraising plan or increasing the scope of services provided. Because Model 3 fits the data well, the implication is it is possible to accurately measure efforts to increase capacity, yet difficult to accurately measure organizational performance as attempted with Models 1 and 2.

NPHSO administrators and managers could use the 19-item scale validated by Model 3 to identify areas on which to focus capacity-building efforts and to track progress in resource, board, and program development and management capacity. Conceptually, Model 3 is well aligned with a life stages perspective of organizational development (Hasenfeld & Schmid, 1989; Light, 2004; Simon, 2001; Stevens, 2002). For example, Bess (1998) conducted a study of early life stage NPOs, using a Likert scale measure self-assessed progress in achieving capacitybuilding initiatives. Model 3 could be particularly useful for NPHSOs in earlier life stages, in which the organization is developing programs and building the infrastructure (e.g., fundraising, supervision) to support program implementation.

Though Model 3 fits the data well, it is important to consider why Models 1 and 2 do not. The overall reason is that the hypothesized relationships between indicators and latent variables in Models 1 and 2 are poorly specified. This means these two models of NPHSO capacity are not well conceptualized. There may be other, unnamed capacity domains that more accurately reflect sets of organizational functions. Another possibility is fit indices used to assess structural models are sensitive to misspecification, but not to different types of models (Fan & Sivo, 2007). For example, Breivek and Olsson (2001) and Kenny and McCoach (2003) (as cited in Fan & Sivo, 2007) found as the number of observed indicators are increased in a model, RMSEA declined, yet CFI and TLI were less affected by the number of indicators, but tended to indicate worse model fit. This mirrors findings in the present study, where RMSEA, but not CFI and TLI results indicate good fit for Models 1 and 2, which have a large number of indicators (N = 54) compared to Model 3 (N = 19).

An additional reason why Models 1 and 2 do not fit the data well may be that measuring complex organizational behaviors is elusive and difficult to accurately capture. For example, an observed indicator which corresponds to program development in Model 1 (CCF) and adaptive capacity in Model 2 (MCF) is "does your organization conduct formal measurement / assessment of the results and benefits of the services provided to individuals or families?" The real answer to this question may not be revealed through a binary response choice option (i.e., yes or no) and may come with a set of caveats and conditions that eschew quantitative measurement. For example, most NPHSOs offer more than one program or service. An NPHSO may regularly conduct outcome measurement for Program A because outcomes are easier to assess and/or the funding agency or foundation for Program A compels and/or provides the resources for the NPHSO to measure outcomes. Conversely, Program B may be new, poorly defined, or address

client needs that make outcome measurement difficult to accomplish. In this case, would the NPHSO answer the above question affirmatively or not? Ordinal level measurement may be better.

However, it may not be that certain organizational behaviors are so complex they eschew measurement. Models 1 and 2 may not fit the data well because there are too many domain indicators on the CCF survey that do not reflect the operational realities of smaller NPHSOs, which the sample represents. Because their organizations are smaller and less complex than larger NPHSOs, respondents may have had insufficient frames of reference to answer questions.

Model 1 and 2 results also expose measurement shortcomings of the CCF survey. Nine items are poorly performing and were dropped. Four of these items are related to technology. How technology is harnessed to support the infrastructure of an NPHSO may be difficult to measure, particularly given rapid changes in information technology. Other dropped items may be poorly constructed. Another dropped item was "NPO engages in partnerships with other organizations." "Partnerships" could mean many different things depending on the particular NPHSO. For a youth-serving NPHSO, partnerships could be regarded in relation to receiving referrals from schools, while for NPHSOs addressing hunger, partnerships could be regarded in relation to receiving in-kind donations from food retailers and wholesalers. Other dropped items used "outreach" and "new approaches" to service delivery, which may also mean very different things depending on the NPHSO's mission or are simply too ambiguous to act as valid measures of capacity.

This study has several limitations to note. Survey responses were provided by a single representative of each NPHSO, usually the executive director. Respondents may not have offered accurate assessments of organizational behavior because of inconsistent knowledge and

awareness of several different organizational functions. For example, an executive director who is directly engaged in writing grants and soliciting donations may offer an accurate assessment of resource development capacity, but not of program development capacity if a different staff member (e.g., director of client services) has primary managerial responsibility in this area. The respondent might also have not been with the NPHSO long enough to offer accurate observations of organizational capacity. The length of the survey (more than 200 items) also introduces the possibility of respondent fatigue, particularly considering the very busy and often chaotic work days of executive directors of smaller NPHSOs.

The most significant limitation of this study is the measure of capacity validated in this study (Model 3) is an insufficient representation of organizational capacity as conceptualized in the literature. While it may have utility for smaller NPHSOs to assess areas for growth, it is less useful for and generalizable to larger NPHSOs interested in assessing a richer set of capacities captured in tools like the TCC Group's (2010) 146-item Core Capacity Assessment Tool (CCAT).

Research on NPHSO capacity could be improved in three ways. First, rather than depend solely on self-report survey responses from a single respondent, responses could be aggregated across multiple staff members, which is a practice with other organizational instruments such as the Organizational Social Climate tool (Aarons et al., 2012) and the Multi-Factor Leadership Questionnaire (Avolio, Bass, & Jung, 1999). Second, capacity observations could be triangulated by adding using observational check lists and/or rating forms based on researchers' interviews with NPHSO staff members and on-site reviews of organizational records. Third, NPHSO leaders themselves could be more involved in developing capacity instruments using expert review, cognitive interviewing, and pretesting methods.

Conclusion

NPHSOs are a growing and an important part of the social safety net in the U.S. Many NPHSOs are very small and in need of strengthened capacity to reliably and effectively implement programs to help individuals and families with a wide variety of needs. Capacitybuilding efforts of foundations, government agencies, and other intermediaries can be enhanced with valid measures to help assess capacity outcomes. While organizational capacity is difficult to measure accurately, this study finds a 19-item scale NPHSOs and their capacity-building partners can use to measure progress in building capacity.

REFERENCES

- Aarons, G. A. (2004). Mental health provider attitudes toward adoption of evidence-based practice: The Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS). *Mental Health Services Research*, 6, 61-74. doi:10.1023/B:MHSR.0000024351.12294.65
- Aarons, G. A. (2006). Transformational and transactional leadership: Association with attitudes toward evidence-based practice. *Psychiatric Services*, 57, 1162-1169. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.57.8.1162
- Aarons, G. A., Glisson, C., Green, P. D., Hoagwood, K., Kelleher, K. J., & Landsverk, J. A. (2012). The organizational social context of mental health services and clinician attitudes toward evidence-based practice: A United States national study. *Implementation Science*, 7, 56. Retrieved from http://www.implementationscience.com/content/7/1/56
- Aarons, G., & Palinkas, L. (2007). Implementation of evidence-based practice in child welfare: Service provider perspectives. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 34, 411-419. doi:10.1007/s10488-007-0121-3
- Aarons, G. A., & Sawitzky, A. C. (2006). Organizational culture and climate and mental health provider attitudes toward evidence-based practice. *Psychological Services*, 3, 61-72. doi:10.1037/1541-1559.3.1.61
- Aarons, G. A., & Sommerfeld, D. H. (2012). Leadership, innovation climate, and attitudes toward evidence-based practice during a statewide implementation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51, 423-431. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.01.018
- Aarons, G. A., Sommerfeld, D. H., & Walrath-Greene, C. M. (2009). Evidence-based practice implementation: The impact of public versus private sector organization type on organizational support, provider attitudes, and adoption of evidence-based practice. *Implementation Science*, 4, 83. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-4-83
- Abt Associates & Branch Associates. (2009). Assessing changes in nonprofit capacity: Outcome study of the Compassion Capital Fund Demonstration program (Technical Appendix Report prepared for Office of Community Services, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Retrieved from the Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/tech_apndx_final.pdf
- Agard, K. A. (Ed.). (2010). *Leadership in nonprofit organizations: A reference handbook* (Vol. 1). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, *103*, 411-423. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411

- Anderson, N. R., & West, M. A. (1998). Measuring climate for work group innovation: Development and validation of the Team Climate Inventory. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 235-258. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(199805)19:3<235::AID-JOB837>3.3.CO;2-3
- Asparouhov, T., & Muthén, B. (2010). Weighted least squares estimation with missing data. *Mplus technical appendix*. Retrieved from http://www.statmodel.com/download/GstrucMissingRevision.pdf
- Austin, M. J. (2008). Strategies for transforming human service organizations into learning organizations: Knowledge management and the transfer of learning. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 569-596. doi:10.1080/15433710802084326
- Austin, M., & Claassen, J. (2008a). Implementing evidence-based practice in human service organizations: Preliminary lessons from the frontlines. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 271-293. doi:10.1300/J394v05n01_10
- Austin, M. J., & Claassen, J. (2008b). Impact of organizational change on organizational culture: Implications for introducing evidence-based practice. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 321-359. doi:10.1300/J394v05n01_12
- Austin, M. J., Regan, K., Samples, M. W., Schwartz, S. L., & Carnochan, S. (2011). Building managerial and organizational capacity in nonprofit human service organizations through a leadership development program. *Administration in Social Work*, 35, 258-281. doi:10.1080/03643107.2011.575339
- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. I. (1999). Re-examining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72, 441-462. doi:10.1348/096317999166789
- Bandalos, D. L., & Boehm-Kaufman, M. R. (2008). Four common misconceptions in exploratory factor analysis. In Lance, C. E., & Vandenberg, R. J. (Eds.), *Statistical and methodological myths and urban legends: Doctrine, verity and fable in the organizational and social sciences* (pp. 61-87). New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Barney, J. B., & Hesterly, W. S. (2012). *Strategic management and competitive advantage* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Barwick, M. A., Schachter, H. M., Bennett, L. M., McGowan, J., Ly, M., Wilson, A., Bennett, K., Buchanan, D. H., Fergusson, D., & Manion, I. (2012). Knowledge translation efforts in child and youth mental health: A systematic review. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 9, 369-395. doi:10.1080/15433714.2012.663667
- Benjamin, L. M. (2013). The potential of outcome measurement for strengthening nonprofits' accountability to beneficiaries. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 42, 1224-1244. doi:10.1177/0899764012454684

- Bess, G. (1998). A first stage organization life cycle study of six emerging nonprofit organizations in Los Angeles. *Administration in Social Work*, 22, 35-52. doi:10.1300/J147v22n04_03
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., McHugo, G. J., Rapp, C. A., & Whitley, R. (2009). Strategies for improving fidelity in the national evidence-based practices project. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 569-581. doi:10.1177/1049731509335531
- Bond, G. R., & McGovern, M. P. (2013). Measuring organizational capacity to treat cooccurring psychiatric and substance use disorders. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 9, 165-170. doi:10.1080/15504263.2013.779051
- Boris, E. T., de Leon E., Roeger, K. L., & Nikolova, M. (2010). Human service nonprofits and government collaboration: Findings from the 2010 national survey of nonprofit government contracting and grants (Center on Nonprofits & Philanthropy Report).
 Retrieved from the Urban Institute website http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/412228-Nonprofit-Government-Contracting.pdf
- Bowen, N. K., & Guo, S. (2012). *Structural equation modeling*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Brown, T. (2006). Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research. New York: Guilford.
- Campbell, D. (2002). Outcomes assessment and the paradox of nonprofit accountability. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership, 12,* 243-259. doi:10.1002/nml.12303
- Campbell, N. (n.d.). Compassion capital fund demonstration program outcome study, FY2003-2005, United States (Codebook). Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research.
- Carman, J. G. (2007). Evaluation practice among community-based organizations research into the reality. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 28, 60-75. doi:10.1177/1098214006296245
- Carman, J. G., & Fredericks, K. A. (2008). Nonprofits and evaluation: Empirical evidence from the field. *New Directions for Evaluation*, 2008(119), 51-71. doi:10.1002/ev.268
- Carstens, C., Panzano, P., Massatti, R., Roth, D., & Sweeney, H. (2009). A naturalistic study of MST dissemination in 13 Ohio communities. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research, 36*, 344-360. doi:10.1007/s11414-008-9124-4
- Connolly, P., & York, P. (2003). *Building the capacity of capacity builders* (executive summary of a study of management support and field-building organizations in the nonprofit sector). Retrieved from the TCC Group website http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/buildingthecapacityofcapacitybuilders.pdf
- Cooke, R. A., & Rousseau, D. M. (1988). Behavioral norms and expectations: A quantitative approach to the assessment of organizational culture. *Group & Organization*

Management, *13*, 245-273. Retrieved from http://gom.sagepub.com.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/content/13/3/245.full.pdf

- de Vet, H. C., Adèr, H. J., Terwee, C. B., & Pouwer, F. (2005). Are factor analytical techniques used appropriately in the validation of health status questionnaires? A systematic review on the quality of factor analysis of the SF-36. *Quality of Life Research*, *14*, 1203-1218 doi:10.1007/s11136-004-5742-3
- De Vita, C. J., & Fleming, C. (Eds.). *Building capacity in nonprofit organizations*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/building_capacity.PDF
- DiMaggio, P. J., & Powell, W. W. (1991). The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields. In P. J. DiMaggio & W. W. Powell (Eds.), *The new institutionalism in organizational analysis*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Dimitrov, D. M. (2010). Testing for factorial invariance in the context of construct validation. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development, 43,* 121-149. doi:10.1177/0748175610373459
- Durlak, J., & DuPre, E. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41, 327-350. doi:10.1007/s10464-008-9165-0
- Ebrahim, A., & Rangan, V. K. (2010). *The limits of nonprofit impact: A contingency framework for measuring social performance* (Working Paper 10-099). Retrieved from the Harvard Business School website: http://www.hbs.edu/research/pdf/10-099.pdf
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of Management Review, 14, 57-74. doi:10.5465/AMR.1989.4279003
- Eisinger, P. (2002). Organizational capacity and organizational effectiveness among street-level food assistance programs. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *31*, 115-130. doi:10.1177/0899764002311005
- Enders, C. K., & Bandalos, D. L. (2001). The relative performance of full information maximum likelihood estimation for missing data in structural equation models. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 8, 430-457. doi:10.1207/S15328007SEM0803_5
- Fan, X., & Sivo, S. A. (2007). Sensitivity of fit indices to model misspecification and model types. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 42, 509-529. doi:10.1080/00273170701382864
- Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., & Friedman, R. M. (2005). Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature. Retrieved from the National Implementation Research Network website http://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/sites/nirn.fpg.unc.edu/files/resources/NIRN-MonographFull-01-2005.pdf

- Fixsen, D. L., Blase, K. A., Naoom, S. F., & Wallace, F. (2009). Core implementation components. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 531-540. doi:10.1177/1049731509335549
- Flora, D. B., & Curran, P. J. (2004). An empirical evaluation of alternative methods of estimation for confirmatory factor analysis with ordinal data. *Psychological Methods*, 9, 466-491. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.9.4.466
- Franklin, C., & Hopson, L. M. (2007). Facilitating the use of evidence-based practice in community organizations. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 43, 377-404. doi:10.5175/JSWE.2007.200600027
- Froelich, K. A. (1999). Diversification of revenue strategies: Evolving resource dependence in nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 28, 246-268. doi:10.1177/0899764099283002
- Garrido, L. E., Abad, F. J., & Ponsoda, V. (2013). A new look at Horn's parallel analysis with ordinal variables. *Psychological Methods*, *18*, 454–74. doi:10.1037/a0030005
- Garrow, E. E. (2011). Receipt of government revenue among nonprofit human service organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, *21*, 445-471. doi:10.1093/jopart/muq074
- Glickman, N. J., & Servon, L. J. (2003). By the numbers: Measuring community development corporations' capacity. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, *22*, 240-256. doi:10.1177/0739456X02250314
- Glisson, C. (2007). Assessing and changing organizational culture and climate for effective services. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *17*, 736-747. doi:10.1177/1049731507301659
- Glisson, C., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., & Williams, N. J. (2013). Randomized trial of the availability, responsiveness and continuity (ARC) organizational intervention for improving youth outcomes in community mental health programs. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52, 493-500. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.02.005
- Glisson, C., Landsverk, J., Schoenwald, S., Kelleher, K., Hoagwood, K., Mayberg, S., & Green, P. (2008). Assessing the organizational social context (OSC) of mental health services: Implications for research and practice. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 35, 98-113. doi:10.1007/s10488-007-0148-5
- Glisson, C., Schoenwald, S. K., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., Dukes, D., Armstrong, K. S., & Chapman, J. E. (2010). Randomized trial of MST and ARC in a two-level evidence-based treatment implementation strategy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78, 537-550. http://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0019160

- Graham, J. W. (2009). Missing data analysis: Making it work in the real world. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 549-576. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085530
- Hasenfeld, Y. (2010). *Human services as complex organizations* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Hasenfeld, Y., & Schmid, H. (1989). The life cycle of human service organizations: An administrative perspective. *Administration in Social Work*, *13*, 243-269. doi:10.1300/J147v13n03_12
- Hayes, R. A. (2005). Evaluating readiness to implement evidence-based practice. In C. E. Stout,
 & R. A. Hayes, R. A. (Eds.), *The evidence-based practice: Methods, models, and tools* for mental health professionals. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Hemmelgarn, A. L., Glisson, C., & James, L. R. (2006). Organizational culture and climate: Implications for services and intervention research. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 13, 73-89. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2850.2006.00008.x
- Hill, C. W. L., & Jones, G. R. (2008). *Strategic management: An integrated approach* (8th ed.) Boston, MA: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Hillman, A. J., Withers, M. C., & Collins, B. J. (2009). Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management*, 35, 1404-1427. doi:10.1177/0149206309343469
- Hoe, S. L. (2008). Issues and procedures in adopting structural equation modeling technique. *Journal of Applied Quantitative Methods*, *3*, 76-83. http://jaqm.ro/issues/volume-3,issue-1/pdfs/hoe.pdf
- Hoefer, R. (2000). Accountability in action?: Program evaluation in nonprofit human service agencies. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 11, 167-177. doi:10.1002/nml.11203
- Holgado–Tello, F. P., Chacón–Moscoso, S., Barbero–García, I., & Vila–Abad, E. (2008).
 Polychoric versus Pearson correlations in exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis of ordinal variables. *Quality & Quantity*, 44, 153–166. doi:10.1007/s11135-008-9190-y
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., & Mullen, M. (2008). Structural equation modelling: Guidelines for determining model fit. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 6, 53-60. http://arrow.dit.ie/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=buschmanart
- Hoyle, R. H. (1995). The structural equation modeling approach: Basic concepts and fundamental issues. In R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), *Structural equation modeling: Concepts, issues, and applications* (pp. 1-15). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychological methods*, *3*, 424-453. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.3.4.424

- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6, 1-55. doi:10.1080/10705519909540118
- Innovation Network. (2012). *State of evaluation 2012: Evaluation practice and capacity in the nonprofit sector*. Retrieved from the Innovation Network website http://www.innonet.org/client_docs/innonet-state-of-evaluation-2012.pdf
- Johnson, M., & Austin, M. J. (2006). Evidence-based practice in the social services. *Administration in Social Work, 30,* 75-104. doi:10.1300/J147v30n03_06
- Kenny, D. A. (2014). Measuring model fit. Retrieved from http://davidakenny.net/cm/fit.htm
- Kline, Rex B. 2011. *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. (3rd ed.) New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Kovner, A. R. (2014). Evidence-based management: Implications for nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 24, 417-424. doi:10.1002/nml.21097
- Leake, R., Green, S., Marquez, C., Vanderburg, J., Guillaume, S., & Gardner, V. A. (2007). Evaluating the capacity of faith-based programs in Colorado. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 17, 216-228. doi:10.1177/1049731506296408
- Lehman, W. E., Greener, J. M., & Simpson, D. D. (2002). Assessing organizational readiness for change. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 22, 197-209. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0740-5472(02)00233-7
- Liebler, C., & Ferri, M. (2004). NGO networks: Building capacity in a changing world (Report for Bureau for Democracy, Conflict and Humanitarian Assistance, Office of Private and Voluntary Cooperation, U.S. Agency for International Development). Retrieved from the U.S. AID website http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNADB767.pdf
- Light, P. C. (2004). Sustaining nonprofit performance: The case for capacity building and the evidence to support it. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Marguerite Casey Foundation. (2012). Organizational capacity assessment tool. Retrieved from caseygrants.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Organizational-Capacity-Assessment-Tool.xls
- Mary Reynolds Babcock Foundation. (2010). A vision of organizational health: Components of an effective organization. Retrieved from http://www.mrbf.org/resource.aspx?catId=3#Foundations_and_Nonprofit_Effectiveness
- Maynard, B. R. (2010). Social service organizations in the era of evidence-based practice: The learning organization as a guiding framework for bridging science to service. *Journal of Social Work, 10,* 301-316. doi:10.1177/1468017309342520

- McKay, M. M., Hibbert, R., Hoagwood, K., Rodriguez, J., Murray, L., Legerski, J., & Fernandez, D. (2004). Integrating evidence-based engagement interventions into "real world" child mental health settings. *Brief Treatment and Crisis Intervention*, *4*, 177-186. doi:10.1093/brief-treatment/mhh014
- McKinsey and Company (2001). *Effective capacity building in nonprofit organizations* (Report to Venture Philanthropy Partners). Retrieved from http://www.vppartners.org/sites/default/files/reports/full_rpt.pdf
- Millesen, J. L., Carman, J. G., & Bies, A. L. (2010). Why engage? *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 21, 5-20. doi:10.1002/nml.20009
- Minzer, A., Jastrzab, J., Klerman, J. A., Markovitz, C. E., Williams, J., Fink, B., Sipe, C., Coll, M., Burroughs, T., & Ryan, W. (2010). *Improving capacity among nonprofits: Impact study of the Compassion Capital Fund demonstration program.* Retrieved from Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/ccf_impact_rprt_final.pdf
- Minzner, A., Klerman, J. A., Markovitz, C. E., & Fink, B. (2014). The impact of capacitybuilding programs on nonprofits: A random assignment evaluation. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*,43, 547-569. doi:10.1177/0899764013491013
- Mullen, E. J., Bledsoe, S. E., & Bellamy, J. L. (2008). Implementing evidence-based social work practice. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 18, 325-338. doi:10.1177/1049731506297827
- Muthén, B., Du Toit, S. H., & Spisic, D. (1997). Robust inference using weighted least squares and quadratic estimating equations in latent variable modeling with categorical and continuous outcomes. *Psychometrika*, 75, 1-45.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (1998-2012). *Mplus user's guide* (7th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Norris, M., & Lecavalier, L. (2010). Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in developmental disability psychological research. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40, 8-20. doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0816-2
- Oster, S. M. (1995). *Strategic management for nonprofit organizations: Theory and cases*. Oxford University Press.
- Pejsa, L. J. (2011). Improving evaluation in the nonprofit sector: The promise of evaluation capacity building for nonprofit social service organizations in an age of accountability. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (885876409)
- Peng, C. Y. J., Harwell, M., Liou, S. M., & Ehman, L. H. (2007). Advances in missing data methods and implications for educational research. In S. S. Sawilowsky (Ed.), *Real data analysis*. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing, pp. 31-78

- Pettijohn, S. L. (2013). The nonprofit sector in brief: Public charities, giving, and volunteering, 2013. Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/412923-The-Nonprofit-Sector-in-Brief.pdf
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). *The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Plath, D. (2013). Organizational processes supporting evidence-based practice. *Administration in Social Work, 37*, 171-188. doi:10.1080/03643107.2012.672946
- Posner, B. Z., & Kouzes, J. M. (1993). Psychometric properties of the leadership practices inventory-updated. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 53, 191-199. doi:10.1177/0013164493053001021
- Proctor, E., Landsverk, J., Aarons, G., Chambers, D., Glisson, C., & Mittman, B. (2009). Implementation research in mental health services: An emerging science with conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 36, 24-34. doi:10.1007/s10488-008-0197-4
- Raynor, J., Cardona, C., Knowlton, T., Mittenthal, R., & Simpson, J. (2014). *Capacity building* 3.0: *How to strengthen the social ecosystem* (TCC Group Briefing Paper). Retrieved from http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/11-18-14_TCC_Capacity_3.pdf
- Renz, D. O., & Herman, R. D. (2011). *The Jossey-Bass handbook of nonprofit leadership and management* (3rd ed.). San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Schoenwald, S. K., & Hoagwood, K. (2001). Effectiveness, transportability, and dissemination of interventions: What matters when? *Psychiatric Services*, 52, 1190-1197. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.9.1190
- Schreiber, J. B., Nora, A., Stage, F. K., Barlow, E. A., & King, J. (2006). Reporting structural equation modeling and confirmatory factor analysis results: A review. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 99, 323-338. doi:10.3200/JOER.99.6.323-338
- Simon, J. S. (2001). *The 5 life stages of nonprofit organizations*. St. Paul, MN: Amherst Wilder Foundation.
- Sobeck, J. L. (2008). How cost-effective is capacity building in grassroots organizations? *Administration in Social Work, 32,* 49-68. doi:10.1300/J147v32n02_04
- Stern, K. (2013). *With charity for all: Why charities are failing and a better way to give.* New York: Random House.
- Stevens, S. (2002). *Nonprofit lifecycles: Stage-based wisdom for nonprofit capacity*. St. Paul, MN: Stagewise Enterprises.
- TCC Group. (2010). Fortifying L.A.'s nonprofit organizations: Capacity-building needs and services in Los Angeles County (A study commissioned by the Weingart Foundation).

Retrieved from the Weingart Foundation website http://www.weingartfnd.org/files/Capacity-Report-Final.pdf

- United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (2002). *Building NGO/CBO capacity: The user's guide*. Retrieved from the Polytechnic of Namibia website http://www.polytechnic.edu.na/academics/schools/engine_infotech/civil/libraries/urban_p lanning/NGO_CBO%29Capacity_aUSERguide.pdf
- West, S. G., Taylor, A. B., & Wu, W. (2012). Model fit and model selection in structural equation modeling. In R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), *Handbook of structural equation modeling* (pp. 209–231). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Wing, K. T. (2004). Assessing the effectiveness of capacity-building initiatives: Seven issues for the field. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 33, 153-160. doi:10.1177/0899764003261518

CHAPTER 4: ASSESSING EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE-RELATED OUTCOMES OF AN NPHSO CAPACITY-BUILDING INTERVENTION

The social welfare system in the U.S. is largely comprised of community-based nonprofit human service organizations (NPHSOs) offering services to meet a wide array of individual and family needs. In most communities, NPHSOs address homelessness, domestic violence, child maltreatment, mental illness, substance abuse, and other social problems of critical concern to the social work profession. In an era of increased reliance by government on NPHSOs to perform a social safety net function (Garrow, 2011), NPHSOs are expected to be competent stewards of taxpayer and donor support (Ebrahim, 2003; Gibelman & Gelman, 2001; Light, 2004). However, NPHSOs fail to demonstrate how they improve outcomes for the people they serve (Stern, 2013). Consequently, there is increased demand for NPHSOs to demonstrate positive client outcomes and community impact (Benjamin, 2013; Bradach, Tierney, & Stone, 2008; Campbell, 2002; Colby, Stone, & Carttar, 2004; Ebrahim & Rangan, 2010).

Evidence-based practice (EBP) is a promising strategy NPHSOs can use to improve client outcomes and increase community impact (Austin & Claassen, 2008; Franklin & Hopson, 2007; Johnson & Austin, 2006; Kovner, 2014; Maynard, 2010). However, many NPHSOs – particularly smaller ones⁷ - experience capacity deficits in key functions such as human resources, fundraising, and evaluation (e.g., Brown, 2008; Leake et al., 2007; Minzner et al, 2010; TCC Group, 2010; Yung et al, 2008).

 $^{^{7}}$ 77% of all public charities – including NPHSOs – in the US had total annual expenses of less than \$1 million in 2012 (McKeever & Pettijohn, 2014).

Capacity deficits diminish the prospect of EBP engagement among NPHSOs in two ways. First, a lack of capacity makes it difficult for NPHSOs to develop, implement, and consistently offer programs and services. Absent reliable service delivery, EBP engagement is a moot issue. Second – and assuming NPHSOs are able to overcome capacity deficits to consistently offer programs and services - adequate staffing, supervision, and other resources and capacities are needed to promote fidelity and effective program implementation (Bond et al., 2009; Carstens et al., 2009; Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Fixsen, Naoom, Blase, & Friedman, 2005; Gearing et al., 2011; Greenhalgh, Robert, MacFarlane, Bate, & Kyriakidou, 2004).

Capacity-building is a strategy aimed at helping NPHSOs and other nonprofit organizations develop the knowledge and skills to improve performance. Foundations, local United Ways, universities, management service organizations, and consultants offer capacitybuilding assistance, usually targeting smaller NPHSOs and other nonprofit organizations. Though many NPHSOs and other nonprofits participate in capacity-building (501 Commons, n.d.), the effectiveness of capacity-building is not well studied. It is unclear whether capacitybuilding helps NPHSOs implement and sustain functional improvements and whether such improvements result in positive client outcomes. In particular, there is a lack of evidence capacity-building can enhance NPHSOs' abilities to engage in EBP.

In its current iteration, capacity-building has evolved from improving organizational functioning in areas such as board development, to also enhancing organizations' contributions to collective efforts to solve complex social problems (Raynor, Cardona, Knowlton, Mittenthal, & Simpson, 2014). Foundations have shifted away from using evaluation as a means of ensuring accountability to using evaluation to promote organizational learning, advocacy, and overall effectiveness among nonprofit organizations (Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2011).

The purpose of this study is to assess the effectiveness of a randomized controlled trial of an NPHSO capacity-building demonstration project. This study aims to answer the following question: Does providing capacity-building assistance improve NPHSOs' capacity to design and evaluate programs? Results from this study will inform efforts to build capacity to enhance NPHSOs' readiness to engage in EBP.

Capacity-Building Needs of NPHSOs

Authors of several studies have documented a range of capacity deficits across several organizational functions among NPHSOs – particularly smaller organizations. Among smaller faith- and community-based NPHSOs (N = 1,221), financial sustainability, governance (i.e., board of directors performance), and financial management were the most critical needs identified by NPHSO leaders (Abt Associates, 2009). In a related study, NPHSO (N = 454) leaders identified long-term sustainability, increased funding, increased number of clients served, and improved community partnerships as top capacity-building goals (Minzner et al., 2010).

Yung et al. (2008) found resource development capacity was a priority among a sample of 659 of NPHSOs in Ohio, including identifying funding opportunities, grant writing, and developing fundraising plans. Lack of resource development capacity among nonprofit organizations was a top need identified in several other similar studies (American Planning Association – New Jersey Chapter, 2011; Arizona Nonprofit Capacity Building Initiative, 2003; Brown, 2008; Gilmer, 2012; Kapucu, Healy, & Arslan, 2011; Popescu & Dewan, 2009; Sobeck & Agius, 2007; Sobeck, 2008; Wright, 2011), which reflects findings from other studies concerning financial challenges of nonprofit organizations (Besel, Williams, & Klak, 2011; Bowman, 2010; Nonprofit Operating Reserves Initiative Workgroup, 2008; Salamon & Geller,

2007; Sontag-Padilla, Staplefoote, & Gonzalez Morganti, 2012; Weerawardena, McDonald, & Mort, 2010; Zietlow, 2010).

Authors of nonprofit capacity studies identified other needs including volunteer management and use of technology (501 Commons, n.d.), reporting to federal agencies, financial management, organizational policy development, and staff professional development (Brown, 2008), community assessment, communications, and marketing (Popescu & Dewan, 2009), program monitoring and evaluation and board development (Sobeck & Agius, 2007; Sobeck, 2008) human resource management (Wright, 2011), and leadership development (Austin, Regan, Samples, Schwartz, & Carnochan, 2011). Capacity deficits are experienced across all major organizational functions, yet lack of sufficient resources is a recurrent theme in this literature and puts NPHSOs in a real bind. NPHSOs that wish to strengthen programs to improve client outcomes struggle to secure the resources needed to hire well-qualified staff, pay for training and technical assistance, and develop supportive infrastructure such as information systems to collect, manage, and analyze outcome data.

Capacity Needs Related to EBP Engagement

Evaluation capacity is the NPHSO's a) ability to define the quality-of-life changes it hopes to achieve for the individuals, families, and communities it serves; b) engage in formative, process, and outcome evaluations; and c) effectively manage data and knowledge gained from evaluation activities to improve programs. Evaluation capacity may promote EBP engagement among NPHSOs.

However, studies indicate that NPHSOs struggle with evaluation (Hoefer, 2000; Innovation Network, 2012; Leake et al., 2007; Pejsa, 2011; Sobeck, 2008; TCC Group, 2010). For example, 32% of faith- and community-based NPHSOs (N = 454) did not track client

outcomes and more than half (51%) had not evaluated program-level outcomes (Minzner et al., 2010). In another study, only 18% of faith- and community-based youth-serving NPHSOs had outcome evaluation plans (Leake et al., 2007). Innovation Network (2012) found that most (79%) nonprofit organizations conducted outcome evaluation, but only 4% and 6% used quasi-experimental and randomized control trial designs, respectively. Most organizations (73%) indicated they spend less than 5% of their annual operating budgets on evaluation.

To increase EBP engagement among NPHSOs, a good place to start is to build evaluation capacity. Skill in collecting and analyzing client data will enhance staff understanding of research evidence to apply to programs and services. Robust program monitoring and evaluation systems in NPHSOs will help NPHSOs adapt evidence-based programs to fit client needs and community contexts.

Capacity-Building Interventions

Capacity-building is a process of funders and other intermediaries⁸ offering training, technical assistance, and targeted funding to improve nonprofit organization performance (Raynor et al., 2014) or address a specific organizational challenge or opportunity such as meeting new funding requirements (Light, 2004). Building capacity is a management strategy to ensure organizational survival (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Froelich, 1999; Hillman, Withers, & Collins, 2009) and to enhance NPHSOs' competitive advantages (Barney & Hesterly, 2012; Courtney, 2002; Hill & Jones, 2008; Oster, 1995).

Common capacity-building activities include group-based training, technical assistance, leadership development, and targeted funding to address multiple (Austin et al, 2011; Ladner, 2007; Light, 2004) or distinct capacities such as data management and analysis (Wetta-Hall,

⁸These may include universities, management service organizations, management consulting firms, and independent consultants.

Ablah, Oler-Manske, Berry, & Molgaard, 2004). Lack of funding and time is a common barrier to capacity-building among nonprofit organizations (Arizona Nonprofit Capacity Building Initiative, 2003; TCC Group, 2010; Yung et al., 2008). To build evaluation capacity, foundations should pay for nonprofit organizations' evaluation costs, support skills coaching, training, or workshops, and promote evaluation communities of practice (Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2011).

Capacity-Building Intervention Outcomes

Limited empirical evidence exists concerning the effectiveness of capacity-building (Light, 2004; McKinsey & Company, 2001; Sobeck & Agius, 2007), as only a few studies have found modest, self-reported gains in various capacities among mostly smaller NPHSOs. Leake et al. (2007) found small NPHSOs (N = 90) experienced gains in 11 of 12 capacity areas, such as fundraising and program evaluation. Greater gains were associated with receiving technical assistance and grants compared to workshops only. Popescu and Dewan (2009) found most (70%) NPHSOs (N = 21) experienced capacity gains, yet only 42% increased service capacity. Similarly, Markovitz, Magged, Florez, and Klein (2008) found capacity gains among NPHSOs (N = 56), yet increases in clients served were not statistically significant relative to a comparison group.

Among domestic violence NPHSOs (N = 54), statistically significant gains – attributed primarily to grants, not technical assistance - were made in government funding, use of information technology, staff size, and board performance relative to a comparison group of NPHSOs. However, NPHSOs also experienced performance declines in fundraising, strategic planning, asset mapping, and use of theories of change (Brown, 2008). Kapucu, Healy, and Arslan (2011) found mixed results among small NPHSOs (N = 23) that received workshops,

technical assistance, and grants. Gains in management knowledge were statistically significant, but not gains in management skill or staff size. In eight areas of performance, percentages of NPHSOs making no improvements ranged from 44% to 71%.

To date, the federal Compassion Capital Fund (CCF) Demonstration Program from 2003-2008 was the largest NPHSO capacity-building initiative in the US. CCF studies assessed the impact of training, technical assistance, and capacity-building grants offered through intermediaries on organizational capacities based on self-report surveys completed by NPHSO representatives. In the Communities Empowering Youth (CEY) study, Francis et al. (2011) found NPHSOs (N = 436) made statistically significant improvements in several capacities across four domains: leadership, organizational, and program development, and community engagement. The greatest changes occurred in program development and community engagement, such as increases in clients served and partnerships with other organizations. However, statistically significant improvements in only a minority of capacities (36%) were observed from baseline to 30-month follow-up. Also, many significant outcomes were modest indicators of organizational performance.

In the CCF outcome study, statistically significant positive changes were made by NPHSOs (N = 1,221) on 72% of capacities in several domains. For example, a greater number of NPHSOs had written strategic plans at follow-up (70%) compared to baseline (46%) (p < .001), conducted staff performance reviews (73% vs. 68%; p < .01), and provided formal orientations for new board members (64% vs. 47%; p < .001). Results were mixed concerning resource development; the number of NPOs that sought and obtained new sources of funding decreased. Also, the sample average total amount of funding received from non-federal sources decreased from baseline to follow-up.

In the CCF impact study, mean treatment effects were statistically significant for all five capacity domains, including leadership, organizational, program, and resource development (p < .001) and community engagement (p < .01). However, for only 21 outcomes – just 10% of all outcomes -, treatment-control group change score differences were both statistically significant (p < .05) and had effect sizes of .40 or higher (Minzner et al, 2010, 2014) (see Appendix 4.1). Also, most of the 21 outcomes reflected intervention outputs, e.g., engagement in the training component of the intervention. These results could be considered fidelity or dosage observations, but not organizational capacity outcomes. In addition, outcomes were greatest concerning level-of-focus outcomes⁹ compared to actual changes in organizational behavior. Thus, much of the overall treatment effect observed was related to intervention engagement and awareness of and initial steps to address capacity deficits.

The effectiveness of capacity-building interventions may depend on funding and amount and type of NPHSO engagement. Patrizi et al. (2006) found multi-year, unrestricted grants helped six juvenile justice NPHSOs strengthen information technology and fundraising, launch new business models, and strengthen and expand programs. Similarly, Ryan and Taylor (2012) found large, unrestricted grants helped three NPHSOs chosen for their use of evidence to improve programs increased the number of youth served by 69% over a four-year period. Sobeck (2008) found investments of \$2,810, \$3,262, and \$3,317 in capacity-building assistance were associated with one standard deviation improvements in planning, grant writing, and evaluation capacities, respectively, among small NPHSOs (N = 125).

Pejsa (2011) found involvement of both managerial and front line staff members, a flexible and tailored learning approach, sufficient time for capacity-related discussion, and use of

⁹These outcomes related to questions that aimed to assess NPOs' self-reported incremental progress in building capacity, from recognizing the need to improve a capacity to developing and then implementing capacity-building steps.
an outside facilitator were effective capacity-building methods. However, the intervention was abruptly discontinued due to a loss of funding. Austin et al. (2011) found participants in a NPHSO leadership development intervention had limited time to participate and insufficient support from their employers; 10 of 22 originally enrolled participants dropped out due to work demands.

Does Capacity-Building Work?

Based on a limited number of studies, capacity-building seems to positively impact capacity awareness, knowledge, and skills of NPHSOs, yet evidence concerning organizational performance and client outcome-related impacts is modest. Longer-term follow-up is needed to assess impact on organizational performance and client outcomes. Also, few studies used comparison or control groups; observed improvements may have been due to maturation. Other evidence reviewed above indicated that receiving capacity-building grants – irrespective of training or technical assistance received – may alone improve organizational performance (Markovitz et al., 2008; Patrizi et al., 2006; Ryan & Taylor, 2012). Also, improvements are more likely among stable NPHSOs (Patrizi et al., 2006).

Study Purpose

The studies reviewed above assessed NPHSO capacity-building interventions in very broad terms; the impact of capacity-building using different intervention methods or focused on particular topics is unclear. Research in this field can be improved by better understanding the impact of different types and amounts of capacity-building assistance on capacities most directly related to improving client outcomes, such as evaluation capacity.

Assessing capacity-building impacts on evaluation capacity is important because this is a particular area of difficulty for NPHSOs. Enhanced evaluation capacity can help NPHSOs better understand whether programs and services are achieving desired client outcomes and how

programs and services might be improved by engaging in EBP. Evaluation capacity is also important for monitoring and evaluating implementation of evidence-based programs.

Using CCF impact study data, this study sought to answer the following questions:

- 1. Does offering program evaluation capacity-building assistance increase the likelihood of enhanced evaluation capacity among NPHSOs?
- 2. Which organizational characteristics are associated with greater likelihood of evaluation capacity gains among NPHSOs that receive program evaluation capacity-building assistance?

Answering these questions may inform targeted efforts to help NPHSOs strengthen programs and services through enhanced evaluation.

Methods

Sample

Data used for this study were from the CCF demonstration program impact study (Minzner et al., 2010; 2014). NPHSOs were randomly assigned to a treatment group (N = 237) that received capacity-building assistance or a control group (N = 217) that did not. Treatment effects were estimated using intent-to-treat (ITT) difference-in-differences (DiD), i.e., pre-post dependent variable change score differences between treatment and control group NPHSOs. Unadjusted and adjusted (i.e., controlling for tenure, type, total annual expenditures, and paid executive director status) differences and effect sizes¹⁰ were calculated.

For this study, I re-sampled a subsample to conduct an efficacy subset analysis related to evaluation capacity. The treatment group (N = 120) was comprised of NPHSOs that received capacity-building assistance from a CCF intermediary related to program evaluation. The control group (N = 141) was comprised of NPHSOs that did not receive capacity-building assistance

¹⁰Using the standard deviation for the control group at follow-up.

from a CCF intermediary nor any other entity related to program evaluation program. Bi-variate tests to assess treatment and control group differences for the four covariates¹¹ used by Minzner et al. (2010; 2014) in the impact study (tenure, type, size, and paid executive director) were statistically non-significant, indicating sample balance.

Measures

Measures used in this study came from the survey of NPHSO representatives, usually the executive director, completed at baseline and 15-month follow-up. As described above for the CCF impact study (Minzner et al., 2010; 2014), the surveys contained questions about NPHSO characteristics, capacity-building interests and experiences, and capacities in five domains.

Dependent variables. The following measures were selected as indicators of evaluation capacity and used as dependent variables in analytical models. All five variables were in the program development domain (Minzner et al., 2010; 2014). For items 1-3, responses were recoded as change scores, i.e., "1" if the NPHSO experienced a positive change (from no to yes) from pre- to post-test and "0" if they did not. For items 4 and 5, responses were re-coded as change scores, i.e., "1" if the NPHSO experienced movement up the response scale from pre- to post-test and "0" if they did not.

- <u>Conducts outcome measurement</u>. This variable was measured with the following survey item: "Does your organization conduct formal measurement /assessment of the results and benefits of the services provided to individuals or families?"
- <u>Keeps outcome records</u>. This variable was measured with the following survey item:
 "Organization keeps records on individual service recipients' outcomes."

¹¹According to Minzner et al. (2010), covariates were included in analyses to increase the precision of outcome and treatment effect estimates. The selection of these four particular covariates "reflects the professional judgments of the project staff and consultants about the baseline characteristics most likely to matter in explaining subsequent differences in organizational capacities" (p. A-5, technical appendices).

- Seeks client feedback. This variable was measured with the following survey item:
 "Organization seeks and obtains regular feedback from individuals/families on their satisfaction with services."
- 4. LOF: Evaluates effectiveness. This variable was measured with a level of focus (LOF) survey item. For the following statement, "Strengthening the organization's ability to evaluate its overall effectiveness," respondents indicated "not an area of focus at this time," "know we should work on this but lack time or resources," "have developed plans or ideas to work on this, but haven't implemented," "have implemented steps to address focus area," or "not a focus because satisfied with achievement in this area."
- 5. <u>LOF: Improves service quality</u>. This variable was measured with a level-of-focus (LOF) survey item. For the following statement, "Incorporating a new approach to services to improve quality/effectiveness," response choices were the same as for item 4.

Independent variables. For treatment status, responses were coded as "1" if the NPHSO was assigned to the treatment group to receive capacity-building assistance and received program evaluation assistance. Responses were coded as "0" if the NPHSO was assigned to the control group and did not receive program evaluation assistance. The following covariates were used in analytical models to control for factors expected to affect dependent variables. Items 1-4 were used by Minzner et al. (2010; 2014) in the CCF impact study. Items 5 & 6 were used as additional covariates for this study.

1. <u>Tenure</u>: Responses were coded as "1" if the NPHSO had been in existence for less than six years old and "0" for six or more years old.

- <u>Type</u>: Responses were coded as "1" if the NPHSO was a faith-based organization (FBO) and "0" if it was a community-based organization (CBO)¹².
- Size: Responses were coded as "1" if the NPHSO had < \$100,000 in total annual expenditures and "0" if expenditures were \$100,000 or greater.
- Paid executive director: Responses were coded as "1" if the NPHSO had a paid executive director and "0" if it did not.
- 5. <u>Amount of grant assistance</u>: This was a continuous variable indicating the total amount of grant funding the NPHSO received during the past 12 months from a CCF intermediary. This covariate was added because prior research indicates NPHSO capacity gains are sensitive to funding as an intervention component (Brown, 2008; Leake et al., 2007; Patrizi et al, 2006; Ryan & Taylor, 2012). The amount of funding NPHSOs received might explain capacity-building gains.
- 6. <u>Purpose for applying</u>: Responses were coded as "1" if the NPHSO indicated irrespective of randomly assigned treatment status it applied for CCF capacity-building assistance to "develop a system for tracking outcomes" and "0" if it did not. This covariate was added to control for motivation. Without controlling for motivation, capacity-building gains may have been due to the desire of the NPHSO to build capacity (i.e., as a source of unobserved heterogeneity) not the assistance received.

Analysis

To assess effects of program evaluation capacity-building on outcomes related to evaluation capacity, efficacy subset analysis (i.e., treatment-on-the-treated) was used, which produces treatment effect estimates only for participants who received a treatment (Fraser &

¹²According to Minzner et al. (2010), NPHSOs selected the category of their choice – FBO or CBO – to describe their organization, absent definitions concerning what constitutes each organization type.

Galinsky, 2010; Guo & Fraser, 2010). This analytical approach differs from the CCF impact study (Minzner et al., 2010; 2014) in two key ways. First, as described above, the CCF impact study used average treatment effects (ATE) (i.e., intent-to-treat) estimates comparing treatmentcontrol pre-post change scores (i.e., difference-in-differences). In this study, estimates were calculated only for treatment group NPHSOs that received program evaluation assistance and for control group NPHSOs that received no such assistance, which resulted in case exclusion. Second, this study assessed the conditional probability of having made a capacity gain as a more precise treatment effect estimate. All analyses were completed using Stata version 13 (StataCorp, 2013).

To answer research question 1 concerning whether capacity-building enhances evaluation capacity, logistic regression was used to assess the likelihood of capacity gains based on treatment status and controlling for other factors that may explain variation in capacity gains. The formula representing this method is as follows:

$$\ln\left(\frac{\hat{p}}{1-\hat{p}}\right) = \beta_0 + \beta_1(T_k) + \beta_2 X_2 \dots n + \beta_n X_n + \varepsilon$$

Where

 \hat{p} is the conditional probability of the capacity gain

 T_k is treatment status (1=treated; 0=control) for the k^{th} survey respondent.

 $X_{2...n}$ are covariates (organization type, size, tenure, paid executive director, amount of

grant assistance received, motivation to receive evaluation assistance) and

 ϵ is an error term, adjusted for clustering by intermediary.

The number of observations per predictor variable was 31, which far exceeded the recommendation of 10 observations per variable for logistic regression (Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2000; Peng, Lee, & Ingersoll, 2002; Vittinghoff & McCulloch, 2007).

Three methods were used to reduce biases in estimating treatment effects. First, logistic regressions included a sampling weight to adjust for NPHSO non-response at follow-up, a method used by Minzner et al. (2010; 2014). Second, robust standard errors using Huber-White sandwich estimates of variance were used to adjust for correlated observations among NPHSOs that received capacity-building assistance from the same intermediary, whereas Minzner et al. (2010; 2014) included intermediaries as a fixed-effect covariate in regression models. Adjusting standard errors for clustering relaxes the independence of observations assumption in multivariate analysis (Nichols & Schaffer, 2007) and reduces the risk of Type I error. Third, because cases were excluded post-randomization and because there was non-randomized selection on receipt of evaluation assistance, bi-variate analyses were used to assess sample balance and conditional ignorability. To further remove bias based on treatment-control group differences in covariates (i.e., size, type, and tenure, and whether the NPHSO has a paid executive director) (Rosenbaum & Rubin, 1983), sensitivity analyses were conducted using a propensity score weight. Weights were calculated by regressing treatment status (treated or control) on tenure, size, type, and paid executive director and calculating a probability for treated status (p). Next, a propensity score for the treatment group was calculated by using the inverse of probability (1/p)and for the control group using 1/(1-p) (Guo & Fraser, 2010).

Treatment estimates from three different analytical models were calculated:

<u>Model 1</u>: Conditional probability of making capacity changes, controlling for four covariates used by Minzner et al. (2010; 2014).

<u>Model 2</u>: Conditional probability of making capacity changes, with amount of grant assistance and motivation to receive evaluation assistance as two additional covariates.

<u>Model 3</u>: Same as model 2, yet using propensity score weights to reduce bias due to selection on evaluation assistance¹³. Model 3 was used to conduct a sensitivity analysis for Model 2, i.e., to adjust for post-randomization selection bias.

To answer research question two concerning NPHSO characteristics associated with greater likelihood of capacity gains, predicted probabilities for tenure, size, type, paid executive director, and grant amount were calculated for each of the five dependent variables. Probabilities for each predictor variable were calculated using the MARGINS command in Stata version 13, holding other predictors constant at their means. For grant amount, a continuous predictor, predicted probabilities in increments of \$5,000 were examined.

Results

Sample Characteristics

NPHSOs in the study sample (N = 261) had an average of 4.3 and 2.1 paid full- and parttime staff members, respectively, compared to 4.2 and 2.2 paid full- and part-time staff members, respectively, in the full sample (N = 454). In the most recent month, NPHSOs served an average of 341 persons (SD = 807) compared to 364 persons in the full sample (SD = 874). The most common primary programmatic areas were services to at-risk children and youth (67%) and education (52%). Almost half (49%) only served urban communities; very few (7%) only served rural communities. The remainder served other or multiple types of communities.

Characteristics of treatment and control group NPHSOs were very similar between the full (N = 454) and study (N = 261) samples. Bi-variate tests to assess re-sampling balance were all statistically non-significant. However, some imbalance was observed. A greater proportion of treatment group NPHSOs (65%) than control group NPHSOs (55%) in the study sample had a

¹³While NPHSOs receiving evaluation assistance had been randomly assigned to receive capacity-building, determination of the focus of capacity-building- including evaluation – was non-random.

Covariate Full Sample Study Sample (N = 454)(N = 261)Treatment Control Treatment Control Tenure Younger (less than six years) 40% 38% 39% 39% 62% Older (six or more years) 60% 61% 61% Type Faith-based 48% 54% 48% 54% Community-based 52% 46% 52% 46% Size Smaller (<\$100k in expenditures) 58% 57% 56% 62% Larger (\geq \$100k in expenditures) 42% 43% 44% 38% Paid Executive Director Yes 60% 59% 65% 55% No 40% 41% 45% 35% Applied to receive outcome measurement assistance 59% 59% 64% 57%

 p^*

.98

.37

.31

.12

.27

Table 4.1. Study Sample Description.

* Chi-square tests assessing treatment-control balance in the study sample

paid executive director. Presence of a paid executive director could make an NPHSO more likely to experience a capacity gain. Model 3 adjusts for this and other potential biases in estimates resulting from study sample imbalances.

Capacity-Building Assistance

Workshops. Nine out of ten intermediaries offered capacity-building workshops using a group-based training format, ranging from 2 to 30 sessions. Most (N = 7) intermediaries offering workshops allowed any NPHSO to attend (Minzner et al., 2010). More than half (59%) of NPHSOs participated in CCF capacity-building workshops, with an average of 64.3 hours (SD =132.7). Treatment group NPHSOs (M = 77.4, SD = 145.7) received significantly more workshop hours than control group¹⁴ NPHSOs (M = 13.1, SD = 12.9); t(141)=2.37, p < .01. Over half (59%) of NPHSOs judged workshops to be very helpful.

¹⁴Workshops were the only type of capacity-building assistance intermediaries could offer to control as well as treatment group NPHSOs. Thus, the control group was exposed to CCF-sponsored workshops, though the treatment group received greater exposure.

Technical assistance. Technical assistance was comprised of customized assistance offered by intermediaries or consultants selected by intermediaries using single liaisons, technical assistance teams, or specialized contacts who offered consulting, coaching, or mentoring services (Minzner et al., 2010). Less than half (41%) of NPHSOs received technical assistance from CCF intermediaries, with an average of 44.6 hours (SD = 71.5). Only 5 control group compared to 88 treatment group NPHSOs received technical assistance¹⁵. A majority (70%) of NPHSOs judged technical assistance to be very helpful.

Capacity-building grants. Under contract with the Administration for Children and Families, intermediaries were required to devote 40% of their awards to offer sub-grants to NPHSOs. Grants were targeted to strengthen NPHSOs' efficiency and capacity, not to support direct services, fundraising, or capital projects. Six intermediaries required NPHSOs to submit applications and/or budgets to receive grants, while four did not (Minzner et al., 2010). Under half (44%) of NPHSOs received grants from intermediaries, with a mean award of \$4,564 (*SD* = \$7403). Far more treatment (81%) than control (6%) group NPHSOs received grants χ^2 (1, *N* = 228) = 129.15, *p* < .001. Treatment group NPHSOs (*M* = \$8,569, *SD* = \$786) received significantly greater grant awards compared to control group NPHSOs (*M* = \$413, *SD* = \$242); *t*(218) = 9.77, *p* < .001. More than a third (37%) of NPHSOs received no capacity-building assistance from CCF intermediaries, including 4% of treatment and 71% of control group NPHSOs.¹⁶

¹⁵Intermediaries were not permitted to provide technical assistance to the control group. This finding indicates a modest level of treatment contamination.

¹⁶In addition to some CCF exposure, control group NPHSOs were not prohibited from receiving capacity-building assistance from other sources.

Capacity-Building Gains

Uni-variate results. At pre-test, less than half (48%) of NPHSOs said they conducted outcome measurement, which increased to 61% at post-test. A larger proportion of NPHSOs (68%) said they recorded data related to client outcomes at pre-test, increasing to 73% at post-test. The discrepancy between these two variables suggests more NPHSOs are collecting and recording versus analyzing client outcome data. Seeking client feedback about services is more common; a large majority (77%) of NPHSOs said at pre-test they seek client feedback, increasing to 83% at post-test. At pre-test, only 20% of NPHSOs said they have implemented steps to evaluate overall effectiveness, rising to 36% at post-test. Similarly, only 31% of NPHSOs said they have implemented steps to improve service quality, rising to 44% at post-test.

Bi-variate results. At pre-test, treatment and control group NPHSOs were very similar with respect to the five dependent variables (see Table 4.2). However, the proportion of treatment group NPHSOs engaged in the five evaluation capacities at post-test was greater than control group NPHSOs. There was a statistically significant and greater likelihood that treatment group NPHSOs made a positive change from pre- to post-test compared to control group NPHSOs for three (i.e., conducts outcome measurement, evaluates effectiveness, and improves service quality) evaluation capacities, but not for keeping outcome records and seeking client feedback. Pre-test levels for these latter two capacities were high, which raises the possibility there was less of a chance NPHSOs would show improvement at post-test.

Multi-variate results. Based on multi-variate analyses using logistic regression, the probability of capacity gains made by treatment group was greater compared to control group NPSHOs for all five evaluation capacities across all three models (see Table 4.3). However, the

Dependent Variable	Pre-	test	Post-		
	Treatment	Control	Treatment	Control	p^1
Conducts outcome measurement	48%	49%	68%	54%	*
Keeps outcome records	71%	65%	75%	69%	
Seeks client feedback	77%	77%	89%	77%	
LOF: evaluates effectiveness					
Not a focus area	5%	12%	8%	33%	***
Know we should work on this	27%	27%	8%	19%	
Have developed plans	35%	31%	28%	14%	
Have implemented steps	32%	30%	46%	29%	
Satisfied with performance	1%	0%	11%	4%	
LOF: improves service quality					
Not a focus area	2%	4%	3%	26%	***
Know we should work on this	49%	54%	19%	34%	
Have developed plans	29%	23%	28%	13%	
Have implemented steps	19%	20%	45%	24%	
Satisfied with performance	1%	0%	5%	2%	

Table 4.2. Unadjusted Pre-Post Differences in Evaluation Capacity Gains.

Notes: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001; ¹ Chi-square tests for having made a positive pre-post change comparing treatment and control group NPHSOs.

statistical significance of these results varies considerably between Models 1 and 2. In Model 1, the probability of capacity gains in the treatment group was significantly greater than the control group for seeking client feedback, evaluating overall effectiveness, and improving service quality, but not for either variable related to outcome measurement. Conversely, in Model 2, capacity gain probabilities were statistically significant for all evaluation capacities except for seeking client feedback. Post-hoc analyses indicated Model 2 was well specified. Mean variance inflation factor (VIF) for the seven independent variables was 1.29 and the largest single value was 1.52. In addition, Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit tests were all statistically non-significant for models assessing all five dependent variables, indicating Model 2 fit the data well (Kutner, Nachtsheim, & Neter, 2004; Peng et al., 2002).

The substantive difference between the two models is Model 2 controls for the amount of grant assistance received and whether the NPHSO was motivated to receive evaluation capacity

	Model Estimated Coefficients & Odds Ratios (Robust S.E.)							
	Model 1 (N=2	255)	Model 2 (N=	215)	<i>Model 3</i> (N=215)			
Dependent Variable	β (SE)	OR	β (SE)	OR	β (SE)	OR		
Conducts outcome	.698 (.403)	2.01	.956 (.433)*	2.60	.957 (.422)*	2.60		
measurement								
Keeps outcome	.228 (.389)	1.26	1.19 (.431)**	3.27	1.16 (.413)**	3.18		
records								
Seeks client feedback	.610 (.275)*	1.84	.309 (.504)	1.36	.242 (.513)	1.27		
LOF: evaluates	1.01 (.238)***	2.74	.690 (.278)*	1.99	.678 (.280)*	1.97		
effectiveness								
LOF: improves service	.932 (.156)***	2.54	.664 (.298)*	1.94	.662 (.291)*	1.94		
quality								

Table 4.3. Logistic Regression Analyses of the Impact of Capacity-Building on Evaluation Capacities of NPHSOs.

Notes: **p* < .05, ***p* < .01, ****p* < .001

building assistance. Statistically significant evaluation capacity gains remain in Model 2 for evaluating overall effectiveness and improving service quality after controlling for grant assistance and motivation. Two additional gains - conducting outcome measurement and recording client outcomes - are also statistically significant in Model 2 but not in Model 1. Results are very similar for Models 2 and 3, suggesting little selection bias from re-sampling.

For logistic regression, odds ratios serve as effect size estimates. From Model 2, treatment group NPHSOs were 160% and 227% more likely to have made gains in conducting outcome measurement and recording client outcomes, respectively, compared to control group NPHSOs. Treatment group NPHSOs were also 99% and 94% more likely to have made gains in evaluating overall effectiveness and improving service quality, respectively, compared to control group NPHSOs. Though treatment group NPHSOs were 36% more likely to have made a gain in seeking client feedback, this result was statistically non-significant.

Using subset efficacy analysis, this study found a different pattern of evaluation capacity results than reported by Minzner et al. (2010; 2014), who used average treatment effects irrespective of whether NPHSOs received evaluation capacity (see Table 5). In this study,

	Minzner et. al			
Dependent variable	(2010; 2014)	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Conducts outcome	ns	ns	*	*
measurement				
Keeps outcome records	ns	ns	**	**
Seeks client feedback	ns	*	ns	ns
LOF: evaluates effectiveness	**	***	*	*
LOF: improves service quality	***	***	*	*

Table 4.4. Summary of Statistical Significance of Model Estimates of Impact of Capacity-Building on Evaluation Capacities of NPHSOs.

Notes: **p* < .05, ***p* < .01, ****p* < .001

statistically significant capacity gains were made for four out of five indicators of evaluation capacity; Minzner et al. (2010; 2014) found significant results for only two of five indicators.

Predicted probabilities of capacity gains by NPHSO characteristics. In addition to treatment group status, other NPHSO characteristics were associated with capacity gains. Younger NPHSOs were less likely to experience gains in conducting outcome measurement (β = -.800, *p* < .001) and seeking client feedback (β = -.833, *p* < .05). Smaller NPHSOs were less likely to experience gains in conducting outcome measurement (β = -.609, *p* < .05). Conversely, paid executive director status and type (faith- or community-based organization) were not statistically significant predictors of gains for any of the five evaluation capacities.

Predicted probabilities are roughly similar based on NPHSO characteristic for most capacity gains (see Table 4.5). For example, the percentage difference in predicted probability of making a gain in conducting outcome measurement was only 0.7% based on type of NPHSO. However, there are some exceptions, mostly by tenure and size. Older NPHSOs were nearly 10 percentage points more likely than younger NPHSOs to experience a gain in conducing outcome measurement. Probabilities were higher among larger NPHSOs for gains in all five capacities. Results were inconsistent for type and paid executive director status. For example, NPHSOs with paid executive directors were more than 12 percentage points more likely than those without paid executive directors to make gains in improving service quality. Yet, NPHSOs without paid executive directors were almost 10 percentage points more likely to experience a gain in evaluating effectiveness.

	Evaluation Capacity					
Covariate	1	2	3	4	5	
Tenure						
Younger (< 6 yrs.)	9.8%	7.5%	6.0%	38.9%	43.4%	
Older (≥ 6 yrs.)	19.5%	6.6%	13.2%	42.1%	43.2%	
Туре						
Faith-based	14.8%	6.3%	8.3%	37.0%	47.1%	
Community-based	15.5%	7.6%	11.5%	45.0%	39.4%	
Size						
Smaller (<\$100k)	12.3%	5.7%	8.6%	37.8%	42.7%	
Larger (≥\$100k)	20.5%	9.4%	11.8%	45.7%	44.2%	
Paid Exec. Director						
Yes	14.6%	10.2%	7.3%	36.9%	48.6%	
No	15.9%	3.9%	14.4%	46.6%	36.2%	

Table 4.5. Predicted Probabilities of Capacity Gains.

Evaluation capacities: 1: conducts outcome measurement; 2: keeps outcome records; 3: seeks client feedback; 4: evaluates overall effectiveness; 5: improves service quality.

Because tenure and size were significant predictors in Model 2, predicted probabilities by tenure and size were further interrogated. Predicted probabilities were calculated fixing tenure and size at young and small and older and larger, respectively, while holding other predictors (type, paid executive director) constant at their respective means. This resulted in a direct comparison of the likelihood younger (< 6 years) and smaller (< \$100,000) NPHSOs experienced capacity gains relative to older (\geq 6 years) and larger (\geq \$100,000) NPHSOs. As seen in Table 4.6, the differences in probabilities of evaluation capacity gains are more pronounced by tenure and size. Older and larger NPHSOs are more likely to experience gains for all five evaluation capacities.

Predicted probabilities are also examined by increments of capacity-building grants, as prior research showed capacity gains are influenced by grant amounts (Brown, 2008; Leake et

	Evaluation Capacity					
Covariate	1	2	3	4	5	
Small/Young	7.9%	6.2%	5.2%	35.9%	42.8%	
Larger/Older	26.0%	8.9%	15.9%	47.0%	44.2%	

Table 4.6. Predicted Probabilities of Capacity Gains: Small and Young vs. Larger and Older NPHSOs.

Evaluation capacities: 1: conducts outcome measurement; 2: keeps outcome records; 3: seeks client feedback; 4: evaluates overall effectiveness; 5: improves service quality.

al., 2007; Patrizi et al, 2006; Ryan & Taylor, 2012). For conducting outcome measurement and seeking client feedback, there is a modest benefit of receiving greater amounts of grant assistance. For example, at \$30,000, the probability of a gain in outcome measurement is 24.7% compared to 14% for receiving no grant assistance. However, for the other three evaluation capacities, increasing grant amounts are associated with decreasing probabilities of gains.

	Evaluation Capacity					
Amount ¹	1	2	3	4	5	
\$0	14.0%	12.8%	9.0%	41.5%	44.8%	
\$5,000	15.5%	5.9%	10.1%	40.2%	42.5%	
\$10,000	17.1%	2.6%	11.3%	39.0%	40.3%	
\$15,000	18.8%	1.1%	12.6%	37.7%	38.1%	
\$20,000	20.6%	<1%	14.1%	36.5%	36.0%	
\$25,000	22.6%	<1%	15.7%	35.3%	33.9%	
\$30,000	24.7%	<1%	17.4%	34.1%	31.8%	

Table 4.7. Predicted Probabilities of Capacity Gains by Levels of Grant Assistance.

¹ Excludes a case outlier of \$69,300. Evaluation capacities: 1: conducts outcome measurement; 2: keeps outcome records; 3: seeks client feedback; 4: evaluates overall effectiveness; 5: improves service quality.

Levels of grant assistance were also examined only for less advantaged NPHSOs, i.e., small, young NPHSOs with no paid executive director. Results were similar to those in Table 4.7, suggesting the marginal effects of grant assistance on capacity gain probabilities are not different for less advantaged compared to more advantaged NPHSOs.

Discussion

Capacity-building interventions may help NPHSOs strengthen performance. In this study,

gains in evaluation capacity among NPHSOs resulting from a capacity-building intervention

were closely examined. Results indicate NPHSOs strengthened their evaluation capacity as a result of receiving capacity-building assistance, even after controlling for NPHSO motivation and grant assistance. Using an efficacy subset analytical approach (i.e., outcomes among NPHSOs that received evaluation-related assistance), NPHSOs had gains in four of five capacities, whereas Minzner et al. (2010; 2014) found gains in only two of five capacities. Smaller and younger NPHSOs were somewhat less likely to experience capacity gains and increasing amounts of grant assistance had only a modest effect on two of five capacities.

Evaluation-related capacity gains were found as a result of receiving capacity-building assistance through intermediary organizations even after controlling for motivation (i.e., having applied to receive evaluation-related assistance) and money (i.e., amount of grant assistance received). All four capacities in which statistically significant gains were made – conducting outcome measurement, recording outcome data, evaluating overall effectiveness, and improving service quality – are important for improving client outcomes in NPHSOs. Capacity gains were based on self-report survey data and were similar to results of other capacity-building studies showing moderate gains in knowledge and skills (e.g., Kapucu et al., 2011; Leake et al., 2007).

The nonprofit capacity-building field is cluttered with a host of actors addressing a wide array of capacities. The focus of many capacity-building efforts may have little to do with improving client outcomes. For example, having a strategic plan is widely considered an organizational best practice, yet there is no empirical evidence that having one improves client outcomes. Thus, the promise of this study is NPHSOs can strengthen capacities directly related to improving client outcomes. A NPHSO that records and analyses client outcome data is more likely to use results to improve programs and services. Capacity to assess outcomes and improve

service quality may also make it more likely NPHSOs will use research evidence to improve programs and services.

NPHSOs did not experience statistically significant gains in seeking and obtaining client feedback about services. One explanation may be because the baseline level was so high (77% of NPHSOs sought client feedback), there was little room for improvement. Another explanation is the other four evaluation capacities can be expressed with minimal client engagement and input, whereas client feedback about services is a deliberate form of client engagement and input. Thus, NPHSOs may be good at measuring outcomes, but not as good at reaching out to clients. This is problematic for two reasons. First, a hallmark principle of evidence-based practice is to incorporate client preferences. Second, seeking and receiving client feedback is an important practice for ongoing monitoring and evaluation of human service programs. Client feedback can help identify reasons for lack of engagement in services, barriers to improving outcomes, and indicators of service quality. NPHSOs may value client input, yet need help in understanding how to effectively elicit it. This is a problem capacity-building can remedy. However, if the underlying reason an NPHSO fails to seek client input is client preferences and needs are not valued, this requires changes in leadership and organizational culture capacity-building probably cannot engineer.

This study discovered smaller and younger NPHSOs are somewhat less likely to strengthen evaluation capacity as a result of capacity-building assistance. From an organizational life-stage perspective (Bess, 1998; Hasenfeld & Schmid, 1989; Light, 2004; Simon, 2001; Stevens, 2002; TCC Group, 2010), younger NPHSOs may still be in a process of defining their programs and services; evaluation may be premature and/or difficult to conduct due to information management system deficits. Evaluation may be more relevant among older NPHSOs with well-defined programs and services amenable to evaluation.

Smaller and younger NPHSOs may need additional assistance, starting with an assessment of capacity deficits to address before addressing evaluation capacity. Financial challenges among NPHSOs are well documented (e.g., Besel et al., 2011; Nonprofit Operating Reserves Initiative Workgroup, 2008; Sontag-Padilla et al., 2012) and associated with lack of evaluation capacity (Innovation Network, 2012). Thus, grants may be an important capacity-building strategy.

However, evaluation capacity gains were mostly unaffected by variation in grant amounts in this study. There are two plausible explanations for this finding. First, grants may have been used by NPHSOs to address capacity deficits other than evaluation capacity, such as such as by hiring a staff person to recruit and manage volunteers. Second, NPHSOs may have trouble identifying ways for grants to be used to build evaluation capacity. Should grant funds be used to upgrade information technology, hire a program planner and evaluator, or contract with a university to conduct a program evaluation? Thus, NPHSOs may need both funding (Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2011) and technical assistance targeted for evaluation capacity.

There was little difference by organizational type (FBO or CBO) concerning the likelihood of evaluation capacity gains. There may be no substantive distinction between FBOs and CBOs that accounts for variation in capacity-building. Federal regulations¹⁷ allow FBOs to engage in religious expression as long as they do not use funds for services and not worship activities and do not discriminate on the basis of religious identity in offering services (Cnaan &

¹⁷These regulations presumably were enacted in the CCF, which was sponsored by the federal Administration of Children and Families.

Boddie, 2002). Adhering to these regulations thus may not affect the likelihood FBOs can strengthen evaluation capacity relative to their CBO peers.

Results concerning the likelihood of evaluation capacity gains were mixed by presence of a paid executive director (PED). NPHSOs with a PED had 12 percentage point higher predicted probabilities of service quality improvement gains, while NPHSOs without a PED had 10 percentage point higher predicted probabilities of gains in evaluating overall effectiveness. Knowing how to improve service quality may be a more complex endeavor that requires having a PED to coordinate efforts among several people and perhaps partner organizations. Conversely, evaluating overall effectiveness may be something a volunteer-led NPHSO is able to do, particularly if this is interpreted as engaging in board-led discussions of organizational strengths and weaknesses.

Because organizational characteristics explained some variation in the likelihood of evaluation capacity gains, capacities may differ in their relative complexity and sensitivity to organizational factors. For example, gaps by size and tenure were much greater for conducting outcome measurement than for keeping outcome records. The former capacity may entail a more complex set of practices that require greater resources and skills, while the latter capacity may reflect a common condition of receiving funding and be easier to execute. The implication is that capacity-building providers should not view capacities as uniformly achievable relative to the size and tenure of NPHSOs they are assisting. Smaller and younger NPHSOs may need to receive more intensive assistance.

Limitations. There are three study limitations to note. First, observations were based on self-reported survey responses of a single NPHSO representative, usually the executive director. Responses may have been biased due to social desirability, poor recall, or the particular skill set

and interests of the respondent (i.e., a respondent with greater aptitude and/or interest in evaluation may offer more accurate responses about this capacity). An executive director who is new to the NPHSO may not have a sufficient understanding of the organization to accurately depict capacities or may bias responses. Executive Directors are also famously busy people. Respondents may have lack the time and attention needed to accurately and thoughtfully complete such a lengthy survey.

Researchers should use shorter surveys and have multiple staff and board members complete the survey. Using multiple respondents is particularly important to elicit expertise about the organization's competencies and practices in different areas like fundraising and evaluation. Researchers should also triangulate observations by incorporating third party observations of NPHSO capacities (e.g., an audit and rating scale for the quality of outcome measurement systems). Given the large number of capacities to measure, a survey should include items concerning organizational priorities to understand the relative importance of various capacities to each NPHSO.

Second, though some observations were available concerning intervention characteristics (e.g., hours of workshop attendance), capacity-building as an intervention strategy was not well defined in the CCF demonstration. For example, how staff members of intermediaries facilitated workshops or engaged in one-on-one technical assistance was not measured. This makes it difficult to understand what about capacity-building assistance is more or less useful to NPHSOs. Future studies should test interventions with clear capacity-building curricula and service standards coupled with fidelity observations (e.g., extent to which curricular topics were covered) to more accurately gauge capacity-building impacts. Also, researchers should make

greater effort to ensure capacity-building treatment is offered in a uniform manner and avoid treatment contamination to more clearly assess treatment and control group differences.

The third and most important limitation is there is no indication of whether NPHSOs improved actual program performance and client outcomes as a result of receiving capacity-building assistance, Future research should follow NPHSOs for a longer period of time to better understand whether performance and client outcomes are improved.

Conclusion

Nonprofit human service organizations (NPHSOs) are a critical part of the social safety net in the US, yet they experience capacity challenges which diminish their ability to address community problems like domestic violence. Capacity-building is a promising strategy to help NPHSOs strengthen their community impact. This study found NPHSOs strengthened evaluation capacity after receiving capacity-building assistance, yet smaller and younger NPHSOs benefitted less than larger and older ones. More emphasis should be placed on strengthening programs to improve client outcomes among NPHSOs. Future research should better define capacity-building assistance and examine whether capacity-building results in better programs and improved client outcomes.

References

- 501 Commons. (n.d.). *Capacity building needs survey results*. Retrieved from the 501 Commons website http://www.501commons.org/blog/capacity-building-survey-results
- Abt Associates. (2009). Assessing changes in nonprofit capacity: Outcome study of the compassion capital fund demonstration program (Technical Appendix Report prepared for Office of Community Services, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Retrieved from the Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/tech_apndx_final.pdf
- Abt Associates. (2010). Assessing changes in nonprofit capacity: Outcome study of the compassion capital fund demonstration program (Report prepared for Office of Community Services, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Retrieved from the Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/outcome_study_rpt_final.pdf
- American Planning Association New Jersey Chapter. (2011). New Jersey community based organization planning needs assessment: Survey report. Retrieved from http://njplanning.org/wp-content/uploads/APA-NJ-CBO-Needs-Assesssment.pdf
- Arizona Nonprofit Capacity Building Initiative (2003). *Final report*. Retrieved from the Lodestar Center for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Innovation at Arizona State University website https://lodestar.asu.edu/pdf/final_report
- Austin, M. J., & Claassen, J. (2008). Impact of organizational change on organizational culture: Implications for introducing evidence-based practice. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 5, 321-359. doi:10.1300/J394v05n01_12
- Austin, M. J., Regan, K., Samples, M. W., Schwartz, S. L., & Carnochan, S. (2011). Building managerial and organizational capacity in nonprofit human service organizations through a leadership development program. *Administration in Social Work*, 35, 258-281. doi:10.1080/03643107.2011.575339
- Barney, J. B., & Hesterly, W. S. (2012). *Strategic management and competitive advantage* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Benjamin, L. M. (2013). The potential of outcome measurement for strengthening nonprofits' accountability to beneficiaries. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 42, 1224-1244. doi:10.1177/0899764012454684
- Besel, K., Williams, C. L., & Klak, J. (2011). Nonprofit sustainability during times of uncertainty. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 22, 53-65. doi:10.1002/nml.20040

- Bess, G. (1998). A first stage organization life cycle study of six emerging nonprofit organizations in Los Angeles. *Administration in Social Work*, 22, 35-52. doi:10.1300/J147v22n04_03
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., McHugo, G. J., Rapp, C. A., & Whitley, R. (2009). Strategies for improving fidelity in the national evidence-based practices project. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 569-581. doi:10.1177/1049731509335531
- Bowman, W. (2011). Financial capacity and sustainability of ordinary nonprofits. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 22, 37-51. doi:10.1002/nml.20039
- Bradach, J. L., Tierney, T. J., & Stone, N. (2008). Delivering on the promise of nonprofits. *Harvard Business Review*, 86(12), 88-97. Retrieved from https://oldfirst.hypermart.net/imission/R0812G-PDF-ENG.pdf
- Brown, M. (2008). Improving organizational capacity of faith-based and community-based domestic violence service providers. In P. Joshi, S. Hawkins & J. Novey (Eds.), *Compendium of research papers presented at the faith-based and community initiatives conference on research, outcomes, and evaluation*. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://aspe.hhs.gov/whatsnew/posted2008.shtml
- Campbell, D. (2002). Outcomes assessment and the paradox of nonprofit accountability. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership, 12,* 243-259. doi:10.1002/nml.12303
- Carstens, C., Panzano, P., Massatti, R., Roth, D., & Sweeney, H. (2009). A naturalistic study of MST dissemination in 13 Ohio communities. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research, 36*, 344-360. doi:10.1007/s11414-008-9124-4
- Chaidez-Gutierrez, F., & Fischer, R. L. (2013). Reflecting on grantee evaluation accountability to funders: Exploring power dynamics with grassroots organizations in communities of color. *Journal of Community Practice*, *21*, 304-326. doi:10.1080/10705422.2013.846286
- Cnaan, R. A., & Boddie, S. C. (2002). Charitable choice and faith-based welfare: A call for social work. *Social Work*, 47, 224-235. doi:10.1093/sw/47.3.224
- Colby, S., Stone, N., & Carttar, P. (2004). Zeroing in on impact: In an era of declining resources, nonprofits need to clarify their intended impact. *Stanford Social Innovation Review, Fall*, 25-33. Retrieved from http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/zeroing_in_on_impact
- Courtney, R. (2002). Strategic management for nonprofit organizations. New York: Routledge.
- Durlak, J., & DuPre, E. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41, 327-350. doi:10.1007/s10464-008-9165-0
- Ebrahim, A. (2003). Accountability in practice: Mechanisms for NGOs. *World Development, 31,* 813-829. doi:10.1016/S0305-750X(03)00014-7

- Ebrahim, A., & Rangan, V. K. (2010). *The limits of nonprofit impact: A contingency framework for measuring social performance* (Working Paper 10-099). Retrieved from the Harvard Business School website: http://www.hbs.edu/research/pdf/10-099.pdf
- Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., & Friedman, R. M. (2005). Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature. Retrieved from the National Implementation Research Network website http://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/sites/nirn.fpg.unc.edu/files/resources/NIRN-MonographFull-01-2005.pdf
- Francis, K., Minzner, A., Fisman, L., & Fox, L. (2011). Building non-profit capacity and community partnerships: Findings from the communities empowering youth (CEY) evaluation (Final report, OPRE Report # 2011-35, submitted to the Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Retrieved from the Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/cey_final_report.pdf
- Franklin, C., & Hopson, L. M. (2007). Facilitating the use of evidence-based practice in community organizations. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 43, 377-404. doi:10.5175/JSWE.2007.200600027
- Fraser, M. W., & Galinsky, M. J. (2010). Steps in intervention research: Designing and developing social programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 20, 459-466. doi:10.1177/1049731509358424
- Froelich, K. A. (1999). Diversification of revenue strategies: Evolving resource dependence in nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 28, 246-268. doi:10.1177/0899764099283002
- Garrow, E. E. (2011). Receipt of government revenue among nonprofit human service organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, *21*, 445-471. doi:10.1093/jopart/muq074
- Gearing, R. E., El-Bassel, N., Ghesquiere, A., Baldwin, S., Gillies, J., & Ngeow, E. (2011). Major ingredients of fidelity: A review and scientific guide to improving quality of intervention research implementation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31, 79-88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.09.007
- Gibelman, M., & Gelman, S. R. (2001). Very public scandals: Nongovernmental organizations in trouble. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 12, 49-66. doi:10.1023/A:1011242911726
- Gilmer, S. D. (2012). A description of nonprofit executive leaders' perceptions of human resource capacity building within their organizations. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (1013852299)
- Grantmakers for Effective Organizations. (2011). *Smarter relationships, better results: Making the most of grantmakers' work with intermediaries*. Retrieved from http://docs.geofunders.org/?filename=geo_intermediary_briefing_final.pdf

- Greenhalgh, T., Robert, G., MacFarlane, F., Bate, P., & Kyriakidou, O. (2004). Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: Systematic review and recommendations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 82, 581-629. doi:10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x
- Guo, S. & Fraser, M. W. (2010). *Propensity score analysis: Statistical methods and applications*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Hasenfeld, Y., & Schmid, H. (1989). The life cycle of human service organizations: An administrative perspective. *Administration in Social Work*,13, 243-269. doi:10.1300/J147v13n03_12
- Hill, C. W. L., & Jones, G. R. (2008). *Strategic management: An integrated approach* (8th ed.) Boston, MA: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Hillman, A. J., Withers, M. C., & Collins, B. J. (2009). Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management, 35,* 1404-1427. doi:10.1177/0149206309343469
- Hoefer, R. (2000). Accountability in action?: Program evaluation in nonprofit human service agencies. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 11, 167-177. doi:10.1002/nml.11203
- Hosmer, D. W., & Lemeshow, S. (2000). *Applied logistic regression* (2nd ed.). Hoboken,NJ: Wiley & Sons.
- Innovation Network. (2012). *State of evaluation 2012: Evaluation practice and capacity in the nonprofit sector*. Retrieved from the Innovation Network website http://www.innonet.org/client_docs/innonet-state-of-evaluation-2012.pdf
- Johnson, M., & Austin, M. J. (2006). Evidence-based practice in the social services. *Administration in Social Work, 30,* 75-104. doi:10.1300/J147v30n03_06
- Kapucu, N., Healy, B. F., & Arslan, T. (2011). Survival of the fittest: Capacity building for small nonprofit organizations. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 34, 236-245. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2011.03.005
- Klein, A., Brown, M., Small, M., Tucker, D., & Fischer, R. (2009). Evaluation of the rural domestic violence and child victimization grant program special initiative: Faith-based and community organization pilot program. Retrieved from the National Criminal Justice Reference Service https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/228192.pdf
- Kovner, A. R. (2014). Evidence-Based Management: Implications for Nonprofit Organizations. Nonprofit Management and Leadership, 24, 417-424. doi:10.1002/nml.21097
- Kutner, M. H., Nachtsheim, C.J., and Neter, J. (2004). *Applied linear regression models* (4th ed.). New York: McGraw Hills/Irwin.
- Ladner, M. (2007). *Building the capacity of human rights leaders and their organisations* (PraxisNote No. 30, International NGO Training and Research Centre). Retrieved from the International NGO Training and Research Centre website

http://www.intrac.org/data/files/resources/474/Praxis-Note-30-Building-the-Capacity-of-Human-Rights-Leaders.pdf

- Leake, R., Green, S., Marquez, C., Vanderburg, J., Guillaume, S., & Gardner, V. A. (2007). Evaluating the capacity of faith-based programs in Colorado. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 17, 216-228. doi:10.1177/1049731506296408
- Light, P. C. (2004). Sustaining nonprofit performance: The case for capacity building and the evidence to support it. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Macy, R. J., Giattina, M. C., Parish, S. L., & Crosby, C. (2010). Domestic violence and sexual assault services historical concerns and contemporary challenges. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 25, 3-32. doi:10.1177/0886260508329128
- Markovitz, C., Magged, L., Florez, M., & Klein, S. (2008). HOPE II: Faith-based and community organization program evaluation study, outcomes evaluation report (U.S. Department of Justice Document No. 224988). Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Justice website https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/224988.pdf
- Maynard, B. R. (2010). Social service organizations in the era of evidence-based practice: The learning organization as a guiding framework for bridging science to service. *Journal of Social Work, 10,* 301-316. doi:10.1177/1468017309342520
- McKeever, B., & Pettijohn, S. L. (2014). *The nonprofit sector in brief 2014: Public charities, giving, and volunteering.* Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/413277-Nonprofit-Sector-in-Brief-2014.pdf
- McKinsey and Company (2001). *Effective capacity building in nonprofit organizations* (Report to Venture Philanthropy Partners). Retrieved from http://www.vppartners.org/sites/default/files/reports/full_rpt.pdf
- Minzner, A., Jastrzab, J., Klerman, J., Markovitz, C., Williams, J., Fink, B., Sipe, C., Coll., M., Burroughs, T., & Ryan, W. (2010). *Improving capacity among nonprofits: Impact study* of the compassion capital fund demonstration program (Report prepared for Office of Community Services, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Retrieved from the Administration for Children and Families website http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/ccf_impact_rprt_final.pdf
- Minzner, A., Klerman, J. A., Markovitz, C. E., & Fink, B. (2014). The impact of capacitybuilding programs on nonprofits: A random assignment evaluation. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 43, 547-569. doi:10.1177/0899764013491013
- Mosley, J. E., & Grogan, C. M. (2013). Representation in nonelected participatory processes: How residents understand the role of nonprofit community-based organizations. *Journal* of Public Administration Research and Theory, 23, 839-863. doi:10.1093/jopart/mus043

- Nichols, A., & Schaffer, M. (2007, September). Clustered errors in Stata. In *United Kingdom Stata Users' Group Meeting*. Retrieved from http://www.stata.com/meeting/13uk/nichols_crse.pdf
- Nonprofit Operating Reserves Initiative Workgroup. (2008). *Maintaining nonprofit operating reserves: An organizational imperative for nonprofit financial stability* (whitepaper). Retrieved from the National Center for Charitable Statistics website http://www.nccs2.org/wiki/images/3/3c/OperatingReservesWhitePaper2009.pdf
- Oster, S. M. (1995). *Strategic management for nonprofit organizations: Theory and cases*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Patrizi, P. A., Gross, E. K., & Freedman, S. (2006). Strength in flexibility: Lessons from a cluster of capacity building grants in the juvenile justice field. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 29, 162-170. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2006.01.010
- Pejsa, L. J. (2011). Improving evaluation in the nonprofit sector: The promise of evaluation capacity building for nonprofit social service organizations in an age of accountability. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (885876409)
- Peng, C. Y. J., Lee, K. L., & Ingersoll, G. M. (2002). An introduction to logistic regression analysis and reporting. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 96, 3-14. doi:10.1080/00220670209598786
- Pettijohn, S. L. (2013). *The nonprofit sector in brief: Public charities, giving, and volunteering,* 2013. Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/412923-The-Nonprofit-Sector-in-Brief.pdf
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). *The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Popescu, M., & Dewan, S. (2009). Esperanza Trabajando gains, losses, lessons learned and steps forward: An evaluation report. *International NGO Journal, 4*, 403-420. Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/article/article1381741271_Popescu%20and%20Dewan. pdf
- Raynor, J., Cardona, C., Knowlton, T., Mittenthal, R., & Simpson, J. (2014). *Capacity building* 3.0: *How to strengthen the social ecosystem* (TCC Group Briefing Paper). Retrieved from http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/11-18-14_TCC_Capacity_3.pdf
- Rosenbaum, P. R., & Rubin, D. B. (1983). The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika*, 70, 41-55. doi:10.1093/biomet/70.1.41
- Ryan, W. P., & Taylor, B. E. (2012). An experiment in scaling impact: Assessing the growth capital aggregation pilot (Report prepared for The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation).
 Retrieved from The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation website http://www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/GCAPReport_Final.pdf

- Salamon, L. M., & Geller, S. L. (2007). Nonprofit fiscal trends and challenges (No. 6). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Civil Society Studies, Institute for Policy Studies. Retrieved from http://ccss.jhu.edu/wpcontent/uploads/downloads/2011/09/LP_Communique6_2007.pdf
- Simon, J. S. (2001). *The 5 life stages of nonprofit organizations*. St. Paul, MN: Amherst Wilder Foundation.
- Sobeck, J. L. (2008). How cost-effective is capacity building in grassroots organizations? *Administration in Social Work, 32,* 49-68. doi:10.1300/J147v32n02_04
- Sobeck, J., & Agius, E. (2007). Organizational capacity building: Addressing a research and practice gap. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 30, 237-246. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2007.04.003
- Sontag-Padilla, L. M., Staplefoote, L., & Gonzalez Morganti, K. (2012). Financial sustainability for nonprofit organizations: A review of the literature. (Rand Corporation Research Report sponsored by the YMCA of Greater Pittsburgh). Retrieved from the Rand Corporation website http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR100/RR121/RAND_RR 121.pdf
- StataCorp (2013). Stata statistical software: Release 13. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP.
- Stern, K. (2013). *With charity for all: Why charities are failing and a better way to give.* New York: Random House.
- Stevens, S. (2002). *Nonprofit lifecycles: Stage-based wisdom for nonprofit capacity*. St. Paul, MN: Stagewise Enterprises.
- TCC Group. (2010). Fortifying L.A.'s nonprofit organizations: Capacity-building needs and services in Los Angeles County (A study commissioned by the Weingart Foundation). Retrieved from the Weingart Foundation website http://www.weingartfnd.org/files/Capacity-Report-Final.pdf
- Vittinghoff, E., & McCulloch, C. E. (2007). Relaxing the rule of ten events per variable in logistic and Cox regression. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *165*, 710-718. doi:10.1093/aje/kwk052
- Weerawardena, J., McDonald, R. E., & Mort, G. S. (2010). Sustainability of nonprofit organizations: An empirical investigation. *Journal of World Business*, 45, 346-356. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2009.08.004
- Wetta-Hall, R., Ablah, E., Oler-Manske, J., Berry, M., & Molgaard, C. (2004). Strategies for community-based organization capacity building: Planning on a shoestring budget. *Health Care Manager*, 23, 302-309.

- Wing, K. T. (2004). Assessing the effectiveness of capacity-building initiatives: Seven issues for the field. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 33, 153-160. doi:10.1177/0899764003261518
- Wright, V. K. (2011). Nonprofit capacity: A comparative case study of capacity building in community-based organizations. ProQuest, UMI Dissertations Publishing.
- Yung, B., Leahy, P., Deason, L. M., Fischer, R. L., Perkins, F., Clasen, C., & Sharma, M. (2008). Capacity-building needs of minority health nonprofits. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 31, 382-391. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2008.08.001
- Zietlow, J. (2010). Nonprofit financial objectives and financial responses to a tough economy. *Journal of Corporate Treasury Management*, *3*, 238-248. http://henrystewart.metapress.com/link.asp?id=717321tt51533124

CHAPTER 5: INTEGRATIVE DISCUSSION

The overall goal of this study was to examine the use of EBP among NPHSOs to improve programs and deepen community impact related to social problems like domestic violence and substance abuse. This study aimed to explain how organizational factors affect EBP engagement in NPHSOs using a model to test hypotheses in future research. This study also sought to discover a valid way to measure NPHSO capacity and to determine whether capacity-building can help NPHSOs strengthen performance related to EBP.

Key Findings

There were several findings from this study which inform the goal of improving NPHSO performance through EBP engagement. In Chapter 2, a conceptual model to explain EBP engagement in NPHSOs was presented. This model offers an important contribution to the field of EBP in social work in three respects. First, it is the first model to conceptualize EBP at the organizational level in NPHSOs, incorporating and linking research evidence on organizational capacity and readiness factors like leadership and culture.

Second, by defining EBP engagement as the use of best available evidence to inform program design, the model makes EBP relevant and applicable to NPHSOs. Considering a wider range of evidence increases the likelihood NPHSOs in a variety of practice fields can identify and apply evidence to improve programs.

Third, as informed by diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2003), the model in Chapter 2 explains how and why the process of EBP engagement fits into the larger strategic framework of NPHSOs by considering relative advantage and fit. The model helps leaders identify how to increase the chances of successful EBP engagement and offers researchers a set of testable hypotheses for better understanding implementation effectiveness in NPHSOs.

In Chapter 3, a four-factor model comprised of resource development, program development, management, and governance capacity was identified to measure NPHSO capacity. NPHSO leaders and capacity-building intermediaries can use this 19-item scale to identify areas for which an NPHSO may need to focus attention and resources to strengthen capacity. This is the first study to examine the psychometric properties of an instrument to measure NPHSO capacity. NPHSO capacity is discussed in prior studies, but no attempts have been made to assess how to accurately measure capacity.

As described in Chapter 4, capacity-building had a positive effect on four out of five EBP-related outcomes for NPHSOs. Capacity-building focused on evaluation and offered by intermediary organizations may help NPHSOs – even small ones – strengthen practices related to EBP engagement. This was the first study to focus on the effects of a capacity-building intervention on NPHSOs' evaluation capacity controlling for the influence of financial assistance and NPHSOs' motivation to improve evaluation efforts.

Limitations

Though the findings of this study illuminate how to strengthen NPHSO capacity related to EBP engagement, several limitations should be noted. The conceptual model in Chapter 2 is an attempt to explain EBP engagement at the organizational level in a parsimonious fashion. However, organizational behavior may be more complex than is reflected in the model. The process of change for many NPHSOs may not be linear and may be fraught with a series of fits and starts. For example, an NPHSO leader may make progress in promoting a learning culture

that spurs evidence-based decision-making among program managers. Yet this leader may leave and be replaced by a leader with less interest in EBP or ability in promoting a learning culture, or funding cuts may shift the NPHSO's priorities from enhancing programs to simply avoiding staff layoffs.

Another key limitation of the model in Chapter 2 is that capacity and readiness constructs may not be uniformly applicable to all NPHSOs. For example, resource capacity may have different meanings in small versus large and new versus well-established NPHSOs. In small and new NPHSOs, sufficient resources may mean the ability to consistently pay staff, while in larger and well-established NPHSOs, sufficient resources may mean the ability to add new programs and serve new communities. A lack of sufficient resources in smaller and newer NPHSOs may be so severe that engaging in EBP is simply not possible. Also, with an emphasis on using evidence to strengthen programs, the model may not be applicable to NPHSOs that focus on emergency assistance and other episodic interventions and/or NPHSOs that combine direct services with advocacy.

The conceptual model in Chapter 2 explains how a single NPHSO can improve client outcomes by using EBP to strengthen programs. However, addressing complex social problems (Grand Challenges for Social Work Executive Committee, 2013) requires more than a focus on program-level outcomes (Campbell, 2002). NPHSOs also need to work with other organizations to promote systems and community change (Boyce, 2013; Bryson, Crosby, & Stone, 2006; Kania & Kramer, 2011; Kramer, Parkhurst, & Vaidyanathan, 2009; Scearce, Kasper, & McLeod Grant, 2010).

The key limitation from Chapter 3 regarding measuring NPHSO capacity was that a valid way to measure NPHSOs' self-assessed progress in building capacity was discovered, but not a

valid way to measure actual performance. Consequently, this 19-item scale should not be used to determine whether capacity-building impacts organizational performance. It may not be possible to accurately measure actual organizational performance in areas like evaluation only using self-report survey data from a single NPHSO respondent, as was the case with the CCF data used in this study. Single respondents may not have a full understanding of their organization and certain organizational performance behaviors may prove too complex to measure with survey items.

The key limitation from Chapter 4 regarding the effects of capacity-building on NPHSO capacity related to EBP engagement was that organizational improvements were self-reported and not directly observed. For example, a respondent indicating her or his NPHSO engaged in outcome measurement was reflecting what her or his perception, not a performance standard for what outcome measurement comprises. Respondents also may have been motivated to say they engaged in a practice like outcome measurement to justify the time and effort spent in CCF activities. Most importantly, it is unknown whether any EBP-related capacity gains were sustained beyond the intervention period after which resources were retracted, nor whether NPHSOs began using evaluation results to improve programs. These methodological limitations make it difficult to conclude that capacity-building substantively moves NPHSOs toward EBP engagement and improved programs.

For both Chapters 3 and 4, no prior studies have been conducted on measuring NPHSO capacity and assessing evaluation capacity gains resulting from capacity-building assistance, respectively. The findings reviewed and discussed in Chapters 3 and 4 cannot be related to prior studies that offer a baseline against which to compare results. Consequently, it is difficult to critically assess the findings, e.g., how the measurement model identified in Chapter 3 compares

to other capacity measures and whether the evaluation capacity gains observed in Chapter 4 are greater or less than in prior capacity-building studies.

Practice Implications

EBP is a promising strategy for improving client outcomes, yet leading an NPHSO is difficult work with many competing demands. Having evidence-informed guidance about programs that are likely to achieve desired client outcomes may help NPHSO leaders clarify strategies and attract and focus resources on higher impact activities. However, engaging in EBP is not a simple choice nor is it easy to do. NPHSOs need sufficient capacity in key areas like evaluation, information technology, and staffing to support EBP engagement. Compared to larger and older NPHSOs, the capacity deficits of smaller and newer NPHSOs may be so great that organizational survival is jeopardized, making EBP a moot issue.

Capacity-building is an important strategy, yet it could be improved. The capacitybuilding field is rife with significant noise and distractions for NPHSOs: advice from authors, consultants, and funders about everything from running good board meetings to planning successful fundraising events.

A better approach is to focus capacity-building on strengthening programs and services – the activities of NPHSOs most likely to improve client outcomes. As explored in Chapter 4, this includes evaluation capacity. Human resource strategy should also be a priority. Hiring well qualified staff, providing effective supervision and professional development opportunities, and improving work conditions (e.g., compensation, organizational climate) to promote satisfaction and retention will directly affect the quality of program implementation, including use of EBP (e.g., Glisson et al., 2013). Leadership development is also important (Austin et al., 2011). To promote EBP engagement, NPHSOs leaders articulate and maintain a vision for achieving

greater impact, promote a learning culture, and help secure the resources and partnerships needed to support improvement efforts (Hayes, 2005). Evaluation, human resources, and leadership are capacities with a proximal relationship to program effectiveness and thus should be prioritized in capacity-building interventions. Still, smaller and newer NPHSOs may need help in several, not just a few capacity areas before they can focus on how to increase program effectiveness whether through EBP or other strategies.

NPHSOs need help to engage in EBP. Intermediaries – universities, professional and state associations, nonprofit networks, government agencies, and foundations – could make EBP more accessible and easier to use. This could be accomplished in three ways. First, intermediaries could identify and/or develop and disseminate evidence-based practice and program guidelines (Howard & Jenson, 1999) with low implementation thresholds, i.e., that do not require robust capacity and complex, lengthy organizational change processes – especially to make EBP feasible for lower-resourced NPHSOs. Second, intermediaries could help NPHSOs use relevance mapping - a structured process of comparing characteristics of an organization's clients to the characteristics of intervention research study participants (Chorpita, Bernstein, & Daleiden, 2011) to help identify best available evidence.

Third, intermediaries can promote field building and shared learning among NPHSOs with similar missions (James Irvine Foundation, 2009). For example, a foundation could convene NPHSOs in a field like homelessness to review current intervention evidence and facilitate dialogue among NPHSO leaders about implementation challenges and new and innovative practices. These practices can help NPHSOs compensate for a lack of time and expertise in finding and applying evidence to improve programs.
Policy Implications

Concerning the policy implications of this study, two major trends should be noted. First, state and federal government increasingly depend on the private sector to deliver human services (Alexander, 2000; Schmid, 2013). For example, a key feature of North Carolina's mental health reform efforts has been to shift direct service provision away from large public agencies to several smaller non- and for-profit agencies. Second, state and federal government are increasingly interested in funding programs with known effectiveness via pay-for-success initiatives (Office of Management and Budget, n.d.; Kohli, Besharov, & Costa, 2012; Schorr & Farrow, 2011; Stid, Neuhoff, Burkhauser, & Seeman, 2013). Thus, through state and federal contracts, NPHSOs will increasingly be expected to engage in EBP.

However, most NPHSOs in the US are small and have capacity deficits which, left unaddressed, will diminish state and federal government efforts to promote EBP. Thus capacitybuilding efforts like the Administration for Children and Families' Compassion Capital Fund (CCF) – data from which was analyzed in Chapters 3 and 4 – should be continued and expanded, albeit more explicitly focused on strengthening programs as discussed above. Smaller and newer NPHSOs may need more intensive capacity-building assistance than larger and older NPHSOs and to receive assistance for longer periods of time to ensure capacity gains are sustained.

Foremost among the capacity deficits experienced by NPHSOs is a lack of sufficient funding. More funding is needed to pay both for the start-up (e.g., licensing fees, unreimbursed planning time, and training) and ongoing implementation costs associated with evidence-based programs. Government agencies could offer full-cost¹⁸ or cost-plus¹⁹ contract and Medicaid reimbursements tied to evidence-based programs. Below-cost contract and third party

¹⁸Direct and indirect costs of a program.

¹⁹Full costs, plus a premium.

reimbursements force NPHSOs to divert precious time and energy toward fundraising and away from supporting program implementation and evaluation.

The Office of Adolescent Health's Teen Pregnancy Prevention (TPP) initiative may be a prototype for coupling EBP and capacity-building other state and federal agencies might consider. TPP provides funding and technical assistance to local NPHSOs to implement one of several models with demonstrated effectiveness in reducing risk for adolescent pregnancy. Agency leaders felt they had sufficient support from OAH to implement an evidence-based program, including start-up funding, technical assistance to promote program fidelity, and longterm and sufficient funding to sustain programs (Stid et al., 2013).

Foundations also could offer unrestricted general operating grants so NPHSOs could strengthen functions related to EBP and sustain program implementation rather than lurch from one restricted grant to another. Restricted grants too often result in program termination, rendering EBP a moot issue and a wasted opportunity. Smaller and newer NPHSOs in particular can benefit from unrestricted funding compared to larger and older NPHSOs because they have fewer fundraising resources, less community visibility and name recognition, and less of an opportunity to have developed financial and non-financial assets over many years of existence. A model for accomplishing this is the Edna McConnell Clark Foundation's Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot (GCAP), which provides long-term, unrestricted and significant amounts of funding to NPHSOs to expand effective programs (Ryan & Taylor, 2012).

Though the TPP and GCAP are examples of how public and private entities can promote EBP with sufficient resources, both of these initiatives were highly selective, as is the Obama Administration's Social Innovation Fund. Selectivity in EBP initiatives runs the risk of driving a wedge in the nonprofit sector between larger and smaller NPHSOs, resulting in mere pockets of

146

implementation effectiveness across the country. Better-resourced NPHSOs may be selected to receive even more resources because they have greater capacity to implement and sustain EBP. Less-resourced, grassroots NPHSOs may get left behind as resources are increasingly allocated to fulfill a goal of scaling up effective programs. One strategy to mitigate this risk is to provide incentives, if not requirements, for larger NPHSO contract and award recipients to sub-contract with smaller NPHSOs to deliver direct services. Another strategy is to ensure resources are allocated for capacity-building among smaller NPHSOs.

Pay-for-success policies, even if successful in including smaller NPHSOs, will not help solve complex social problems with structural causes. For example, to solve the problem of chronic homelessness, the supply of affordable housing must be addressed in addition to supporting evidence-based programs such as Critical Time Intervention (CTI) (Herman, Conover, Felix, Nakagawa, & Mills, 2007). Similarly, economic inequality is associated with poor outcomes in children (e.g., McLoyd, 1998; Walker et al., 2013). NPHSOs' use of evidencebased programs to improve outcomes for vulnerable children will have limited impact without advocating for structural change. Thus, NPHSOs can and should engage in advocacy (Garrow & Hasenfeld, 2014; Hasenfeld, 2015; Grant & Crutchfield, 2007; Mosley, 2013), yet need support from private funders to do so.

Research Implications

More research is needed to better understand organizational and contextual factors associated with NPHSOs' ability to adopt, implement, and sustain EBP. An enhanced understanding of these factors can inform capacity-building interventions that target specific factors associated with program effectiveness.

147

A starting point may be to better understand how NPHSO leaders and staff conceptualize EBP, including whether – as proposed in Chapter 2 – the standard of best available evidence has utility and meaning. Next, researchers can use the conceptual model in Chapter 2 to test specific hypotheses to help better understand factors related to EBP engagement, e.g., the degree to which different leadership styles of NPHSO administrators and managers explain variation in receptivity to and use of EBP.

With an enhanced understanding of organizational and contextual factors that explain EBP engagement, researchers can assess the feasibility of interventions to manipulate factors associated with EBP engagement. Testing feasibility is important because NPHSOs lack time to engage in complex organizational change initiatives. Brief interventions such as technical assistance to implement specific practice guidelines may prove more feasible than protracted engagement with consultants to facilitate changes in organizational culture.

To assess outcomes of capacity-building interventions aimed at promoting EBP engagement, researchers should assess both changes in organizational performance and in client outcomes using experimental, longitudinal designs. Random assignment could occur at either the organizational level or at the program or team level, though effort should be made to less the risk of contamination and adjust for clustering with the latter strategy.

Standardized measures exist for the constructs in the conceptual model, yet as discovered in Chapter 3, more work is needed to develop a valid way of measuring NPHSO capacity. A more parsimonious approach may be to develop capacity constructs based on NPHSO functions and characteristics directly related to program effectiveness. For example, a capacity measure may be limited to items related to human resources, e.g., adequate staffing, performance review,

148

and supervision, yet exclude capacities only indirectly related to program effectiveness, such as board development.

After identifying capacities with a proximal relationship to program effectiveness, exploratory factor analysis should be used to identify a latent factor structure. In using a capacity scale with survey-based methods, multiple responses should be elicited from the NPHSO. For example, supervisors and staff may have different perceptions of the degree to which performance reviews are used. Researchers should also use direct observation such as the use of fidelity scales to augment survey data to help measure NPHSO capacity and performance.

Including sufficient samples of NPHSOs to achieve statistical power is a key challenge for researchers in this field. It may be helpful to work with intermediaries such as state associations that share an interest in promoting EBP engagement to help recruit NPHSOs.

REFERENCES

- Aarons, G. A., & Sawitzky, A. C. (2006). Organizational culture and climate and mental health provider attitudes toward evidence-based practice. *Psychological Services*, 3, 61-72. doi:10.1037/1541-1559.3.1.61
- Alexander, J. (2000). Adaptive strategies of nonprofit human service organizations in an era of devolution and new public management. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 10, 287-303. doi:10.1002/nml.10305
- Austin, M. J., Regan, K., Samples, M. W., Schwartz, S. L., & Carnochan, S. (2011). Building managerial and organizational capacity in nonprofit human service organizations through a leadership development program. *Administration in Social Work*, 35, 258-281. doi:10.1080/03643107.2011.575339
- Boyce, B. (2013). Collective impact: Aligning organizational efforts for broader social change. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *113*, 495-497. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2013.01.026
- Bryson, J. M., Crosby, B. C., & Stone, M. M. (2006). The design and implementation of Cross-Sector collaborations: Propositions from the literature. *Public Administration Review*, 66(s1), 44-55. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006.00665.x
- Campbell, D. (2002). Outcomes assessment and the paradox of nonprofit accountability. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, *12*, 243-259. doi:10.1002/nml.12303
- Chorpita, B. F., Bernstein, A., & Daleiden, E. L. (2011). Empirically guided coordination of multiple evidence-based treatments: An illustration of relevance mapping in children's mental health services. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 79, 470- 480. doi:10.1037/a0023982
- Fixsen, D. L., Blase, K. A., Naoom, S. F., & Wallace, F. (2009). Core implementation components. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 19, 531-540. doi:10.1177/1049731509335549
- Garrow, E. E., & Hasenfeld, Y. (2014). Institutional logics, moral frames, and advocacy explaining the purpose of advocacy among nonprofit human-service organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *43*, 80-98. doi:10.1177/0899764012468061
- Glisson, C., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., & Williams, N. J. (2013). Randomized trial of the availability, responsiveness and continuity (ARC) organizational intervention for improving youth outcomes in community mental health programs. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52, 493-500. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.02.005
- Glisson, C., Schoenwald, S. K., Hemmelgarn, A., Green, P., Dukes, D., Armstrong, K. S., & Chapman, J. E. (2010). Randomized trial of MST and ARC in a two-level evidence-based

treatment implementation strategy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78, 537-550. http://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0019160

- Grand Challenges for Social Work Executive Committee. (2013). Grand challenges for social work. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, *4*, 165-170. doi:10.5243/jsswr.2013.11
- Grant, H. M., & Crutchfield, L. R. (2007). Creating high-impact nonprofits. *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, 5(4), 32-41. Retrieved from http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/creating_high_impact_nonprofits/
- Hasenfeld, Y. (2015). What Exactly Is Human Services Management?. *Human Service* Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 39, 1-5. doi:10.1080/23303131.2015.1007773
- Hayes, R. A. (2005). Evaluating readiness to implement evidence-based practice. In C. E. Stout,
 & R. A. Hayes, R. A. (Eds.), *The evidence-based practice: Methods, models, and tools for mental health professionals*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Herman, D., Conover, S., Felix, A., Nakagawa, A., & Mills, D. (2007). Critical Time Intervention: An empirically supported model for preventing homelessness in high risk groups. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 28, 295-312. doi:10.1007/s10935-007-0099-3
- Howard, M. O., & Jenson, J. M. (1999). Barriers to development, utilization, and evaluation of social work practice guidelines: Toward an action plan for social work. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 9, 347-364. doi:10.1177/104973159900900309
- James Irvine Foundation. (2009). *The strong field framework: A guide and toolkit for funders and nonprofits committed to large-scale impact*. Retrieved from http://irvine.org/images/stories/pdf/pubs/strongfieldframework.pdf
- Kania, J. & Kramer, M. (2011). Collective impact. *Stanford Social Innovation Review, Winter* 2011, 36-41. Retrieved from http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/collective_impact
- Kohli, J., Besharov, D. J., & Costa, K. (2012). Social impact bonds 101: Defining an innovative new financing tool for social programs. Retrieved from the Center for American Progress website: http://www.americanprogress.org/wpcontent/uploads/issues/2012/03/pdf/sib101.pdf
- Kramer, M., Parkhurst, M., & Vaidyanathan, L. (2009). Breakthroughs in shared measurement and social impact. Retrieved from http://www.fsg.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/PDF/Breakthroughs_in_Shared_Measu rement_complete.pdf
- McLoyd, V. C. (1998). Socioeconomic disadvantage and child development. *American Psychologist*, 53, 185-204. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.53.2.185

- Mosley, J. (2013). Recognizing new opportunities: Reconceptualizing policy advocacy in everyday organizational practice. *Social Work*, *58*, 231-239. doi:10.1093/sw/swt020
- Office of Management and Budget (n.d.). *Paying for success*. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/factsheet/paying-for-success
- Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York: Free Press.
- Ryan, W. P., & Taylor, B. E. (2012). An experiment in scaling impact: Assessing the growth capital aggregation pilot (Report prepared for The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation). Retrieved from The Edna McConnell Clark Foundation website http://www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/GCAPReport_Final.pdf
- Scearce, D., Kasper, G., & McLeod Grant, H. (2010). Working wikily. Stanford Social Innovation Review, Summer 2010, 31-37. Retrieved from http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/working_wikily/
- Schmid, H. (2013). Nonprofit human services: Between identity blurring and adaptation to changing environments. *Administration in Social Work*, 37, 242-256. doi:10.1080/03643107.2012.676611
- Schorr, L. B., & Farrow, F. (2011). Expanding the evidence universe: Doing better by knowing more (Paper prepared for the 2011 Harold Richman Public Policy Symposium, Center for the Study of Social Policy). Retrieved from http://lisbethschorr.org/doc/ExpandingtheEvidenceUniverseRichmanSymposiumPaper.pd f
- Stid, D., Neuhoff, A., Burkhauser, L., & Seeman, B. (2013). What does it take to implement evidence-based practices? Retrieved from http://www.bridgespan.org/getmedia/f31d19f3-a782-424a-a04f-8a44edd8fe34/What-Does-It-Take-to-Implement-Evidence-based-Practices.aspx
- Walker, S. P., Wachs, T. D., Grantham-McGregor, S., Black, M. M., Nelson, C. A., Huffman, S. L., Baker-Henningham, H., Chang, S. M., Hamadani, J. D., Lozoff, B., Gardner, J. M. M., Powell, C. A., Rahman, A., & Richter, L. (2011). Inequality in early childhood: Risk and protective factors for early child development. *The Lancet*, *378*, 1325-1338. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60555-2

APPENDIX 2.1: MEASURES RELATED TO THE CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF EBP IN NPHSOS

Model Construct	Instrument and Source
Organizational	Organizational Capacity Assessment Tool (Marguerite Casey
capacity	Foundation, 2012)
Organizational readiness conditions: Learning Culture	The Learning Organization Survey (Garvin, Edmondson, & Gino, 2008)
	The Dimensions of the Learning Organization Questionnaire (Marsick & Watkins, 2003)
	Team Learning and Psychological Safety Survey (Edmondson, 1999)
Organizational readiness conditions: Leadership Quality	Leadership Practices Inventory (LPI) (Carless, 2001; Pozner & Kouzes, 1993)
	Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) (Antonakis, 2001; Avolio, Bass, & Jung, 1999; Muenjohn & Armstrong, 2008)
EBP Engagement	Evidence-Based Practice Attitudes Scale (EBPAS) (Aarons (2004)



APPENDIX 3.1: A MEASUREMENT MODEL OF NPHSO CAPACITY-BUILDING

APPENDIX 3.2: MODEL 3 COMPASSION CAPITAL FUND LEVEL OF FOCUS SURVEY ITEMS

Item Abbreviation	Latent Variable	Item Description
1. Fundraising plan		Developing a fund-development plan (including
		setting fundraising goals).
2. New sources		Identifying and pursuing new sources of government
gov't funding	Resource	funding.
3. New sources non-	Development	Identifying and pursuing new sources of in-kind
gov't funding		donations.
4. New sources in-		Identifying and pursuing new sources of
kind funding		nongovernment funding.
5. Client data system		Developing a way to collect more information about
		our clients, including number and characteristics of
		clients as well as how they are helped by.
6. Evaluation system		Strengthening the organization's ability to evaluate
		its overall effectiveness.
7. Increase number		Increasing the number of clients served by the
of clients	Program	organization.
8. Service new	Development	Expanding services to include new group of service
clients or		recipients or geographic area.
communities		
9. Increase scope of		Increasing the number or scope of services offered to
services		clients.
10. Incorporate new		Incorporating a new approach to services to improve
services approach		quality/effectiveness.
11. Budgeting process		Putting in place a budgeting process that ensures
		effective allocation of resources
12. Financial mgmt		Developing systems that will help manage the
system		organization's finances more effectively
13. Volunteer	Recruiting, developing, and managing volur	
management	Management	more effectively.
14. Staff leadership	Capacity	Creating a plan or locating resources to help our
development		executive director and other staff improve their
		leadership abilities.
15. Staff professional		Providing staff with professional development and
development		training to enhance skills in service delivery or skills
		in administration and management.
16. Cross-section of		Developing a Board that represents a cross-section
community		of our community.
17. Diverse expertise		Recruiting Board members with diverse expertise.
18. Ties to different	Board	Developing a Board with ties to differentiate
constituents	Development	Constituencies.
19. Better understand		Providing information to the Board so they can
governance		better understand their responsibilities and create
		plans for improving their performance.

APPENDIX 4.1: KEY OUTCOMES FROM THE COMPASSION CAPITAL FUND DEMONSTRATION IMPACT STUDY

	Effect				
Outcome	Size	p-value			
Domain: Organizational Development					
Participated in an organizational assessment in last 12 months	0.54	<.0001			
# of staff that participated in management training in last 12 months	1.79	< .05			
Volunteer management ^b	0.45	< .001			
# of functioning computers is sufficient	0.43	< .05			
Developing a board with ties to different constituencies ^b	0.48	<.0001			
Domain: Leadership Development					
# of types of training that head of NPO participated in last 12 months	0.59	<.001			
Any board member participated in board training in last 12 months	0.50	< .05			
Professional development opportunities for staff ^b	0.47	< .001			
Domain: Program Development					
Increasing the # of clients served ^b	0.43	<.0001			
Increasing the scope of services offered to clients ^b		< .001			
New approaches to improve service quality and outcomes ^b	0.49	<.0001			
Strengthening ability to evaluate overall effectiveness ^b	0.55	<.01			
Strengthening ability to evaluate overall effectiveness ^c		<.01			
Collect data on client characteristics and program participation ^a	0.42	<.0001			
Domain: Revenue Development					
Head of NPO participated in fundraising training in last 12 months	0.44	<.01			
# of staff that participated in fundraising training in last 12 months		<.01			
# of applications for federal funding in last 12 months		< .05			
Total # of revenue sources over past 12 months		< .001			
# of NPOs receiving federal funding for first time		< .05			
Pursuing new sources of in-kind donations ^b		<.001			
Development of a fundraising plan ^b		< .05			

^a Level of focus outcome: knows it should work on this capacity but lacks time/resources
 ^b Level of focus outcome: developed plans and steps to work on this capacity
 ^c Level of focus outcome: implemented steps to work on this capacity